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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Financial Statements
CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Contract receivables
Accrued interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity
(deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Convertible notes
Accrued interest payable
Total current liabilities
Convertible notes
Long term warrant liability
Deferred rent
Total Liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value: 55,258,608 shares
authorized; 0 and 624,426 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2013
and December 31, 2012, respectively; aggregate liquidation preference of $256,750
as of December 31, 2012
Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value: 100,000,000 shares authorized; 8,790,764 and
5,792 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity
(deficit)
See Accompanying Notes.
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September 30, 2013
unaudited

December 31, 2012

$

32,080
—
—
33
32,113
9
42
32,164

$

1,039
1,204
—
—
2,243
4,374
5,310
131
12,058

$

$

$

$

$

—

32,164

657
894
13,737
2,566
17,854
—
—
132
17,986

318,697

1
365,033
—
(344,928)
20,106
$

7,726
108
9
147
7,990
84
42
8,116

—
913
—
(329,480)
(328,567)
$

8,116
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CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2013
2012

Contract revenue
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income, net
Net loss
Accretion to redemption value of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to stockholders
Other comprehensive loss/income:
Unrealized losses on marketable securities
Other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss
Basic net loss per common share
Weighted average common shares outstanding used to calculate basic net loss per
common share
Diluted net loss per common share
Weighted average common shares outstanding used to calculate diluted net loss per
common share
See Accompanying Notes.
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$

—

$ 2,913

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2013
2012

$

—

$

3,037

703
683
1,386
(1,386)

2,282
925
3,207
(294)

3,162
2,780
5,942
(5,942)

7,560
3,343
10,903
(7,866)

0
(219)
298
(1,307)
(3,036)
$ (4,343)

3
(220)
0
(511)
(3,178)
$ (3,690)

1
(640)
422
(6,159)
(9,289)
$ (15,448)

20
(620)
1
(8,465)
(9,465)
$ (17,930)

—
—
$ (4,343)
$ 422.95

(2)
(2)
$ (3,692)
$(637.05)

—
—
$ (15,448)
$ (433.33)

(2)
(2)
$ (17,932)
$(3,098.31)

101,358
(1.79)

5,792
$(637.50)

$

38,027
(8.94)

5,781
$(3,098.31)

$

731,970

5,792

688,825

5,787
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CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2013
2012

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of notes payable conversion option
Non-employee stock-based compensation expense
Employee and director stock-based compensation expense
Non-cash interest associated with discount accretion
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Contract receivables
Accrued interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued interest payable
Deferred rent
Deferred revenue
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchases of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Net cash provided by investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from facility loan
Proceeds from issuance of commons stock and warrants, net of issuance costs
Repurchase of preferred stock
Principal payments on equipment loans
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Issuance of common stock warrants-lenders
Issuance of common stock warrants-common stock
Conversion of preferred shares into common stock
Issuance of common stock for debt extinguishment
See Accompanying Notes.
5

$ (6,159)
50
10
—
49
—
(425)
108
9
114
—
382
310
632
(1)
—
(4,921)
450
—
—
450
4,853
23,975
(3)
—
28,825
24,354
7,726
$ 32,080
$
479
$ 4,831
$323,155
$ 16,945

$ (8,465)
91
—
1
62
45
—
(2,941)
69
(12)
51
(696)
353
575
(59)
13
(10,913)
—
(2,882)
13,892
11,010
—
—
—
(12)
(12)
85
8,021
$ 8,106
—
—
—
—
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CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
(unaudited)
1. Organization and Description of Business
CymaBay Therapeutics Inc., formerly Metabolex, Inc., is focused on developing therapies to treat metabolic diseases. Arhalofenate, our
lead product candidate, is being developed for the treatment of gout. Arhalofenate has demonstrated two therapeutic actions: the prevention of
painful attacks of gout in joints (flares) and the lowering of serum uric acid (sUA) by promoting excretion of uric acid by the kidney. In
addition, arhalofenate provides physicians with what they identified in a recent survey (TreatmentTrends ® : Gout U.S. August 2011) as the
most important attributes when selecting a gout therapy: no serious safety issues, well tolerated, minimize frequency of flares and use in
patients with a broad range of comorbidities, (other diseases that individual patients have in addition to gout). The Company was incorporated
in Delaware in October 1988 as Transtech.
CymaBay has completed three Phase 2 studies of arhalofenate in gout patients in which it demonstrated a consistent pattern of reduction
of flare incidence and duration and lowering of serum uric acid (sUA). Arhalofenate has established a safety profile in toxicology studies in
animals and in clinical studies involving nearly 1,000 patients exposed to arhalofenate. One additional Phase 2b clinical study of 12 weeks
duration is planned to confirm the safety and efficacy of a higher dose prior to initiating Phase 3 studies. Due to its safety profile and ability to
both reduce flares and lower sUA, we believe that arhalofenate has a differentiated profile that is attractive for use in a large population, with
significant advantages over marketed and emerging agents which have limitations in their efficacy, tolerability, and use in patients with
common comorbidities. CymaBay is poised to follow arhalofenate with two additional clinical stage product candidates, one in diabetes and
one that has potential utility in high unmet need (no existing or limited therapies) and/or orphan diseases (rare diseases).
The Company has incurred net losses from operations since its inception and has an accumulated deficit of $344.9 million and $329.5
million at September 30, 2013, and December 31, 2012, respectively. The Company recorded net loss of $6.2 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2013. The Company also recorded negative cash flows from operating activities during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 of $4.9 million. To date, none of the Company’s product candidates have been approved for marketing and sale, and the
Company has not recorded any product sales. Management expects operating losses to continue for the next several years. The Company’s
ability to achieve profitability is dependent primarily on its ability to successfully develop, acquire or in-license additional product candidates,
continue clinical trials for product candidates currently in clinical development, obtain regulatory approvals, and support commercialization
activities for partnered product candidates. Products developed by the Company will require approval of the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) or a foreign regulatory authority prior to commercial sale. The regulatory approval process is expensive, timeconsuming, and uncertain, and any denial or delay of approval could have a material adverse effect on the Company. Even if approved, the
Company’s products may not achieve market acceptance and will face competition from both generic and branded pharmaceutical products. As
of September 30, 2013, and December 31, 2012, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $32.1 million and $7.7 million and a working
capital surplus (deficit) of $29.9 million and ($9.9) million, respectively.
On September 30, 2013, the Company sold shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase shares of its common stock in a private
placement for aggregate gross proceeds of $26.8 million, and raised an additional $5.0 million in venture debt financing pursuant to a $10.0
million loan agreement which the Company entered into simultaneously with the private placement on September 30, 2013, resulting in
aggregate net proceeds to the Company of $28.9 million after deducting placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses. At the same
time the Company issued shares of its common stock in cancellation of approximately $16.9 million of debt owed to the holder of that debt.
On October 31, 2013, the Company sold additional shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase shares of its common stock, which
sales are also part of the private placement, for aggregate net proceeds of $2.9 million after deducting placement agent fees and estimated
offering expenses. The private
6
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placement, the venture debt financing and the issuance of common stock in cancellation of the $16.9 million of debt is referred to as the 2013
financing. After giving effect to the 2013 financing, the Company believes that its existing cash will allow the Company to continue operation
through the third quarter of 2015.
Further, on November 22, 2013, Company entered into an agreement with investors to purchase shares of its common stock and
warrants to purchase shares of its common stock as part of the 2013 financing for aggregate gross proceeds of $3.0 million, which sales will
occur shortly after the listing of the Company’s common stock on the over-the-counter market.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited. These unaudited interim financial statements have
been prepared in accordance U.S. GAAP (“GAAP”) and following the requirements of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) for interim reporting. As permitted under those rules, certain footnotes or other financial information that are normally
required by GAAP can be condensed or omitted. In management’s opinion, the unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on
the same basis as the audited financial statements and include all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for
the fair presentation of the Company’s financial position and its results of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and its cash flows for
periods presented. These statements do not include all disclosures required by GAAP and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s
financial statements and accompanying notes for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, which is contained in the Company’s filing on
Form 10 Amendment No. 4 on November 22, 2013. The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, are not necessarily
indicative of results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2013, or for any other interim period or for any future year.
Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, which requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts and disclosures reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Management bases its estimates on
historical experience and on assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimation process often may yield a range of
potentially reasonable estimates of the ultimate future outcomes, and management must select an amount that falls within that range of
reasonable estimates. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. The Company believes significant judgment is involved in
determining revenue recognition and in estimating stock-based compensation, accrued liabilities, and equity and liability instrument valuations.
Reverse Stock Split
On September 30, 2013, the Company filed an amended and restated certificates of incorporation under which the Company’s preferred
stock and common stock was reverse split on a 1-for-79.5 basis. The accompanying financial statements and notes to the financial statements,
give retroactive effect to the reverse split for all periods presented.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities consist of financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration
of credit risk to the extent of the fair value recorded in the balance sheet. The Company invests cash that is not required for immediate
operating needs primarily in highly liquid instruments that bear minimal risk. The Company has established guidelines relating to the quality,
diversification, and maturities of securities to enable the Company to manage its credit risk.
7
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term marketable securities, accounts payable, accrued
expenses, warrant liabilities and convertible notes. Fair value estimates of these instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on
relevant market information. These estimates may be subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and
therefore cannot be determined with precision. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, and accrued liabilities are generally
considered to be representative of their respective fair values because of the short-term nature of those instruments. The carrying amount of the
warrant liabilities represents their fair values.
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal
or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value are reported using a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair
value. This hierarchy maximizes the use of observable inputs and maximizes the use of unobservable inputs and is as follows:
Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement
date.
Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3—Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability.
The carrying amounts of financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, short-term marketable securities, accounts payable,
convertible notes, and accrued expenses approximate the related fair values due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. Marketable
securities consist of available-for-sale securities that are reported at fair value, with the related unrealized gains and losses included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of stockholders’ equity (deficit). The Company values cash equivalents and
marketable securities using quoted market prices or alternative pricing sources and models utilizing observable market inputs and, as such,
classifies cash equivalents and marketable securities within Level 1 or Level 2. As of September 30, 2013, the Company also held a Level 3
liability associated with warrants, issued in connection with the Company’s equity offering, completed in September 2013. The warrants are
considered a liability and are valued using an option-pricing model, the inputs for which include exercise price of the warrants, market price of
the underlying common shares, expected term, volatility based on a group of the Company’s peers and the risk-free rate corresponding to the
expected term of the warrants. Changes to any of the inputs can have a significant impact to the estimated fair value of the warrants.
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Securities
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a remaining maturity of 90 days or less at the time of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposits with commercial banks in checking, interest-bearing, and demand money market
accounts. The Company invests excess cash in marketable securities with high credit ratings. These securities consist primarily of U.S.
Treasury or agency obligations and corporate debt and are classified as “available-for-sale.” Management may liquidate any of these
investments in order to meet the Company’s liquidity needs in the next year. Accordingly, any investments with contractual maturities greater
than one year from the balance sheet date are classified as short-term in the balance sheet.
Realized gains and losses from the sale of marketable securities, if any, are calculated using the specific identification method. Realized
gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary are included in interest income or expense in the statements of
operations. Unrealized holding gains and losses are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), in the balance sheet. To date,
the Company has not recorded any impairment charges on its marketable securities related to other-than-temporary declines in market value. In
determining whether a decline in market value is other-than-temporary, various factors are considered, including the cause, duration of time
and severity of the impairment, any adverse changes in the investees’ financial condition, and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the
security for a period of time sufficient to allow for an anticipated recovery in market value.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is calculated
using the straight-line method, and the cost is amortized over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally three to seven years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful lives or the non-cancelable term of the related lease. Maintenance and
repair costs are charged as expense in the statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) as incurred.
8
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the estimated undiscounted future cash flow expected
to result from the use and eventual disposition of an asset is less than the carrying amount. While the Company’s current and historical
operating losses and cash flows are indicators of impairment, the Company believes the future cash flows to be received support the carrying
value of its long-lived assets. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized any impairment losses as of September 30, 2013, and
December 31, 2012.
Deferred Rent
The Company records its costs under facility operating lease agreements as rent expense. Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the non-cancelable term of the operating lease. The difference between the actual amounts paid and amounts recorded as rent
expense is recorded to deferred rent in the balance sheet.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurred or services have
been rendered, (iii) the price is fixed and determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured. Payments received in advance of work
performed are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized when earned. All revenue recognized to date under the collaboration agreements
has been nonrefundable.
All contract revenue was from one strategic partner for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. There was no contract revenue for
the nine months ended September 30, 2013.
Multiple Element Arrangements
The Company evaluates revenue from agreements that have multiple elements to determine whether the components of the arrangement
represent separate units of accounting. Management considers whether components of an arrangement represent separate units of accounting
based upon whether certain criteria are met, including whether the delivered element has stand-alone value to the customer. To date, all of the
Company’s collaboration agreements have been assessed to have one unit of accounting. Up-front and license fees received for a combined
unit of accounting have been deferred and recognized ratably over the projected performance period. Non-refundable fees where the Company
has no continuing performance obligations have been recognized as revenue when collection is reasonably assured and all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met.
Milestones and Contingent Payments
Contingent consideration received from the achievement of a substantive milestone will be recognized in its entirety in the period in
which the milestone is achieved. A milestone is defined as an event having all of the following characteristics: (i) there is substantive
uncertainty at the date the arrangement is entered into that the event will be achieved, (ii) the event can only be achieved based in whole or in
part on either the Company’s performance or a specific outcome resulting from the Company’s performance and (iii) if achieved, the event
would result in additional payments being due to the Company.
The Company’s future research and development and license agreements may provide for success fees or payments to be paid to the
Company upon the achievement of certain development milestones. Given the challenges inherent in developing biologic products, there may
be substantial uncertainty as to whether any such milestones would be achieved at the time the agreements are executed. In addition, the
Company will evaluate whether the development milestones meet all of the conditions to be considered substantive. The conditions include:
(1) the consideration is commensurate with either of the following: (a) the Company’s performance to achieve the milestone or (b) the
enhancement of the value of the delivered item or items as a result of a specific outcome resulting from the Company’s performance to achieve
the milestone; (2) the consideration relates solely to past performance; and (3) the consideration is reasonable relative to all of the deliverables
and payment terms within the arrangement. If the Company considers the development milestones to be substantive, revenue related to such
future milestone payments will be recognized as the Company achieves each milestone.
9

Table of Contents
Research and Development Funding
Internal and external research and development costs reimbursed in connection with research and development funding or collaboration
agreements are recognized as revenue in the same period as the costs are incurred, and are presented on a gross basis because the Company
acts as a principal, has the discretion to choose suppliers, bears credit risk, and performs part of the services.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred in identifying, developing, and testing product candidates. These expenses
consist primarily of costs for research and development personnel, including: related stock-based compensation; contract research
organizations and other third parties that assist in managing, monitoring, and analyzing clinical trials; investigator and site fees; laboratory
services; consultants; contract manufacturing services; non-clinical studies, including materials; and allocated expenses, such as depreciation of
assets, and facilities and information technology that support research and development activities. Research and development costs are
expensed as incurred, including expenses that may or may not be reimbursed under research and development funding arrangements. Research
and development expenses under collaboration agreements approximate the revenue recognized under such agreements.
The expenses related to clinical trials are based upon estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with
multiple research institutions and clinical research organizations that conduct and manage clinical trials on behalf of the Company. Expenses
related to clinical trials are accrued based upon the level of activity incurred under each contract as indicated by such factors as progress made
against specified milestones or targets in each period, patient enrollment levels, and other trial activities. Payments made to third parties under
these clinical trial arrangements in advance of the receipt of the related services are recorded as prepaid assets, depending on the terms of the
agreement, until the services are rendered.
Stock-Based Compensation
Employee and director stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date, based on the fair-value based measurements of the stock
awards, and the portion that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as an expense over the related vesting periods, net of estimated
forfeitures. The Company calculates the fair-value based measurements of options using the Black-Scholes valuation model and the singleoption approach and recognizes expense using the straight-line attribution method.
Equity awards granted to non-employees have been accounted for using the Black-Scholes valuation model to determine the fair valuebased measurements of such instruments. The fair value-based measurements of options and warrants granted to non-employees are remeasured over the related vesting period and amortized to expense as earned.
Warrant Liabilities
Warrants issued to common stock holders and lenders by the Company in conjunction with the 2013 financing were classified as
liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets, as the terms for redemption of the underlying security were outside the Company’s control. The
warrants were recorded at fair value using either the Black-Scholes option pricing model, probability weighted expected return model or a
binomial model, depending on the characteristics of the warrants. The fair value of these warrants is re-measured at each financial reporting
period with any changes in fair value being recognized as a component of other income (expense) in the accompanying condensed statements
of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
Income Taxes
The Company utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between the financial reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted tax
rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than
not that all or part of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
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The Company follows the accounting guidance for uncertainty in income taxes. The guidance prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute criteria for the financial recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For
those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination based on the technical merits of
the position. Due to the Company’s ongoing operating losses since inception, the Company has not recorded reserves for uncertain tax
positions as of September 30, 2013, and December 31, 2012.
The Company recognizes the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits,
that the position will be sustained upon examination. The Company records interest related to income taxes, if any, as interest, and any
penalties would be recorded as other expense in the statements of comprehensive income (loss). There was no interest or penalties related to
income taxes recorded during the three and the nine months period ended September 30, 2013.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income (loss) and net unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities, which are
presented in a single continuous statement. Comprehensive income (loss) is disclosed in the statements of redeemable convertible preferred
stock and stockholders’ deficit, and is stated net of related tax effects, if any.
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share
Basic net income (loss) per share of common stock is based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
equivalents during the period. Prior to the 2013 financing, in addition to common stock, the Company had preferred stock outstanding that
contractually entitled the holder to participate in dividends and earnings of the Company. Accordingly, the Company applied the two-class
method for calculating net income (loss) per share. Under this method, all undistributed earnings are allocated first to the preferred
stockholders based on their contractual right to dividends. This right is calculated on a pro rated basis for the portion of the period the
preferred shares were outstanding. In addition, in connection with the 2013 financing, during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2013, the Company extinguished all outstanding preferred stock. The excess of the carrying amount of such preferred stock over the fair value
of the consideration paid to the holders was treated as an adjustment that reduced preferred stockholders’ dividend or distribution entitlement.
The amount of earnings that resulted from adjusting net loss for the period as described above was allocated between weighted average
number of participating preferred and common stock shares based on their entitlement to such distributions as if all of the earnings of the
period had been distributed.
Diluted net loss per share of common stock is calculated using the more dilutive of the two approaches: one, “as-converted” method,
under which the weighted average number of common stock shares outstanding during the period is adjusted to include the assumed
conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock at the beginning of the period, and the other, the “two-class” method as described above.
Under either approach, the weighted average number of shares outstanding is also adjusted to include the assumed exercises of stock options
and warrants, if dilutive. For periods in which the Company has basic net loss per share of common stock, such as for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2012, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic, as any adjustments would have been anti-dilutive. For three
and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company’s diluted net loss per common share was calculated using the “as-converted”
method, as it resulted in a net loss per share of common stock and accordingly, was more dilutive than the “two-class” method.
In all periods presented, the Company’s outstanding stock options and warrants were excluded from the calculation of earnings (loss)
per share because the effect would be antidilutive.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands, except share and per share
amounts):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2012
2013

Basic:
Numerator:
Net loss
Accretion to redemption value of redeemable convertible
preferred stock
Reduction in redeemable convertible preferred stock
distribution entitlement upon extinguishment
Amounts allocated to participating redeemable convertible
preferred stock
Net income (loss) allocated to common stock—basic
Denominator:
Weighted average number of common stock shares
outstanding
Net income (loss) per share—basic:
Diluted:
Numerator:
Net income (loss) allocated to common stock
Adjustments from assumed conversion of redeemable
convertible preferred Stock

$

(511)
(3,178)
—

$

(1,307)
(3,036)
313,933

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2012
2013

$

(8,465)
(9,465)
—

$

(6,159)
(9,289)
313,933

—
$ (3,690)

(266,720)
$ 42,870

—
$ (17,930)

(282,006)
$ 16,478

5,792
$(637.05)

101,358
$ 422.95

5,781
$(3,098.31)

38,027
$ 433.33

$ (3,690)

$ 42,870

$ (17,930)

$ 16,478

—

(44,177)

—

(22,637)

convertible preferred Stock
Net loss allocated to common stock—diluted
Denominator:
Weighted average number of common stock shares
outstanding
Weighted average number of preferred stock shares
outstanding
Total common stock shares equivalents
Net loss per share—diluted:

—
$ (3,690)
5,792
—
5,792
$(637.05)

(44,177)
(1,307)

—
$ (17,930)

101,358
630,612
731,970
$
(1.79)

5,781
—
5,781
$(3,098.31)

$

(22,637)
(6,159)
38,027

650,798
688,825
$
(8.94)

The following table shows the total outstanding securities considered anti-dilutive and therefore excluded from the computation of
diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands):
Three and Nine Months
Ended September 30,
2013
2012
(unaudited)

Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Common stock options
Warrants for common stock

—
89,609
1,543,437
11

661,059
107,279
—

Table of Contents
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2013, Accounting Standards Codification Topic 220, Comprehensive Income was amended to require companies to report,
in one place, information about reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income. Accordingly, a company can present this
information on the face of the financial statements, if certain requirements are met, or the information must be presented in the notes to the
financial statements. The Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2013, on a retrospective basis and the items reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income are not material for all periods presented.
3. Certain Balance Sheet Items
Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

Laboratory equipment
Office and computer equipment
Purchased software
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Total
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

September 30,
(unaudited)
2013

December 31,
2012

$

$

$

—
605
166
43
2,534
3,348
(3,339)
9

$

3,778
983
166
174
2,534
7,635
(7,551)
84

Property and equipment includes assets financed through equipment loans, which were fully paid in January 2012. In the third quarter of
2013, CymaBay sold or disposed of all of its machinery and equipment and a portion of its computers and furniture and fixtures which
resulted in a gain on sale of assets of $0.4 million.
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands

Accrued compensation
Accrued pre-clinical and clinical trial expenses
Accrued professional fees
Other accruals
Total accrued liabilities

September 30,
(unaudited)
2013

December 31,
2012

$

$

$
12

269
199
736
—
1,204

$

291
304
285
14
894
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4. Warrants
In September 2013, in connection with a private placement of common stock and warrants, the Company issued five-year warrants to
purchase 1,421,698 shares of CymaBay’s common stock at an exercise price of $5.75 per share. The Company also issued five-year warrants
to purchase 121,739 shares of CymaBay’s common stock at an exercise price of $5.00 per share. These warrants contain provisions that are
contingent on the occurrence of a change in control, which would conditionally obligate the Company to repurchase the warrants for cash in an
amount equal to their fair value using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model (the “Black-Scholes Model”) on the date of such change in
control. Due to these provisions, the Company is required to account for the warrants issued in September 2013 as a liability at fair value. In
addition, the estimated liability related to the warrants is required to be revalued at each reporting period until the earlier of the exercise of the
warrants, at which time the liability will be reclassified to stockholders’ equity, or expiration of the warrants. At issuance date, the fair value of
the total warrant liability was estimated to be $5.3 million using the Black-Scholes Model.
5. Collaboration Agreements
Sanofi-Aventis Deutschland GMBH
In 2013, there were no contract revenues, and in September 2012 the Company recognized a final payment from Sanofi-Aventis of $2.9
million as contract revenue.
Takeda San Francisco, Inc.
In March 2010, the Company entered into a research collaboration agreement with Takeda San Francisco, Inc. (TSF), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited. The Company collaborated with TSF on the evaluation and validation of protein
targets for the development of biological products. Approximately $0.1 million was recognized as specific research and development funding
under this agreement in nine months ended September 30, 2012. Takeda terminated this agreement on March 16, 2013, with no further
payments being made after its termination.
Pfizer, Inc.
In December 1998, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement in the area of insulin secretion target discovery with the ParkeDavis division of Warner-Lambert Company, since acquired by Pfizer Inc., to identify genes involved in diabetes and to develop therapeutic
compounds from the research. The collaboration agreement provided for an initial five-year funded research term, which was subsequently
extended an additional year until December 2004. The Company received payments for research and development costs for the funded
research term and is entitled to receive payments for specified drug development achievements. If products resulting from the collaboration are
eventually marketed and sold, the Company will also receive royalties on sales of such products. No amounts were received under this
agreement in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013.
The Company was also eligible to receive contingent payments if certain development and commercial events were achieved as well as
royalties on worldwide product sales, if any. No amounts were received under this agreement in the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2012 and 2013.
6. License Agreements
In June 1998, the Company entered into a license agreement with DiaTex, Inc. (DiaTex) relating to products containing halofenate, its
enantiomers, derivatives, and analogs (the licensed products). The license agreement provides that DiaTex and the Company are joint owners
of all of the patents and patent applications covering the licensed products and methods of producing or using such compounds, as well as
certain other know-how (the covered IP). As part of the license agreement, the Company received an exclusive worldwide license, including
as to DiaTex, to use the covered IP to develop and commercialize the licensed products. The Company also retained the right to sub-license the
covered IP. The license agreement contains a $2,000 per month license fee as well as a requirement to make additional payments for
development achievements and royalty payments on any sales of licensed products. Pursuant to the license agreement, all of the Company’s
patents and patent applications related to MBX-102, its use, and production are jointly owned with DiaTex. DiaTex is entitled to up to $0.8
million for the future development of MBX-102, as well as royalty payments on any sales of products containing MBX-102. No development
payments were made in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, and no royalties have been paid to date.
13
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7. Debt
On June 20, 2006 the Company entered into a equity and loan facility with the Johnson and Johnson Development Corporation
(“JJDC”) pursuant to which the Company could drawn down up to an aggregate of $30 million in loans in the form of convertible preferred
stock promissory notes. In March and September 2008, the Company issued notes in the aggregate amount of $3.5 million and $10.5 million,
respectively. The notes were due on March 17 and September 17, 2011, including interest that accrued at 7.57% per annum. In December
2010, the aggregate principal amount and all accrued interest under the notes issued in March and September 2008 were converted into the
Company’s Series E-3 convertible preferred stock (Series E-3 Preferred) at 232.93 per share.
In February and July 2009, the Company issued notes in the aggregate amount of $7.0 million and $6.7 million, respectively, which
represented the remaining amount available to the Company, in accordance with the terms of the equity and loan facility with JJDC. The notes
were due in February 2012 and July 2012, including interest that accrued at 4.42% per annum and 4.960% per annum, respectively. In
January 2012, the Company amended the maturity dates of the outstanding $7.0 million and $6.7 million convertible promissory notes to
extend the maturity date to March 1, 2013, and interest rates were increased to 4.919% and 5.46% per annum, respectively. In addition, the
conversion price of the notes to convert into shares of the Company’s Series C-1 Preferred Stock was decreased from $438.84 per share to
$292.56 per share. All of these notes were further amended in March 2013, to extend the maturity date on the notes to August 1, 2013, and to
make the notes subordinate to repayment of the Company’s severance obligations to all employees until January 1, 2014. On July 31, 2013,
the maturity date was extended to December 31, 2013. There are no financial covenants associated with the notes. For the three and nine
months ended September 31, 2012 and 2013, the Company recognized $0.2 million and $0.6 million respectively, of interest expense related
to the convertible promissory notes. On September 30, 2013, the outstanding principal and accrued interest of $16.9 million under the equity
and loan facility with JJDC was extinguished in exchange for 624,944 shares of common stock as an integral part of the 2013 finance
restructuring.
Facility Loan
On September 30, 2013, the Company entered into a facility loan agreement with Silicon Valley Bank and Oxford Finance for a total
loan amount of $10.0 million of which the first tranche of $5.0 million was drawn as part of the 2013 financing. The loan is at a fixed interest
rate of 8.75% payable twelve months interest only and thirty-six months amortization thereafter, with a final interest payment of $0.3 million at
the end of the loan period. Until positive Phase 2b data is achieved, the Company must be in compliance with one of two financial covenants at
all times: (1) maintain 1.3 times cash to outstanding debt or (2) maintain sufficient cash on hand to support eight months of operations based
on a trailing average monthly cash burn. The first tranche loans under the term loan facility bear interest at a rate equal 8.75% per annum.
Loans under the second tranche will bear interest at a rate fixed at the time of borrowing equal to the greater of (i) 8.75% per annum and (ii)
the sum of the Wall Street Journal prime rate plus 4.25% per annum. We were also required to pay a facility fee of 1.00% on the term loan
facility commitment.
At the time of the facility loan drawdown, the Company issued warrants exercisable for a total of 121,739 shares of the Company’s common
stock to the lenders at an exercise price of $5.00 per share. As a result of this a long term warrant liability of $0.5 million was recorded in the
accompanying condensed balance sheet as of September 30, 2013.
8. Commitments and Contingencies
The Company leases office and laboratory space in a single building in Hayward, California. The facility lease, as amended on July 15,
2010, has a term of four years, unless terminated earlier by the Company, and expires on April 30, 2014. Rent expense was $0.4 million and
$0.1 million for each of the nine and three months ended September 30, 2013.
Future minimum lease payments under this amended agreement are as follows (in thousands):
Lease Payments

Year ending December 31:
2013
2014
Total future minimum payments

$
$
14

422
115
537
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Indemnification
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and
warranties and provide for general indemnification, including indemnification associated with product liability or infringement of intellectual
property rights. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves future claims that may be made against the
Company that may be, but have not yet been, made. To date, the Company has not paid any claims or been required to defend any action
related to these indemnification obligations, and no amounts have been accrued in the accompanying balance sheets related to these
indemnification obligations.
The Company has agreed to indemnify its executive officers and directors for losses and costs incurred in connection with certain events
or occurrences, including advancing money to cover certain costs, subject to certain limitations. The maximum potential amount of future
payments the Company could be required to make under this indemnification is unlimited; however, the Company maintains insurance policies
that may limit its exposure and may enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. Assuming the applicability of coverage, the
willingness of the insurer to assume coverage, and subject to certain retention, loss limits, and other policy provisions, the Company believes
the fair value of these indemnification obligations is not material. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized any liabilities relating to these
obligations as of September 30, 2013, and December 31, 2012. No assurances can be given that the covering insurers will not attempt to
dispute the validity, applicability, or amount of coverage without expensive litigation against these insurers, in which case the Company may
incur substantial liabilities as a result of these indemnification obligations.
9. Preferred Stock
Upon the closing of the private placement in September 2013, 46,626,294 outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock
were converted into 2,793,281 shares of common stock, and the related carrying value of $324.0 million was reclassified to additional paid-in
capital. At September 30, 2013, no shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were issued or outstanding.
Preferred Stock
On September 30, 2013, the Company had authorized 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $.0001 per share. No
shares of preferred stock were issued or outstanding as of September 30, 2013.
Prior to the September 30, 2013 conversion, the Company had the following series of outstanding convertible preferred stock
(collectively, the Preferred Stock): Series A-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, Series C-1 Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, Series E-1
Preferred and Series E-3 Preferred. Series E-1 Preferred and Series E-3 Preferred are collectively referred to as the Series E Preferred. The
Preferred Stock was initially recorded at its original purchase price, which represented fair value on the date of issuance, net of issuance costs,
if any. The original purchase price per share of Series A-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, Series C-1 Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, and
Series E Preferred is equal to $232.93, $232.93, $365.70, $232.94, and $232.93 per share, respectively. The preferred stock balances are
recorded at the original fair value and the accreted dividends based on the per share terms at issuance of Series A-1 Preferred, Series B-1
Preferred, Series C-1 Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, and Series E Preferred, which are equal to $18.64, $18.64, $29.26, $18.64, and $18.64
per share per annum, respectively.
The shares of Series B-1 Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, and Series E Preferred were redeemable upon the request of the holders of at
least 66 2/3% of outstanding shares of Series B-1 Preferred, voting as a separate class, and 51% of outstanding shares of Series D-1 Preferred
and Series E Preferred, voting together as a separate class. In this event, the Company would be required to redeem the shares in three equal
annual installments, beginning in September 2021, at the applicable original purchase price per share. All shares of Preferred Stock were
redeemable in the event of a change of control at their liquidation preferences.
As all Preferred Stock was redeemable either at the option of the holder or upon an event outside the control of the Company (i.e., a
change in control), the related amounts were presented outside of stockholders’ equity (deficit). In August and December 2003, the Company
completed two closings of a private placement of Series B-1 Preferred, in which the Company issued a total of 136,520 shares at a price of
$232.93 per share for gross proceeds of $31.8 million. In November and December 2004, the Company completed two further closings of
Series B-1 Preferred, in which the Company issued a total of 188,894 shares at a price of $232.93 per share for gross proceeds of $44.0
million. The Series B-1 Preferred investors in these two final closings also purchased warrants for 29,245 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $30.21 per
15
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share, with an exercise period of five years from the date of purchase, for $1.51 cents per share of common stock covered by the warrants. In
November 2009, the exercise period of these warrants was extended to December 31, 2011. In December 2012, the Company’s Board of
Directors reduced the number of shares exercisable under these warrant by 45% of the original shares and approved the extension of the
exercise period until April 1, 2013. In April 2013 these warrants expired in accordance with their terms.
In August 2006, the Company issued 27,345 shares of Series C-1 Preferred to JJDC at a price of $365.70 per share, for gross proceeds
of $10.0 million.
In April 2007, the Company issued 137,592 shares of Series D-1 Preferred at a price of $232.94 per share, for gross proceeds of $32.0
million. In connection with the issuance, the Series D-1 Preferred investors also purchased warrants for an aggregate of 20,639 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $22.13 per share, with an exercise period of five years from the date of purchase, for $0.79 cents per
share of common stock covered by the warrants.
In August 2008, the Company repurchased 646, 1,610 and 472 shares of Series A-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred and Series D-1
Preferred, respectively, and a warrant for 71 shares of common stock, for an aggregate purchase price of $82,000. The Company allocated the
purchase price among the preferred shares and warrant based upon their respective fair values.
In November 2009, the Company issued 1,288 shares of Series E-1 Preferred upon the conversion of debt issued under a loan
agreement. In June and December 2010, the Company issued 859 and 37,119 shares of Series E-1 Preferred, respectively, upon conversion of
debt issued under a loan agreement.
In December 2010, the Company issued 71,543 shares of Series E-3 Preferred upon conversion of the JJDC convertible notes that were
due in 2011 (Note 7).
As of December 31, 2012, convertible preferred stock balances were as follows (in thousands, except share amounts):

Series A-1
Series B-1
Series C-1
Series D-1
Series E-1
Series E-3
Total

Shares
Authorized

Shares Issued
and
Outstanding

12,734
373,223
75,472
136,948
40,252
93,082
731,711

12,734
373,223
27,345
136,949
39,265
71,543
661,059

Aggregate
Liquidation
Preference

$

5,187
146,549
15,122
46,520
19,820
23,552
$ 256,750

Carrying
Value

$ 75,454
145,408
15,074
43,271
10,674
28,816
$318,697

The significant rights, privileges and preferences of the Preferred Stock were as follows:
Election of Directors
The holders of Series B-1 Preferred were entitled to elect five members of the Company’s Board of Directors, the holders of Series D-1
Preferred were entitled to elect one member of the Company’s Board of Directors, and the holders of common stock were entitled to elect one
member of the Company’s Board of Directors, subject to certain restrictions.
Voting Rights
Preferred Stock carried voting rights equal to the number of shares of common stock into which it could be converted. Additionally,
certain corporate actions could only be exercised upon the approval of holders of 66 2/3% of the outstanding shares of Series B-1 Preferred
and Series C-1 Preferred, voting together as a single class, and 51% of the outstanding shares of Series D-1 Preferred and Series E Preferred,
voting together as a single class.
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Dividends
All dividends on the Preferred Stock were payable when and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors. The holders of Series E
Preferred were entitled to cumulative dividends in preference to the holders of Series A-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, Series C-1
Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, and common stock. The holders of Series D-1 Preferred were entitled to cumulative dividends in preference
to the holders of Series A-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, Series C-1 Preferred, and common stock. The holders of Series B-1 Preferred
and Series C-1 Preferred were entitled to cumulative dividends in preference to the holders of Series A-1 Preferred and common stock. The
holders of Series A-1 Preferred were entitled to cumulative dividends in preference to the holders of common stock. The dividend rate were
$18.64, $18.64, $29.26, $18.64, and $18.64 per annum for each outstanding share of Series E Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, Series C-1
Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, and Series A-1 Preferred, respectively. Additionally, if dividends were paid to any holder of common stock,
the holders of Preferred Stock would receive a dividend of a per share amount (on an as-if-converted to common stock basis) equal to the
amount paid to the holders of common stock.
No dividends were declared as of December 31, 2012. Prior to the conversion of the Preferred Stock, the aggregate cumulative
dividends as of September 30, 2013, were $3.4 million ($47.28 per share), $1.9 million ($48.14 per share), $15.9 million ($116.00 per share),
$5.6 million ($201.83 per share), $63.1 million ($168.96 per share), and $2.3 million ($183.64 per share) for Series E-3 Preferred, Series E-1
Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, Series C-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, and Series A-1 Preferred, respectively. The aggregate cumulative
dividends as of December 31, 2012, were $2.7 million ($38.04 per share), 1.5 million ($38.90 per share), $14.6 million ($106.75 per share),
$5.1 million ($187.32 per share), $59.6 million ($159.72 per share), and $2.2 million ($174.40 per share) for Series E-3 Preferred, Series E-1
Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, Series C-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, and Series A-1 Preferred, respectively.
Liquidation Preference
While the Preferred Stock was outstanding, in the event of a liquidation, dissolution, winding up, or change in control of the Company,
the liquidation preference of each stockholder class was to be paid in the following order, from available funds: first to the holders of Series E1 Preferred and Series E-3 Preferred, second to the holders of Series D-1 Preferred, third to the holders of Series B-1 Preferred and Series C1 Preferred, and fourth to the holders of Series A-1 Preferred. After payment of the Preferred Stock liquidation preferences, the remaining
assets of the Company were to be distributed ratably to all holders of common stock and Preferred Stock on an as-if-converted basis. The
liquidation preference of Series E-1 Preferred, Series E-3 Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, Series C-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, and
Series A-1 Preferred was equal to $465.87, $290.97, $232.94, $365.70, $232.93, and $232.93 per share, respectively, plus any cumulative
unpaid dividends. If there were insufficient funds available to satisfy each liquidation preference in its entirety, the holders of Preferred Stock
were to be paid a pro rata amount based on their liquidation preference.
Conversion Rights
Each share of Preferred Stock was convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, into shares of the Company’s common stock at the
applicable conversion rate. The conversion rate for each of the series of Preferred Stock was 1:1, except for the Series D-1 Preferred, which
had a conversion rate of 1.365:1. With respect to the Series E Preferred, Series D-1 Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, and Series A-1 Preferred,
if the Company issued common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of common stock at a price less than the
respective original purchase price per share, the conversion rate of such stock would be adjusted to the lowest price per share paid in such
issuance. The conversion rate for Preferred Stock would not be adjusted for common stock issuances on the exercise of options or warrants
issued to employees, directors, or consultants of the Company and in certain other circumstances.
Each share of Preferred Stock automatically converted on September 30, 2013 into common stock upon the approval of holders of 66
2/3% of the outstanding shares of Series B-1 Preferred, voting as a separate class, and 51% of the outstanding shares of Series D-1 Preferred
and Series E Preferred, voting together as a separate class, or upon the closing of an underwritten public offering of the Company’s common
stock pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, at a per share price of at least $8.00, and
raising aggregate gross proceeds of at least $30.0 million. In connection with the Company’s 2013 financing, each holder of the Company’s
preferred stock that participated in such financing for between 1% and up to 99% of such holders “Pro Rata Share” (as defined in the
Company’s
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then effective certificate of incorporation) had each shares of preferred stock represented by such participation amount convertible into four
shares of common stock and the balance of any shares of preferred stock converted into common stock at the applicable conversion rate as
defined in the certificate of incorporation. Any holder that participated in the 2013 financing for between 100% and 300% of such holder’s Pro
Rata Share (the “Participation Multiple”) had each shares of preferred stock convert into shares of common stock by multiplying the product
of (y) the aggregate number of shares of preferred stock held by such holder multiplied by the applicable Participation Multiple and (z) four
(4).
10. Common Stock
On September 30, 2013, the Company authorized 100,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $.0001 per share. On
September 30, 2013, 8,790,764 shares of common stock were issued at $5.00 per share in the 2013 financing which included a reverse split
on a 1-for-79.5 basis of the Company’s existing preferred and common stock . In addition, 1,421,698 warrants were issued at $5.75 per share
and 121,739 warrants were issued at $5.00 per share. As a result of this a long term warrant liability of $4.8 million was recorded in the
accompanying balance sheet as of September 30, 2013.
As of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company had reserved shares of authorized but unissued common stock as
follows:
Shares Reserved
September 30, 2013
(unaudited)

Shares Reserved
December 31, 2012

—
1,543,437
577,294
2,120,731

661,059
28,208
140,474
829,740

Conversion of convertible preferred stock
Outstanding common stock warrants
Equity incentive plans
Total reserved shares of common stock

In addition to the above reserved shares, the Company has reserved stock for issuance upon conversion of the outstanding convertible
notes (Note 7).
11. Stock Plans and Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Plans
On September 30, 2013, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2013 Plan, under which shares of the
Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance pursuant to stock awards, including, but not limited to, incentive stock options,
nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance stock awards, and
performance cash awards. In addition, the share reserve will automatically increase on January 1st of each year, for a period of not more than
ten years, commencing on January 1, 2014, in an amount equal to 5% of the total number of shares of capital stock outstanding on
December 31st of the preceding calendar year, unless the Board determines otherwise prior to December 31st of such calendar year. As of
November 1, 2013, we had issued options exercisable for an aggregate of 321,574 shares of the Company’s common stock under the 2013
Plan.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Employee and Director Expense
Employee and director stock-based compensation expense recorded was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2013
2012

Research and development
General and administrative
Total

$
18

5
11
16

$

7
15
22

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2013
2012
(unaudited)

16
33
49

20
43
63
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12. Income Taxes
No provision for U.S. income taxes exists due to tax losses incurred in all periods presented. Deferred income taxes reflect the tax
effects of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and the net temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Realization of the net deferred tax assets is dependent upon future taxable income, if any, the amount and timing of which is uncertain.
Based on available objective evidence, management believes it more likely than not that the Company’s deferred tax assets are not realizable.
Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The net valuation allowance increased by $0 and $4.5
million during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and the year ended December 31, 2012, respectively.
As of December 31, 2012, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $156.0 million to offset
future federal income taxes which will expire beginning in 2024 through 2032 and the state income taxes which will expire beginning in 2014
through 2032. Current federal and state tax laws include substantial restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses and tax credits in the
event of an ownership change. Even if the carryforwards are available, they may be subject to annual limitations, lack of future taxable income,
or future ownership changes that could result in the expiration of the carryforwards before they are utilized. If the Company determines in the
future that it will be able to realize all or a portion of its net operating loss carryforwards, an adjustment to the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards would increase net income in the period in which the Company makes such a determination.
Utilization of the net operating loss and tax credits carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership
change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result
in the expiration of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards before utilization.
The following table summarizes activity related to the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):
Total

Balance as of December 31, 2011
Increases related to 2012 tax positions
Balance as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012

1,711
36
$1,747

The unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would not have an impact on the Company’s effective tax rate. The Company does not
expect a significant change to its unrecognized tax benefits over the next twelve months. The unrecognized tax benefits may increase or change
during the next year for items that arise in the ordinary course of business.
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and California jurisdiction and is not currently under examination by federal,
state, or local taxing authorities for any open tax years. The tax years 1998 through 2012 remain open to examination by the major taxing
authorities.
13. Related-Party Transactions
The Company paid a former member of its Board of Directors, who is also a member of its Scientific and Clinical Advisory Boards, a
total of $60,000 in the year ended December 31, 2012 and $35,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, in monthly cash retainers.
The Company also issued options to purchase shares of common stock to this individual in his capacity as a member of its Scientific Advisory
Board (Note 11).
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14. Subsequent Events
Additional Financing
On October 31, 2013, the Company sold additional shares of common stock and warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock in a second closing of the 2013 financing for gross proceeds of $3.3 million, resulting in net proceeds of $2.9 million after
deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses.
Further, on November 22, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with investors to purchase shares of its common stock and
warrants to purchase shares of its common stock as part of the 2013 financing for aggregate gross proceeds of $3.0 million, which sales will
occur shortly after listing of the Company’s common stock on the over-the-counter market
Stock Option Grants
207,724 and 62,430 shares of common stock options were granted to the CEO and CSO, respectively, exercisable at $5.00 per share and
vesting over a four-year period, with one-third (1/3) of the shares vested on October 31, 2013, and the remaining 2/3 of the shares vesting
ratably, on a monthly basis, over the following forty-eight (48) months. In addition, 51,420 shares of common stock options exercisable at
$5.00 per share with an early exercise date were granted to members of the Board of Directors as compensation.
Lease Agreement
On November 8, 2013, CymaBay entered into a new lease starting January 1, 2014, and expiring in December 31, 2018, for 8,894
square feet of office space in Newark, CA. The Company’s lease obligations under this new lease are approximately $1.7 million.
Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, are not necessarily indicative of results that may occur in
future interim periods or for the full fiscal year.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains statements indicating expectations about future performance and other forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, that involve risks and uncertainties.
We usually use words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,”
“intend,” or the negative of these terms or similar expressions to identify these forward-looking statements. These statements appear
throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and are statements regarding our current expectation, belief or intent, primarily with
respect to our operations and related industry developments. Examples of these statements include, but are not limited to, statements
regarding the following: our business and scientific strategies; the progress of our and our collaborators’ product development programs,
including clinical testing, and the timing of results thereof; our corporate collaborations and revenues that may be received from our
collaborations and the timing of those potential payments; our expectations with respect to regulatory submissions and approvals; our drug
discovery technologies; our research and development expenses; protection of our intellectual property; sufficiency of our cash and capital
resources and the need for additional capital; and our operations and legal risks. You should not place undue reliance on these forwardlooking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements for many reasons,
including as a result of the risks and uncertainties discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part II of this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any
forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict which factors will arise. In addition, we
cannot assess the impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results
to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.
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Overview
CymaBay Therapeutics Inc., formerly Metabolex, Inc., is focused on developing therapies to treat metabolic diseases. Arhalofenate, our
lead product candidate, is being developed for the treatment of gout. Arhalofenate has demonstrated two therapeutic actions: the prevention of
painful attacks of gout in joints (flares) and the lowering of serum uric acid (sUA) by promoting excretion of uric acid by the kidney. In
addition, arhalofenate provides physicians with what they identified in a recent survey (TreatmentTrends ® : Gout U.S. August 2011) as the
most important attributes when selecting a gout therapy: no serious safety issues, well tolerated, minimize frequency of flares and use in
patients with a broad range of comorbidities, (other diseases that individual patients have in addition to gout).
CymaBay has completed three Phase 2 studies of arhalofenate in gout patients in which it demonstrated a consistent pattern of reduction
of flare incidence and duration and lowering of serum uric acid (sUA). Arhalofenate has established a safety profile in toxicology studies in
animals and in clinical studies involving nearly 1,000 patients exposed to arhalofenate. One additional Phase 2b clinical study of 12 weeks
duration is planned to confirm the safety and efficacy of a higher dose prior to initiating Phase 3 studies. Due to its safety profile and ability to
both reduce flares and lower sUA, we believe that arhalofenate has a differentiated profile that is attractive for use in a large population, with
significant advantages over marketed and emerging agents which have limitations in their efficacy, tolerability, and use in patients with
common comorbidities. CymaBay is poised to follow arhalofenate with two additional clinical stage product candidates, one in diabetes and
one that has potential utility in high unmet need (no existing or limited therapies) and/or orphan diseases (rare diseases).
We are an emerging growth company. Under the JOBS Act emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting
standards until such time of those standards apply to private companies. We plan to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised
accounting standards, and therefore, we may not be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are
not “emerging growth companies”.
Reverse Stock Split and Conversion of Preferred Stock
On September 30, 2013, we effected a 1-for-79.5 reverse split of our preferred stock and common stock, which we refer to as the
reverse stock split, all of the shares of our outstanding preferred stock converted to common stock, we sold shares of our common stock and
warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in a private placement for aggregate gross proceeds of $26.8 million, and raised an
additional $5.0 million in venture debt financing pursuant to a $10.0 million loan agreement which we entered into simultaneously with the
private placement, resulting in aggregate net proceeds to CymaBay of $28.9 million after deducting placement agent fees and estimated
offering expenses. At the same time we issued shares of our common stock in cancellation of approximately $16.9 million of debt owed to the
holder of that debt. On October 31, 2013, we sold additional shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase shares of our common
stock, which sales are also part of the private placement, for aggregate net proceeds to CymaBay of $2.9 million after deducting placement
agent fees and estimated offering expenses. Further, on November 22, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with investors to
purchase shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase shares of its common stock as part of the 2013 financing for aggregate gross
proceeds of $3.0 million, which sales will occur shortly after listing the Company’s stock on the over the counter. We refer to the private
placement, the venture debt financing and the issuance of our common stock in cancellation of the $16.9 million of debt as the 2013 financing.
The discussion in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations” gives retroactive effect to
the reverse stock split that occurred on September 30, 2013.
Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. We base
our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be materially reasonable under the circumstances and
review our estimates on an ongoing basis. Actual results may materially differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
21

Table of Contents
We discussed accounting policies and assumptions that involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity within Note 1 to our audited
consolidated financial statements in our filing on Form 10, originally filed with the SEC on August 12, 2013. There were no material changes
to our critical accounting policies and estimates during the quarter ended September 30, 2013, except as follows:
Warrant Liabilities
We have issued freestanding warrants to purchase shares of our common stock. Our outstanding common stock warrants issued in
connection with our 2013 financing are classified as liabilities in the condensed balance sheet as they contain terms for redemption of the
underlying security are outside our control. The fair value of all warrants is re-measured at each financial reporting date with any changes in
fair value being recognized in change in fair value of warrant liabilities, a component of other income (expense), in the condensed statements
of operations and comprehensive income (loss). We will continue to re-measure the fair value of the warrant liabilities until: (i) exercise, or
(ii) expiration of the related warrant. We do not re-measure the fair value of warrants unless they are required to be accounted for as liabilities.
JOBS Act
In April 2012, the JumpStart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was signed into law. The JOBS Act contains
provisions that, among other things, reduce certain reporting requirements for an “emerging growth company.” As an “emerging growth
company,” we are electing to take advantage of the extended transition period afforded by the JOBS Act for the implementation of new or
revised accounting standards, and as a result, we will not comply with new or revised accounting standards until such standards are required
for non-emerging growth companies. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that our decision to take advantage of the extended transition
period is irrevocable. In addition, we are in the process of evaluating the benefits of relying on the other exemptions and reduced reporting
requirements provided by the JOBS Act. Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, if as an “emerging growth company” we
choose to rely on such exemptions, we may not be required to, among other things, (i) provide an auditor’s attestation report on our system of
internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404, (ii) provide all of the compensation disclosure that may be required of nonemerging growth public companies under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, (iii) comply with any
requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a
supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements (auditor discussion and
analysis), and (iv) disclose certain executive compensation-related items such as the correlation between executive compensation and
performance and comparisons of the Chief Executive Officer’s compensation to median employee compensation. These exemptions will apply
for a period of five years following the completion of our initial public offering or until we no longer meet the requirements of being an
“emerging growth company,” whichever is earlier.
Results of Operations
General
To date, we have not generated any income from operations. Since our date of incorporation through September 30, 2013, we have an
accumulated deficit of $344.9 million, primarily as a result of expenditures for research and development and general and administrative
expenses. While we may in the future generate revenue from a variety of sources, including license fees and milestone payments in connection
with strategic partnerships, our product candidates are at a mid-level stage of development and may never be successfully developed or
commercialized. Accordingly, we expect to continue to incur substantial losses from operations for the foreseeable future and there can be no
assurance that we will ever generate significant revenue to achieve and sustain profitability.
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For the Three Months
Ended September 30
2013
2012
Variance

For the Nine Months
Ended September 30,
2013
2012
Variance
(unaudited)

($ in thousands)

Contract revenue
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Loss from operations
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Net income (loss) from operations

$

—

703
683
(1,386)
(219)
298
$(1,307)

$2,913

$(2,913)

$

—

2,282
925
(294)
(217)
—
$ (511)

(1,579)
(242)
1,092
(2)
298
$ 796

3,162
2,780
(5,942)
(639)
422
$(6,159)

$ 3,037

$(3,037)

7,560
3,343
(7,866)
(600)
1
$(8,465)

(4,398)
(563)
1,924
(39)
421
$ 2,306

Contract Revenue
Our recent revenue comprises primarily collaboration agreement-related revenue. Collaboration agreement-related revenue has included
license fees, payments for research and development services and milestone and other contingent payments. All contract revenue was from one
strategic partner, Sanofi-Aventis, for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. We recognized a final payment from Sanofi-Aventis of $2.9
million as contract revenue in 2012. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, there were no collaboration revenues.
Research & Development Expenses
Conducting research and development is central to our business model. For the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012,
research and development expenses were, $0.7 million and $2.3 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and
2012, research and development expenses were $3.1 million and $7.6 million, respectively. Research and development expenses are detailed in
the table below:
Three months ended September 30,
2013
2012
(unaudited)

MBX-102 Clinical and Non-Clinical
MBX-102 Gout – Three Phase 2 Randomized Studies
MBX-8025
MBX-2982
Other Projects
Total Project Costs
Internal Research and Development Costs
Total Research and Development

5
121
—
7
—
133
570
703
23

9
915
7
32
—
963
1,319
2,282

Nine months ended September 30,
2013
2012
(unaudited)

$

24
681
—
32
1
738
2,424
3,162

$

19
3,311
12
103
—
3,445
4,115
7,560
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Our external research and development costs consist primarily of:
•

expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, investigative sites and consultants that conduct our clinical
trials and a substantial portion of our preclinical activities;

•

the cost of acquiring and manufacturing clinical trial and other materials; and

•

other costs associated with development activities, including additional studies

Internal research and development costs consist primarily of salaries and related fringe benefits costs for our employees (such as
workers compensation and health insurance premiums), stock-based compensation charges, travel costs, lab supplies and overhead expenses.
Internal costs generally benefit multiple projects and are not separately tracked per project.
Total project costs decreased by $0.8 million and $2.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to
September 30, 2012, respectively, due to a hold placed on all projects until financing could be obtained. Internal research and development cost
decreased by $0.7 million and $1.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 versus September 30, 2012 due to cost
cutting measures in 2013. There was an involuntary reduction in workforce at the end of May 2013 and the subsequent shutdown of the labs
from June to September 2013 since we decided to place our primary focus on the clinical area.
We expect to continue to incur substantial expenses related to our development activities for the foreseeable future as we continue
product development and initiate our next clinical study for arhalofenate. Since product candidates in later stages of clinical development
generally have higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of
later stage clinical trials, we expect that our research and development expenses will increase in the future. In addition, if our product
development efforts are successful, we expect to incur substantial costs to prepare for potential Phase 3 clinical trials and activities.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist principally of personnel-related costs, professional fees for legal, consulting, audit services,
rent and other general operating expenses not otherwise included in research and development. For the three months ended September 30,
2013 and 2012, general and administrative expenses were $0.6 million, and $0.7 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012, general and administrative expenses were $2.8 million and $3.3 million, respectively. The $0.2 million decrease
between the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was due to a reduction in labor costs of $0.1 million due to attrition of
personnel and $0.1 million due to a reduction in spending on patent legal costs. The $0.5 million decrease in spending for nine months ending
September 30, 2013 as compared to September 30, 2012 was due to $0.4 million savings in labor costs due to attrition and $0.2 reduction in
travel costs in keeping with cost reduction measures.
We anticipate general and administrative expenses will increase in future periods, reflecting an expanding infrastructure and increased
professional fees associated with being a public reporting company under the Exchange Act.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
To date, we have funded our operations through the sale of equity securities and collaborations with third parties. At September 30,
2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $32.1 million, compared to $7.7 million at December 31, 2012, primarily as a result of the
aggregate net proceeds of $28.9 million we raised on September 30, 2013, as described in “Reverse Stock Split and Conversion of Preferred
Stock” above. On October 31, 2013, we raised additional aggregate net proceeds of $2.9 million.
Further, on November 22, 2013, Company entered into an agreement with investors to purchase shares of its common stock and
warrants to purchase shares of its common stock as part of the 2013 financing for aggregate gross proceeds of $3.0 million, which sales will
occur shortly after the listing of the Company’s common stock on the over-the-counter market.
In addition, on September 30, 2013, we entered into a term loan facility with Silicon Valley Bank and Oxford Finance LLC, collectively
referred to as the lenders, for an aggregate amount of $10 million, $5 million of which was made available to us as of September 30, 2013, and
the remaining $5 million, which we refer to as the second tranche, of which shall be made available to us upon the achievement of positive data
and successful completion of all primary endpoints for either the 600mg or 800mg dose of arhalofenate in our planned Phase 2b study (the
“second draw milestone”). The second tranche shall be available to us until the earlier of June 30, 2015, or the occurrence and continuation of
an event of default (as described in the term loan facility). Each tranche matures 48 months following the funding date of such tranche. The
proceeds of the term loan facility may be used for general corporate purposes.
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The first tranche loans under the term loan facility bear interest at a rate equal 8.75% per annum. Loans under the second tranche will
bear interest at a rate fixed at the time of borrowing equal to the greater of (i) 8.75% per annum and (ii) the sum of the Wall Street Journal
prime rate plus 4.25% per annum. We were also required to pay a facility fee of 1.00% on the term loan facility commitment.
We are permitted to make voluntary prepayments of the term loans with a prepayment fee equal to 3% of the term loans prepaid. On each
tranche, we are required to make 12 monthly interest only payments after the funding date followed by a repayment schedule equal to 36 equal
monthly payments of the outstanding principal of the outstanding term loans of each tranche. After the 36-month amortization period of each
tranche, the remaining balance of such tranche and a final payment equal to 6.50% of the original principal amount of the applicable tranche are
payable on the maturity date of such tranche. We are required to make mandatory prepayments of the outstanding term loans upon the
acceleration by the lenders of such loans following the occurrence of an event of default, along with a payment of the final payment, the
prepayment fee and any all other obligations (each as defined or described under the term loan facility) that are due and payable at the time of
the prepayment.
Our obligations under the term loan facility are secured, subject to customary permitted liens and other agreed upon exceptions, (1) by a
first priority pledge of all of the equity interests of each of our direct and indirect subsidiaries, and (2) a perfected first priority interest in all of
our tangible and intangible assets, including all of our intellectual property.
The term loan facility contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants applicable to
us and our subsidiaries, including, among other things, restrictions on dispositions, changes in business, management, ownership or business
locations, mergers or acquisitions, indebtedness, encumbrances, distributions, investments, transactions with affiliates and subordinated debt.
Until the occurrence of the second draw milestone, the term loan facility contains financial covenants that require us to maintain a certain cash
liquidity. The term loan facility also contains performance covenants that require that (a) by no later than June 30, 2014, shares of our common
stock must be publicly traded on NASDAQ; (b) within one hundred twenty (120) days of us becoming eligible to file a registration statement
with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission on Form S-3, we must have access to an At The Market facility; and (c) by no
later than March 31, 2015, the lenders must have received evidence of the occurrence of the second draw milestone; provided that our failure
to comply with these performance covenants shall not be an event of default under the term loan facility so long as we deposit an amount equal
to 100% of the aggregate outstanding term loans in a segregated, blocked deposit account at Silicon Valley Bank.
The term loan facility also includes customary events of default, including but not limited to the nonpayment of principal or interest,
violations of covenants, material adverse change, attachment, levy, restraint on business, cross-defaults on our or any our subsidiary’s material
indebtedness, bankruptcy, material judgments and misrepresentations. Upon an event of default, the lenders may, among other things,
accelerate the loans and foreclose on the collateral.
Operating Activities
Cash used in operating activities, decreased $6.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, due to a $2.3 million reduction
in our net loss due primarily to a reduction in revenues and cost cutting measures and as a result of a reduction in receivables of $3.0 million
and a reduction in accounts payable of $0.1 million in 2013 due to managing our cash.
Investing Activities
Cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, of $0.4 million, was as a result of proceeds on sale
of fixed assets. Cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012, consists primarily of $2.9 million
purchases of marketable securities offset by $13.9 million in proceeds from maturities of marketable securities.
Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities was $28.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, as a result of the financing we
conducted on September 30, 2013, as described above.
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Management believes that cash and cash equivalents as of October 31, 2013, including the funds raised in the 2013 financing, are
sufficient to sustain the operations of the company through the third quarter of 2015. We expect to incur substantial expenditures in the
foreseeable future for the development and potential commercialization of our product candidates. We will continue to require additional
financing to develop our products and fund operating losses. We will seek funds through equity financings, collaborative or other
arrangements with corporate sources, or through other sources of financing, including a public offering. Adequate additional funding may not
be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. Our failure to raise capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on our financial
condition and our ability to pursue our business strategies. If adequate funds are not available to us, we may be required to close our business.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
We have lease obligations consisting of an operating lease for our operating facility that commenced in July 2010 and expires April
2014, for approximately 41,600 square feet in Hayward, CA. In November 2013, we entered into a new lease starting January 1, 2014, and
expiring in December 31, 2018, for 8,894 square feet of office space in Newark, CA. Our lease obligations under this new lease are
approximately $1.7 million.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not currently have, nor have we ever had, any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities
often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or
other contractually narrow or limited purposes. In addition, we do not engage in trading activities involving non-exchange traded contracts.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

This item is not applicable to us as a smaller reporting company.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that, as of the
end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Controls. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter
ended September 30, 2013, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable,
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the controls are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, within a company have been detected. Accordingly, our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of our disclosure control system are
met and, as set forth above, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded, based on their evaluation as of the end of the
period covered by this report, that our disclosure controls and procedures were sufficiently effective to provide reasonable assurance that the
objectives of our disclosure control system were met.
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

In evaluating our business, you should carefully consider the following risks, as well as the other information contained in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. These risk factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking
statements we have made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those we may make from time to time. If any of the following risks
actually occurs, our business, financial condition and operating results could be harmed. The risks and uncertainties described below are
not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently see as immaterial, may also
harm our business.
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Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements
If we fail to obtain additional financing, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our product development programs, seek
corporate partners for the development of our product development programs or relinquish or license on unfavorable terms, our rights
to technologies or product candidates.
As of September 30, 2013, we had net cash on hand of approximately $32.1 million. On September 30, 2013, we raised aggregate net
proceeds of approximately $28.9 million and issued common stock in cancellation of $16.9 million of debt owed to the holder of that debt and
on October 31, 2013, we raised additional aggregate net proceeds of $2.9 million and on November 22, 2013, we entered into an agreement to
raise additional gross proceeds of $3.0 million. We refer to these events collectively as the 2013 financing. After giving effect to the 2013
financing, we believe that our existing cash will allow us to continue operation through the third quarter of 2015. As set forth in the notes to
our financial statements, our auditors expressed substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern if we are unable to raise
additional capital without giving effect to the 2013 financing. Our monthly spending levels vary based on new and ongoing development and
corporate activities.
Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a time-consuming, expensive and
uncertain process that takes years to complete. We expect our research and development expenses to substantially increase in connection with
our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance development of our lead clinical product candidate, arhalofenate, for the prevention of gout
flares and the treatment of hyperuricemia in patients with gout.
In the event CymaBay does not successfully raise sufficient funds in financing(s), its product development activities, particularly related
to the development of arhalofenate, will necessarily be curtailed commensurate with the magnitude of the shortfall or may cease altogether. To
the extent that the costs of the planned Phase 2b study of arhalofenate in patients with gout exceed current estimates and CymaBay is unable to
raise sufficient additional capital to cover such additional costs, CymaBay will need to reduce operating expenses, enter into a collaboration or
other similar arrangement with respect to development and/or commercialization rights to arhalofenate, outlicense intellectual property rights to
arhalofenate, sell assets or effect a combination of the above. No assurance can be given that CymaBay will be able to effect any of such
transactions on acceptable terms, if at all. Failure to progress the development of arhalofenate will have a negative effect on CymaBay’s
business, future prospects and ability to obtain further financing on acceptable terms (if at all).
Beyond the plan of operations outlined above, CymaBay’s future funding requirements and sources will depend on many factors,
including but not limited to the following:
•

the rate of progress and cost of its clinical studies, including in particular the Phase 3 studies of arhalofenate;

•

the need for additional or expanded clinical studies;

•

the rate of progress and cost of its Chemistry, Manufacturing and Control registration and validation program;

•

the timing, economic and other terms of any licensing, collaboration or other similar arrangement into which CymaBay may enter;

•

the costs and timing of seeking and obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals;

•

the extent of CymaBay’s other development activities;

•

the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and

•

the effect of competing products and market developments.
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If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we will be prevented from pursuing
development and commercialization efforts, which will have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and prospects and on
our ability to develop our product candidates.
We have incurred significant losses since our inception. We anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable
future, and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.
We are a biopharmaceutical company focused primarily on developing our lead product candidate, arhalofenate. We have incurred significant
net losses in each year since our inception, including net losses of approximately $11.3 million for the fiscal year 2012. Although we had net
loss of $6.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we had an operating loss of $5.9 million during that period. As of
September 30, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $344.9 million.
To date, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities, licensing fees and debt. We have devoted most
of our financial resources to research and development, including our preclinical development activities and clinical trials. We have not
completed development of any product candidates. We expect to continue to incur significant and increasing losses and negative cash flows for
the foreseeable future. The size of our losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future expenditures and our ability to generate revenues. In
particular, we expect to incur substantial and increased expenses as we:
•

continue the development of our lead product candidate, arhalofenate, for the prevention of flares and treatment of hyperuricemia in
patients with gout;

•

seek to obtain regulatory approvals for arhalofenate;

•

prepare for the potential commercialization of arhalofenate;

•

scale up manufacturing capabilities to commercialize arhalofenate for any indications for which we receive regulatory approval;

•

begin outsourcing of the commercial manufacturing of arhalofenate for any indications for which we receive regulatory approval;

•

establish an infrastructure for the sales, marketing and distribution of arhalofenate for any indications for which we receive
regulatory approval;

•

expand our research and development activities and advance our clinical programs;

•

maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

•

continue our research and development efforts and seek to discover additional product candidates; and

•

add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product
development and commercialization efforts and operations as a public company.

CymaBay does not anticipate that it will generate revenue from the sale of products for the foreseeable future. CymaBay’s ability to
become profitable depends upon its ability to generate significant continuing revenues.
In the absence of additional sources of capital, which may not be available to CymaBay on acceptable terms, or at all, the development of
arhalofenate or future product candidates may be reduced in scope, delayed or terminated. If CymaBay’s product candidates or those of its
collaborators fail in clinical studies or do not gain regulatory approval, or if its future products, if any, do not achieve market acceptance,
CymaBay may never become profitable.
Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to
become and remain profitable would depress the value of our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business,
diversify our product offerings or continue our operations.
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Our ability to generate future revenues from product sales is uncertain and depends upon our ability to successfully develop, obtain
regulatory approval for, and commercialize our product candidates.
Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability depends on our ability, alone or with collaborators, to successfully complete the
development, obtain the necessary regulatory approvals and commercialize our product candidates. We do not anticipate generating revenues
from sales of our product candidates for the foreseeable future, if ever. Our ability to generate future revenues from product sales depends
heavily on our success in:
•

obtaining favorable results for and advancing the development of arhalofenate, including successfully initiating and completing our
Phase 2b and Phase 3 clinical development;

•

obtaining United States (U.S.) and foreign regulatory approvals for arhalofenate;

•

launching and commercializing arhalofenate, either on our own or with a partner, including building a sales force and collaborating
with third parties;

•

achieving broad market acceptance of arhalofenate in the medical community and by third-party payors and patients; and

•

generating a pipeline of product candidates.

Conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to complete, and
we may never generate the necessary data required to obtain regulatory approval and achieve product sales. Our anticipated development costs
would likely increase if we do not obtain favorable results or if development of our product candidates is delayed. In particular, we would
likely incur higher costs than we currently anticipate if development of our product candidates is delayed because we are required by the U.S.
FDA to perform studies or trials in addition to those that we currently anticipate. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated
with pharmaceutical product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of any increase in our anticipated development costs.
In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived
from sales of products that we do not expect to be commercially available for several years, if at all. Even if one or more of our product
candidates is approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant costs in connection with commercialization. As a result, we
cannot assure you that we will be able to generate revenues from sales of any approved product candidates, or that we will achieve or maintain
profitability even if we do generate sales.
Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to
our technologies or product candidates.
Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of
equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements and other marketing and distribution arrangements.
We do not have any committed external source of funds.
In order to raise additional funds to support our operations, we may sell additional equity or debt securities, enter into collaborations,
strategic alliances, or licensing arrangements or other marketing or distribution arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital
through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include
liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that
include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures, and
declaring dividends, and will impose limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating
restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business.
If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances, or licensing arrangements or other marketing or distribution
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or
product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to expand our operations or otherwise
capitalize on our business opportunities, our business, financial condition and results of
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operations could be materially adversely affected and we may not be able to meet our debt service obligations. If we are unable to raise
additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product
development or commercialization efforts, or grant others rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to
develop and market ourselves.
We are an emerging growth company and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an emerging growth company. Under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, emerging growth
companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We plan to
avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we may not be subject to the same new or revised
accounting standards as other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies.”
For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we also intend to take advantage of certain other exemptions from
various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies including, but not limited to, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding
advisory stockholder vote on executive compensation and any golden parachute payments not previously approved, exemption from the
requirement of auditor attestation in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting and exemption from any requirement that
may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s
report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements (auditor discussion and analysis). If we do, the information
that we provide stockholders may be different than what is available with respect to other public companies. We cannot predict if investors will
find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If investors find our common stock less attractive as a result
of our status as an emerging growth company, there may be less liquidity for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the end of the fiscal year in which the market value of our common
stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of the second fiscal quarter, (ii) the end of the fiscal year in which we
have total annual gross revenues of $1 billion or more during such fiscal year, (iii) the date on which we issue more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt in a three-year period or (iv) the end of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our
common stock pursuant to an effective registration statement filed under the Securities Act.
Risks Related to Clinical Development and Regulatory Approval
We depend on the success of our lead product candidate, arhalofenate, which is still under clinical development, and may not obtain
regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized.
We have not marketed, distributed or sold any products. The success of our business depends upon our ability to develop and commercialize
our lead product candidate, arhalofenate, which has completed seven Phase 1 and seven Phase 2 clinical trials, including three Phase 2 studies
in gout. We plan to conduct a Phase 2b clinical trial for arhalofenate in preventing flares and reducing serum uric acid in gout patients prior to
initiation of a Phase 3 program. There is no guarantee that our clinical trials will be completed or, if completed, will be successful. The success
of arhalofenate will depend on several factors, including the following:
•

successful enrollment and completion of clinical trials;

•

receipt of marketing approvals from the FDA and regulatory authorities outside the U.S. for our product candidate;

•

establishing commercial manufacturing capabilities by making arrangements with third-party manufacturers;

•

launching commercial sales of the product, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

•

acceptance of the product by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;

•

effectively competing with other therapies;
30

Table of Contents
•

a continued acceptable safety profile of the product following approval; and

•

obtaining, maintaining, enforcing and defending intellectual property rights and claims.

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or an inability to
successfully commercialize arhalofenate, which would materially harm our business.
We have never obtained regulatory approval for a drug and we may be unable to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, regulatory
approval for arhalofenate.
We have never obtained regulatory approval for a drug. In the U.S. it is possible that the FDA may refuse to accept our New Drug
Application (NDA) for substantive review or may conclude after review of our data that our application is insufficient to obtain regulatory
approval of arhalofenate. If the FDA does not accept or approve our NDA, it may require that we conduct additional clinical, nonclinical or
manufacturing validation studies and submit that data before it will reconsider our application. Depending on the extent of these or any other
FDA required studies, approval of any NDA or application that we submit may be delayed by several years, or may require us to expend more
resources than we have available. It is also possible that additional studies, if performed and completed, may not be considered sufficient by
the FDA to approve our NDA.
We currently do not know when we might commence our Phase 3 study of arhalofenate or achieve FDA approval of arhalofenate. We
currently do not have the capital necessary to conduct or complete our Phase 3 study of arhalofenate and we may not be able to raise sufficient
funds necessary to conduct this study. We believe that our existing cash will be sufficient to enable us to complete our Phase 2b study, which
we anticipate completing the second quarter of 2015, and will allow us to continue operation through the third quarter of 2015. We currently
believe that we will need to raise additional capital to continue our operations beyond the third quarter of 2015.
Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, regulatory approvals would prevent us from commercializing arhalofenate, generating
revenues and achieving and sustaining profitability. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts for
arhalofenate, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and could potentially cause us to cease operations.
We depend on the successful completion of clinical trials for our product candidates, including arhalofenate. The positive clinical results
obtained for our product candidates in prior clinical studies may not be repeated in future clinical studies.
Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sale of our product candidates, including arhalofenate, we must conduct additional clinical
trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates in humans. Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and
implement, can take many years to complete and is uncertain as to outcome. A failure of one or more of our clinical trials can occur at any
stage of testing. The outcome of preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, and
interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results. Moreover, preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying
interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and
clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval for their products.
We have completed three Phase 2 clinical studies of arhalofenate in gout. In addition, six clinical studies with MBX-8025 and five
clinical studies with MBX-2982 have been completed. However, we have never conducted a Phase 3 clinical trial. The positive results we
have seen to date in our Phase 2 clinical trials of arhalofenate for gout do not ensure that later clinical trials will demonstrate similar results.
Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy characteristics despite having progressed
satisfactorily through preclinical studies and initial clinical testing. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries,
including those with greater resources and experience, have suffered significant setbacks in Phase 3 clinical development, even after seeing
promising results in earlier clinical trials.
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We may experience a number of unforeseen events during clinical trials for our product candidates, including arhalofenate, that could
delay or prevent the commencement and/or completion of our clinical trials, including the following:
•

regulators or institutional review boards may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial or conduct a clinical
trial at a prospective trial site;

•

the clinical study protocol may require one or more amendments delaying study completion;

•

clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require
us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon product development programs;

•

the number of subjects required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these
clinical trials may be insufficient or slower than we anticipate or subjects may drop out of these clinical trials at a higher rate than we
anticipate;

•

clinical investigators or study subjects fail to comply with clinical study protocols;

•

trial conduct and data analysis errors may occur, including, but not limited to, data entry and/or labeling errors;

•

our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely
manner, or at all;

•

we might have to suspend or terminate clinical trials of our product candidates for various reasons, including a finding that the
subjects are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

•

regulators or institutional review boards may require that we or our investigators suspend or terminate clinical research for various
reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory requirements;

•

the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;

•

the supply or quality of our clinical trial materials or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates may
be insufficient or inadequate; and

•

our product candidates may have undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics, causing us or our investigators to
suspend or terminate the trials.

We expect our research and development expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly if we commence a
Phase 3 clinical trial with arhalofenate and undertake additional clinical trials of our other product candidates MBX-8025 and MBX-2982.
Before we commence a Phase 3 clinical trial for arhalofenate, we will need to raise substantial additional capital. We also will need to raise
substantial additional capital in the future to complete the development and commercialization of MBX-8025 and MBX-2982, for which we
currently have no planned clinical trials. Because successful development of our product candidates is uncertain, we are unable to estimate the
actual funds required to complete research and development and commercialize our products under development.
Negative or inconclusive results of our future clinical trials of arhalofenate, or any other clinical trial we conduct, could cause the FDA to
require that we repeat or conduct additional clinical studies. Despite the results reported in earlier clinical trials for arhalofenate, we do not
know whether any clinical trials we may conduct will demonstrate adequate efficacy and safety to result in regulatory approval to market our
product candidates, including arhalofenate. If later stage clinical trials do not produce favorable results, our ability to obtain regulatory approval
for our product candidates, including arhalofenate, may be adversely impacted.
We have never conducted a clinical trial of arhalofenate as a monotherapy for the treatment of gout flares. If arhalofenate does not
demonstrate efficacy in the treatment of such flares in our planned Phase 2b clinical trial, our ability to successfully commercialize
arhalofenate may be adversely affected.
We have not previously conducted a clinical trial of arhalofenate for the purpose of measuring its effect on flare reduction and control
without the use of colchicine. We plan to conduct a Phase 2b clinical trial to investigate the potential benefit of arhalofenate monotherapy with
regard to flare prevention and serum uric acid (sUA) lowering. In addition, our Phase 2b study will investigate the benefits of two doses of
arhalofenate monotherapy, including a higher dose than we studied in previous gout studies, without colchicine. If we do not obtain favorable
efficacy and safety results in the Phase 2b trial, our ability to successfully market arhalofenate could be adversely affected.
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Delays in clinical trials are common and have many causes, and any delay could result in increased costs to us and jeopardize or delay
our ability to obtain regulatory approval and commence product sales.
Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete, and is uncertain as to outcome. We may
experience delays in clinical trials at any stage of development and testing of our product candidates. Our planned clinical trials may not begin
on time, have an effective design, enroll a sufficient number of subjects, or be completed on schedule, if at all.
Events which may result in delays or unsuccessful completion of clinical trials, including our future clinical trials for arhalofenate,
include the following:
•

inability to raise funding necessary to initiate or continue a trial;

•

delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;

•

delays in reaching agreement with the FDA on final trial design;

•

imposition of a clinical hold following an inspection of our clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory
authorities;

•

delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations (CROs) and clinical trial sites;

•

delays in obtaining required institutional review board (IRB) approval at each site;

•

delays in recruiting suitable patients to participate in a trial;

•

delays in having subjects complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

•

delays caused by subjects dropping out of a trial due to side effects or otherwise;

•

delays caused by clinical sites dropping out of a trial;

•

time required to add new clinical sites; and

•

delays by our contract manufacturers to produce and deliver sufficient supply of clinical trial materials.

If initiation or completion of any of our clinical trials for our product candidates, including arhalofenate, are delayed for any of the above
reasons, our development costs may increase, the approval process could be delayed, any periods during which we may have the exclusive
right to commercialize our product candidates may be reduced and our competitors may bring products to market before us. Any of these
events could impair our ability to generate revenues from product sales and impair our ability to generate regulatory and commercialization
milestones and royalties, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our product candidates may cause adverse effects or have other properties that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval or limit
the scope of any approved label or market acceptance.
Arhalofenate has been studied in a total of 15 clinical trials with nearly a thousand subjects. The emergence of adverse events (AEs)
caused by arhalofenate in future studies could cause us, other reviewing entities, clinical study sites or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay
or halt clinical studies and could result in the denial of regulatory approval. There is also a risk that our other product candidates may induce
AEs, many of which may be unknown at this time. If an unacceptable frequency and/or severity of AEs are reported in our clinical trials for
our product candidates, our ability to obtain regulatory approval for product candidates, including arhalofenate, may be negatively impacted.
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Furthermore, if any of our approved products cause serious or unexpected side effects after receiving market approval, a number of
potentially significant negative consequences could result, including the following:
•

regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product or impose restrictions on its distribution in a form of a modified
risk evaluation and mitigation strategy;

•

regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as warnings or contraindications that could diminish the
usage of the product or otherwise limit the commercial success of the affected product;

•

we may be required to change the way the product is administered or to conduct additional clinical studies;

•

we may choose to discontinue sale of the product;

•

we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and

•

our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidate and could
substantially increase the costs of commercializing our product candidates.
If any product candidate that CymaBay successfully develops does not achieve broad market acceptance among physicians, patients,
health care payors and the medical community, the revenues that it generates from its sales will be limited.
Even if arhalofenate or any other product candidates receive regulatory approval, the products may not gain market acceptance among
physicians, patients, health care payors and the medical community. Coverage and reimbursement of CymaBay’s product candidates by third
party payors, including government payors, generally is also necessary for commercial success. The degree of market acceptance of any of
CymaBay’s approved products will depend upon a number of factors, including:
•

the efficacy and safety, as demonstrated in clinical studies;

•

the risk/benefit profile of CymaBay’s products such as arhalofenate;

•

the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

•

the clinical indications for which the product is approved;

•

acceptance of the product by physicians, other health care providers and patients as a safe and effective treatment;

•

the potential and perceived advantages of product candidates over alternative treatments;

•

the safety of product candidates seen in a broader patient group, including its use outside the approved indications;

•

the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments;

•

the timing of market introduction of competitive products;

•

the availability of adequate reimbursement and pricing by third parties and government authorities;

•

relative convenience and ease of administration; and

•

the effectiveness of CymaBay’s or its partners’ sales, marketing and distribution efforts.

If any product candidate is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, hospitals, health care payors
and patients, CymaBay may not generate sufficient revenue from these products and CymaBay may not become or remain profitable.
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Potential conflicts of interest arising from relationships and any related compensation with respect to clinical studies could adversely
affect the process.
Principal investigators for CymaBay’s clinical studies may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to CymaBay from time to time and
receive cash compensation in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in perceived or actual
conflicts of interest, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical study site may be questioned or jeopardized.
CymaBay may be subject to costly claims related to its clinical studies and may not be able to obtain adequate insurance.
Because CymaBay conducts clinical studies in humans, CymaBay faces the risk that the use of arhalofenate or future product candidates,
will result in adverse side effects. CymaBay cannot predict the possible harms or side effects that may result from its clinical studies. Although
CymaBay has clinical study liability insurance, CymaBay’s insurance may be insufficient to cover any such events. There is also a risk that
CymaBay may not be able to continue to obtain clinical study coverage on acceptable terms. In addition, CymaBay may not have sufficient
resources to pay for any liabilities resulting from a claim excluded from, or beyond the limit of, CymaBay’s insurance coverage. There is also
a risk that third parties that CymaBay has agreed to indemnify could incur liability. Any litigation arising from its clinical studies, even if
CymaBay is ultimately successful, would consume substantial amounts of CymaBay’s financial and managerial resources and may create
adverse publicity.
After the completion of our clinical trials, we cannot predict whether or when we will obtain regulatory approval to commercialize
arhalofenate and we cannot, therefore, predict the timing of any future revenue from arhalofenate. Regulatory approval of an NDA is
not guaranteed, and the approval process is expensive, uncertain and lengthy.
We cannot commercialize our product candidates, including arhalofenate until the appropriate regulatory authorities, such as the FDA,
have reviewed and approved the product candidate. The regulatory agencies may not complete their review processes in a timely manner, or
we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for arhalofenate. Additional delays may result if arhalofenate is brought before an FDA
advisory committee, which could recommend restrictions on approval or recommend non-approval of the product candidate. In addition, we
may experience delays or rejections based upon additional government regulation from future legislation or administrative action, or changes in
regulatory agency policy during the period of product development, clinical studies and the review process. As a result, we cannot predict
when, if at all, we will receive any future revenue from commercialization of any of our product candidates, including arhalofenate. The FDA
has substantial discretion in the drug approval process, including the ability to delay, limit or deny approval of a product candidate for many
reasons, including the following:
•

CymaBay may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of regulatory authorities that a product candidate is safe and effective for
any indication;

•

regulatory authorities may not find the data from nonclinical studies and clinical studies sufficient or may differ in the interpretation
of the data;

•

regulatory authorities may require additional nonclinical or clinical studies;

•

the FDA or foreign regulatory authority might not approve CymaBay’s third party manufacturers’ processes or facilities for clinical
or commercial product;

•

the FDA or foreign regulatory authority may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations;

•

the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of CymaBay’s clinical studies;

•

the FDA or foreign regulatory authority may not accept clinical data from studies that are conducted in countries where the standard
of care is potentially different from that in the U.S.;

•

the results of clinical studies may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities
for approval;
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•

CymaBay may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks; and

•

the data collection from clinical studies of CymaBay’s product candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of a NDA
or other submission or to obtain regulatory approval in the U.S. or elsewhere.

In addition, events raising questions about the safety of certain marketed pharmaceuticals may result in increased caution by the FDA
and other regulatory authorities in reviewing new pharmaceuticals based on safety, efficacy or other regulatory considerations and may result
in significant delays in obtaining regulatory approvals.
Even if we obtain regulatory approval for arhalofenate and our other product candidates, we will still face extensive regulatory
requirements and our products may face future development and regulatory difficulties.
Even if we obtain regulatory approval in the U.S., the FDA may still impose significant restrictions on the indicated uses or marketing of
our product candidates, including arhalofenate, or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies or post-market
surveillance. For example, the labeling ultimately approved for our product candidates, including arhalofenate, may include restrictions on use
due to the specific patient population and manner of use in which the drug was evaluated and the safety and efficacy data obtained in those
evaluations.
Arhalofenate and our other product candidates will also be subject to additional ongoing FDA requirements governing the labeling,
packaging, storage, distribution, safety surveillance, advertising, promotion, record-keeping and reporting of safety and other post-market
information. The holder of an approved NDA is obligated to monitor and report AEs and any failure of a product to meet the specifications in
the NDA. The holder of an approved NDA must also submit new or supplemental applications and obtain FDA approval for certain changes
to the approved product, product labeling or manufacturing process. Advertising and promotional materials must comply with FDA rules and
are subject to FDA review, in addition to other potentially applicable federal and state laws. Furthermore, promotional materials must be
approved by the FDA prior to use for any drug receiving accelerated approval, the pathway we are pursuing for arhalofenate in the U.S.
In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to payment of user fees and continual review and periodic
inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP), and adherence to
commitments made in the NDA. If we, or a regulatory agency, discover previously unknown problems with a product, such as quality issues
or AEs of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may
impose restrictions relative to that product or the manufacturing facility, including requiring recall or withdrawal of the product from the
market or suspension of manufacturing.
If we, or our third party contractors, fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements following approval of our product candidate,
a regulatory agency may:
•

issue an untitled or warning letter asserting violation of the law;

•

seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;

•

suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;

•

suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

•

refuse to approve a pending NDA or supplements to an NDA; or

•

recall and/or seize product.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response and
could generate negative publicity. The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize arhalofenate
and our other product candidates and inhibit our ability to generate revenues.
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Even if we obtain FDA approval for arhalofenate or any of our other products in the U.S., we may never obtain approval for or
commercialize arhalofenate or any of our other products outside of the U.S., which would limit our ability to realize their full market
potential.
In order to market any products outside of the U.S., we must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements
on a country-by-country basis regarding safety and efficacy. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other
countries or jurisdictions. In addition, clinical trials conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries,
and regulatory approval in one country does not guarantee regulatory approval in any other country. Approval processes vary among countries
and can involve additional product testing and validation and additional administrative review periods. Seeking foreign regulatory approval
could result in difficulties and costs for us and require additional preclinical studies or clinical trials which could be costly and time consuming.
Regulatory requirements can vary widely from country to country and could delay or prevent the introduction of our products in those
countries. We do not have any product candidates approved for sale in any jurisdiction, including international markets, and we do not have
experience in obtaining regulatory approval in international markets. If we fail to comply with regulatory requirements in international markets
or to obtain and maintain required approvals, or if regulatory approvals in international markets are delayed, our target market will be reduced
and our ability to realize the full market potential of our products will be unrealized.
Our relationships with customers and payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other health care laws and
regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits
and future earnings.
Health care providers, physicians and others play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any products for which we
obtain marketing approval. Our future arrangements with third-party payors and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and
abuse and other health care laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we
market, sell and distribute our products for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state health care
laws and regulations, include the following:
•

the federal health care anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering,
receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual
for, or the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under federal health care
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid;

•

the federal False Claims Act imposes criminal and civil penalties, including civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals
or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or
fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government;

•

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended by the Health Information Technology for
Economic and Clinical Health Act, imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a scheme to defraud any health care benefit
program and also imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and
transmission of individually identifiable health information;

•

the federal false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making
any materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for health care benefits, items or services;

•

the federal transparency requirements under the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (Health Care Reform Law)
require manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies to report to the Department of Health and Human Services
information related to physician payments and other transfers of value and physician ownership and investment interests; and

•

analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, may apply to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving health care items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including
private insurers, and some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the
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pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal
government in addition to requiring manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians and other health care
providers or marketing expenditures.
Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable health care laws and regulations will
involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or
future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other health care laws and regulations. If our operations are
found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil,
criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from government funded health care programs, such as Medicare and
Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other providers or entities with whom we expect to
do business are found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including
exclusions from government funded health care programs.
Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and commercialize our
product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain.
In the U.S. and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes
regarding the health care system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval
activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any products for which we obtain marketing approval.
In the U.S., the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (Medicare Modernization Act) changed the
way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceutical products. The legislation expanded Medicare coverage for drug purchases by the elderly
and introduced a new reimbursement methodology based on average sales prices for physician administered drugs. In addition, this legislation
provided authority for limiting the number of drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic class. Cost reduction initiatives and other provisions
of this legislation could decrease the coverage and price that we receive for any approved products. While the Medicare Modernization Act
applies only to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in
setting their own reimbursement rates. Therefore, any reduction in reimbursement that results from the Medicare Modernization Act may result
in a similar reduction in payments from private payors.
More recently, in March 2010, the Health Care Reform Law was enacted to broaden access to health insurance, reduce or constrain the
growth of health care spending, enhance remedies against fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements for health care and health
insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees on the health industry and impose additional health policy reforms. The Health Care Reform
Law revises the definition of “average manufacturer price” for reporting purposes, which could increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates
to states. Further, the new law imposes a significant annual fee on companies that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products.
New provisions affecting compliance have also been enacted, which may affect our business practices with health care practitioners. We will
not know the full effects of the Health Care Reform Law until applicable federal and state agencies issue regulations or guidance under the
new law. Although it is too early to determine the effect of the Health Care Reform Law, the new law appears likely to continue the pressure
on pharmaceutical pricing, especially under the Medicare program, and may also increase our regulatory burdens and operating costs.
Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities
for pharmaceutical products. We are not sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance
or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals of our product candidates, if any, may be.
Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties
We rely on third-party manufacturers to produce our preclinical and clinical drug supplies, and we intend to rely on third parties to
produce commercial supplies of any approved product candidates.
We do not own or operate, and we do not expect to own or operate, facilities for product manufacturing, storage and distribution, or
testing. In the past we have relied on third-party manufacturers for supply of our preclinical and clinical drug supplies. We expect that in the
future we will continue to rely on such manufacturers for drug supplies that will be used in clinical trials of our product candidates, including
arhalofenate, and for commercialization of any of our product candidates that receive regulatory approval.
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The facilities used by our contract manufacturers to manufacture the product candidates must be approved by the FDA pursuant to
inspections that will be conducted only after we submit an NDA to the FDA, if at all. We do not control the manufacturing process of our
product candidates and are completely dependent on our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with the FDA’s requirements for
manufacture of finished pharmaceutical products. If our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our
specifications and the FDA’s strict regulatory requirements of safety, purity and potency, we will not be able to secure and/or maintain FDA
approval for our product candidates. In addition, we have no direct control over the ability of the contract manufacturers to maintain adequate
quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If our contract manufacturers cannot meet FDA standards, we may need to find
alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our
product candidates. No assurance can be given that our manufacturers can continue to make clinical and commercial supplies of arhalofenate,
or future product candidates, at an appropriate scale and cost to make it commercially feasible.
In addition, we do not have the capability to package and distribute finished products to pharmacies and other customers. Prior to
commercial launch, we will enter into agreements with one or more pharmaceutical product packager/distributor to ensure proper supply chain
management once we are authorized to make commercial sales of our product candidates. If we receive marketing approval from the FDA, we
intend to sell pharmaceutical product packaged and distributed by such suppliers. Although we have entered into agreements with our current
contract manufacturers and packager/distributor for clinical trial material, we may be unable to maintain an agreement on commercially
reasonable terms, which could have a material adverse impact upon our business.
We rely on limited sources of supply for the drug substance for our lead product candidate, arhalofenate, and any disruption in the
chain of supply may cause delay in developing and commercializing arhalofenate.
We are currently transferring the drug substance manufacturing process to our selected contractor that will produce the supplies needed
to meet clinical development, registration and forecasted commercial demand. It is our expectation that only one supplier of drug substance and
one supplier of drug product will be qualified by the FDA. If supply from an approved vendor is interrupted, there could be a significant
disruption in commercial supply of arhalofenate. An alternative vendor would need to be qualified through an NDA supplement which would
be expensive and could result in further delay. The FDA or other regulatory agencies outside of the U.S. may also require additional studies if
a new drug substance or drug product supplier is relied upon for commercial production. These factors could cause the delay of clinical trials,
regulatory submissions, required approvals or commercialization of arhalofenate, and cause us to incur additional costs. Furthermore, if our
suppliers fail to deliver the required commercial quantities of active pharmaceutical ingredient on a timely basis and at commercially reasonable
prices, and we are unable to secure one or more replacement suppliers capable of production at a substantially equivalent cost, our supply
chain for arhalofenate may be delayed, which could inhibit our ability to generate revenues.
Manufacturing issues may arise that could increase product and regulatory approval costs or delay commercialization of arhalofenate.
We are modifying the drug substance production process for arhalofenate at the selected commercial manufacturer to cost effectively
remove impurities. As the modified process is scaled up it may reveal previously unknown impurities which could require resolution in order
to proceed with our planned clinical trials and obtain regulatory approval for the commercial marketing of arhalofenate. In the future, we may
identify impurities, which could result in increased scrutiny by the regulatory agencies, delays in the clinical program and regulatory approval
for arhalofenate, increases in our operating expenses, or failure to obtain or maintain approval for arhalofenate.
Our reliance on third-party manufacturers entails risks, including the following:
•

the inability to meet our product specifications and quality requirements consistently;

•

a delay or inability to procure or expand sufficient manufacturing capacity;

•

manufacturing and product quality issues related to scale-up of manufacturing;
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•

costs and validation of new equipment and facilities required for scale-up;

•

a failure to comply with cGMP and similar foreign standards;

•

the inability to negotiate manufacturing agreements with third parties under commercially reasonable terms;

•

termination or nonrenewal of manufacturing agreements with third parties in a manner or at a time that is costly or damaging to us;

•

the reliance on a limited number of sources, and in some cases, single sources for key materials, such that if we are unable to secure a
sufficient supply of these key materials, we will be unable to manufacture and sell our product candidates in a timely fashion, in
sufficient quantities or under acceptable terms;

•

the lack of qualified backup suppliers for those materials that are currently purchased from a sole or single source supplier;

•

operations of our third-party manufacturers or suppliers could be disrupted by conditions unrelated to our business or operations,
including the bankruptcy of the manufacturer or supplier;

•

carrier disruptions or increased costs that are beyond our control; and

•

the failure to deliver our products under specified storage conditions and in a timely manner.

Any of these events could lead to clinical study delays, failure to obtain regulatory approval or impact our ability to successfully
commercialize our products. Some of these events could be the basis for FDA or other regulatory authorities’ action, including injunction,
recall, seizure, or total or partial suspension of production.
We rely on third parties to conduct, supervise and monitor our clinical studies, and if those third parties perform in an unsatisfactory
manner, it may harm our business.
We rely on contract service providers (CSPs) including clinical research organizations, clinical trial sites, central laboratories and other
service providers to ensure the proper and timely conduct of our clinical trials. While we have agreements governing their activities, we have
limited influence over their actual performance. We have relied and plan to continue to rely upon CSPs to monitor and manage data for our
ongoing clinical programs for arhalofenate and our other product candidates, as well as the execution of nonclinical studies. We control only
certain aspects of our CSPs’ activities. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our studies is conducted in accordance with
the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory and scientific standards and our reliance on the CSPs does not relieve us of our regulatory
responsibilities.
We and our CSPs are required to comply with the FDA’s guidance, which follows the International Conference on Harmonization Good
Clinical Practice (ICH GCP), which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of our product candidates in clinical
development. The FDA enforces the ICH GCP through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and clinical trial sites. If
we or our CSPs fail to comply with the ICH GCP, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA may
require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. For example, upon inspection, the FDA may
determine that our Phase 3 clinical trial for arhalofenate, does not comply with the ICH GCP. In addition, our Phase 3 clinical trials for
arhalofenate will require a sufficiently large number of test subjects to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of arhalofenate. Accordingly, if our
CSPs fail to comply with these regulations or fail to recruit a sufficient number of subjects, we may be required to repeat these Phase 3 clinical
trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process.
Our CSPs are not our employees, and we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our ongoing clinical
and nonclinical programs. These CSPs may also have relationships with other entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be
conducting clinical studies, or other drug development activities which could harm our competitive position. We face the risk of potential
unauthorized disclosure or misappropriation of our intellectual property by CSPs, which may reduce our trade secret protection and allow our
potential competitors to access and exploit our proprietary technology. If our CSPs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or
obligations, fail to meet expected deadlines, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to
adhere to our
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clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for any other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may
not be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize arhalofenate or our other product candidates. As a result, our
financial results and the commercial prospects for arhalofenate and any other product candidates that we develop would be harmed, our costs
could increase, and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed.
Risks Related to Commercialization of Our Product Candidates
The commercial success of arhalofenate and our other product candidates will depend upon the acceptance of these products by the
medical community, including physicians, patients and health care payors.
If any of our product candidates, including arhalofenate, receive marketing approval, they may nonetheless not gain sufficient market
acceptance by physicians, patients, health care payors and others in the medical community. If these products do not achieve an adequate level
of acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenues and we may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of any of
our product candidates, including arhalofenate, will depend on a number of factors, including the following:
•

demonstration of clinical safety and efficacy in our clinical trials;

•

the risk/benefit profile of our products such as arhalofenate;

•

the relative convenience, ease of administration and acceptance by physicians, patients and health care payors;

•

the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

•

the safety of product candidates seen in a broader patient group, including its use outside the approved indications;

•

limitations or warnings contained in the FDA and other regulatory authorities approved label for the relevant product candidate;

•

acceptance of the product by physicians, other health care providers and patients as a safe and effective treatment;

•

the potential and perceived advantages of product candidates over alternative treatments;

•

the timing of market introduction of competitive products;

•

pricing and cost-effectiveness;

•

the effectiveness of our or any future collaborators’ sales and marketing strategies;

•

our ability to obtain formulary approval;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement, which may vary from country to country; and

•

the effectiveness of our or any future collaborators’ sales, marketing and distribution efforts.

If any of our product candidates, including arhalofenate, is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians,
patients and health care payors, we may not generate sufficient revenue and we may not become or remain profitable.
If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our product
candidates, we may be unable to generate any revenue.
We currently do not have an organization for the sales, marketing and distribution of pharmaceutical products and the cost of establishing
and maintaining such an organization may exceed the cost-effectiveness of doing so. In order to market any products that may be approved,
including arhalofenate, we must build our sales, marketing, managerial and other non-technical capabilities or make arrangements with third
parties to perform these services. We may enter into strategic partnerships with third parties to commercialize our product candidates, including
arhalofenate.
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If we are unable to build our own sales force or negotiate a strategic partnership for the commercialization of arhalofenate, we may be
forced to delay the potential commercialization of arhalofenate, or reduce the scope of our sales or marketing activities for arhalofenate. If we
elect to increase our expenditures to fund commercialization activities ourselves, we will need to obtain additional capital, which may not be
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we will not be able to bring arhalofenate to market or generate
product revenue.
If we are unable to establish adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, whether independently or with third parties, we may
not be able to generate sufficient product revenue and may not become profitable. We will be competing with companies that currently have
extensive and well-funded marketing and sales operations. Without an internal team or the support of a third party to perform marketing and
sales functions, we may be unable to compete successfully against these more established companies.
In addition, there are risks involved with both establishing our own sales and marketing capabilities and entering into arrangements with
third parties to perform these services. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay any
product launch. If the commercial launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing capabilities is
delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may
be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel.
If we obtain approval to commercialize any products outside of the U.S., a variety of risks associated with international operations could
materially adversely affect our business.
If our product candidates are approved for commercialization, we intend to enter into agreements with third parties to market those
product candidates outside the U.S., including for arhalofenate. We expect that we will be subject to additional risks related to international
operations, including the following:
•

different regulatory requirements for drug approvals in foreign countries;

•

reduced protection for intellectual property rights;

•

unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements;

•

economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

•

compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;

•

foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

•

foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenues, and other obligations
incident to doing business in another country;

•

workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the U.S.;

•

production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

•

business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism, pandemics, or natural disasters including
earthquakes, typhoons, volcanic eruptions, floods and fires.

We have no prior experience in these areas. In addition, there are complex regulatory, tax, labor and other legal requirements imposed by
both the European Union and many of the individual countries in Europe with which we will need to comply. Many U.S.-based
biopharmaceutical companies have found the process of marketing their own products in Europe to be very challenging.
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If our competitors develop and market products that are more effective, safer or less expensive than arhalofenate, our commercial
opportunities will be negatively impacted.
The life sciences industry is highly competitive, and we face significant competition from other pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies and possibly from academic institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions that are
researching, developing and marketing products designed to address the treatment of gout. Our competitors may have significantly greater
financial, manufacturing, marketing and drug development resources. Large pharmaceutical companies, in particular, have extensive experience
in the clinical testing of, obtaining regulatory approvals for, and marketing of, drugs. New developments, including the development of other
pharmaceutical technologies and methods of treating disease, occur in the pharmaceutical and life sciences industries at a rapid pace.
These developments may render our product candidates obsolete or noncompetitive. Compared to us, potential competitors may have
substantially greater:
•

research and development resources, including personnel and technology;

•

regulatory experience;

•

experience in pharmaceutical development and commercialization;

•

ability to negotiate competitive pricing and reimbursement with third-party payors;

•

experience and expertise in exploitation of intellectual property rights; and

•

capital resources.

As a result of these factors, our competitors may obtain regulatory approval of their products more rapidly than we do or may obtain
patent protection or other intellectual property rights that limit our ability to develop or commercialize our product candidates. The competitors
may also develop products that are more effective, better tolerated, more useful and less costly than our products and they may also be more
successful in manufacturing and marketing their products.
Formulary approval and reimbursement may not be available for arhalofenate and our other product candidates, which could make it
difficult for us to sell our products profitably.
Obtaining formulary approval can be an expensive and time consuming process. We cannot be certain if and when we will obtain
formulary approval to allow us to promote our product candidates, including arhalofenate, into our target markets. Failure to obtain timely
formulary approval will limit our commercial success.
Furthermore, market acceptance and sales of arhalofenate, or any other product candidates that we develop, will depend in part on the
extent to which reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be available from government health administration authorities,
private health insurers and other organizations. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health
maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. A prevailing trend in the U.S.
health care industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Government authorities and these third-party payors have attempted to control costs by
limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that companies
provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. We cannot be sure
that reimbursement will be available for any product that we commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, what the level of reimbursement
will be. Reimbursement may impact the demand for, or the price of, any product for which we obtain marketing approval. We cannot be sure
that reimbursement will be available for arhalofenate, or any other product candidates. Also, reimbursement amounts may reduce the demand
for, or the price of, our products. If reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully
commercialize arhalofenate, or any other product candidates that we develop.
There have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the health care system in the U.S. and in some foreign
jurisdictions that could affect our ability to sell any future products profitably. These legislative and regulatory changes may negatively impact
the reimbursement for any future products, following approval. The availability of generic treatments may also substantially reduce the
likelihood of reimbursement for any future products, including arhalofenate. The
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application of user fees to generic drug products will likely expedite the approval of additional generic drug treatments. We expect to
experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of arhalofenate and any other product candidate that we develop, due to the trend
toward managed health care, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative changes.
In addition, there may be significant delays in obtaining reimbursement for approved products, and coverage may be more limited than
the purposes for which the product is approved by the FDA or health authorities in other countries. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement
does not imply that any product will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture,
sale and distribution. Interim payments for new products, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made
permanent. Payment rates may vary according to the use of the product and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on payments
allowed for lower cost products that are already reimbursed, and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Net prices for
products may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government health care programs or private payors and by any future
relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of products from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the U.S. Thirdparty payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement policies.
If we are unable to promptly obtain coverage and profitable payment rates from both government funded and private payors for any of
our product candidates, including arhalofenate, it could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital
needed to commercialize products and our overall financial condition.
Even if we receive regulatory approval for arhalofenate, we will be subject to ongoing FDA and other regulatory obligations and
continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense and limit our ability to commercialize arhalofenate.
Any regulatory approvals that we or potential collaboration partners receive for arhalofenate or future product candidates, may also be
subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or contain requirements for potentially costly postmarketing studies. In addition, even if approved, the labeling, packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and
recordkeeping for any product will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. The subsequent discovery of previously
unknown problems with a product, including AEs of unanticipated severity or frequency, may result in restrictions on the marketing of the
product, and could include withdrawal of the product from the market.
Regulatory policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of
our product candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or
administrative action, either in the U.S. or abroad. If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we might not be permitted to market
arhalofenate or future products, if any, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of
our product candidates.
We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical studies, and will
face an even greater risk if we sell our product candidates commercially. An individual may bring a liability claim against us if one of our
product candidates causes, or merely appears to have caused, an injury. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability
claims, we will incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in the following:
•

decreased demand for our product candidates;

•

impairment to our business reputation;

•

withdrawal of clinical study participants;

•

distraction of management’s attention from our primary business;

•

substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;
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•

the inability to commercialize our product candidates; and

•

loss of revenues.

We do carry product liability insurance for our clinical studies. Further, we intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of
commercial products if marketing approval is obtained for any of our product candidates. However, we may be unable to obtain this product
liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms and with insurance coverage that will be adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.
On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action or individual lawsuits relating to marketed pharmaceuticals. A successful
product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance
coverage, could decrease our cash and adversely affect our business.
We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates
or indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.
The success of our business depends primarily upon our ability to identify, develop and commercialize product candidates. Because we
have limited financial and managerial resources, we focus on product candidates for specific indications. As a result, we may forego or delay
pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or other indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. We may focus
our efforts and resources on product candidates that ultimately prove to be unsuccessful.
If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable
rights to that product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been
advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectual property rights related to our products and product candidates, we may not be able to
compete effectively in our market.
We rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect the intellectual property related to
our products and product candidates. The strength of patents in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical field involves complex legal and
scientific questions and can be uncertain. The patent applications that we own or in-license may fail to result in issued patents with claims that
cover the products in the U.S. or in other countries. If this were to occur, early generic competition could be expected against arhalofenate and
other product candidates in development. There is no assurance that all of the potentially relevant prior art relating to our patents and patent
applications has been found, which can invalidate a patent or prevent a patent from issuing based on a pending patent application. Even if
patents do successfully issue, third parties may challenge their validity, enforceability, scope or ownership, which may result in such patents,
or our rights to such patents, being narrowed or invalidated. Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, our patents and patent applications
may not adequately protect our intellectual property or prevent others from designing around our claims. If the patent applications we hold or
license with respect to arhalofenate fail to issue or if their breadth or strength of protection is threatened, it could dissuade companies from
collaborating with us and threaten our ability to commercialize our products. We cannot offer any assurances about which, if any, patents will
issue or whether any issued patents will be found invalid or unenforceable, will be challenged by third parties or will adequately protect our
products and product candidates. Further, if we encounter delays in development or regulatory approvals, the period of time during which we
could market arhalofenate under patent protection could be reduced. Since patent applications in the U.S. and most other countries are
confidential for a period of time after filing, and some remain so until issued, we cannot be certain that we or our licensors were the first to file
any patent application related to arhalofenate or our other product candidates. Furthermore, if third parties have filed such patent applications,
an interference proceeding in the U.S. can be provoked by a third party or instituted by us to determine who was the first to invent any of the
subject matter covered by the patent claims of our applications. An unfavorable outcome could require us to cease using the related technology
or to attempt to license it from the prevailing party, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
In addition to the protection afforded by patents, we rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary
know-how that is not patentable, processes for which patents are difficult to enforce and other elements of
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our drug discovery and development processes that involve proprietary know-how, information or technology that is not covered by patents.
Although we expect all of our employees to assign their inventions to us, and all of our employees, consultants, advisors and any third parties
who have access to our proprietary know-how, information or technology to enter into confidentiality agreements, we cannot provide any
assurances that all such agreements have been duly executed, that such agreements provide adequate protection and will not be breached, that
our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary information will not otherwise be disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain
access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially equivalent information and techniques. If we are unable to prevent material
disclosure of the non-patented intellectual property related to our technologies to third parties, and there is no guarantee that we will have any
such enforceable trade secret protection, we may not be able to establish or maintain a competitive advantage in our market, which could
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Further, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect patents and other proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner
as the laws of the U.S. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property abroad. We
may also fail to pursue or obtain patents and other intellectual property protection relating to our products and product candidates in all foreign
countries.
Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement may prevent or delay our development and commercialization efforts or otherwise
affect our business.
Our commercial success depends in part on our avoiding infringement and other violations of the patents and proprietary rights of third
parties. There is a substantial amount of litigation, both within and outside the U.S., involving patent and other intellectual property rights in
the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, including patent infringement lawsuits, interferences, oppositions and inter party reexamination proceedings before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (U.S. PTO) and its foreign counterparts. Numerous U.S. and foreign
issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the fields in which we and our collaborators are
developing product candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued, and as we gain
greater visibility and market exposure as a public company, the risk increases that our product candidates or other business activities may be
subject to claims of infringement of the patent and other proprietary rights of third parties.
Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. There may be third-party patents or
patent applications with claims to materials, formulations, methods of manufacture or methods for treatment related to the use or manufacture
of arhalofenate and/or our other product candidates. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending
patent applications which may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may infringe. In addition, third parties may obtain
patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these patents. If any third-party patents were held by a court of
competent jurisdiction to cover the manufacturing process of any of our product candidates, any molecules formed during the manufacturing
process or any final product itself, the holders of any such patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize such product candidate
unless we obtained a license under the applicable patents, or until such patents expire. Similarly, if any third-party patent were held by a court
of competent jurisdiction to cover aspects of our formulations, processes for manufacture or methods of use, including combination therapy,
the holders of any such patent may be able to block our ability to develop and commercialize the applicable product candidate unless we
obtained a license or until such patent expires. In either case, such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. In
addition, we may be subject to claims that we are infringing other intellectual property rights, such as trademarks or copyrights, or
misappropriating the trade secrets of others, and to the extent that our employees, consultants or contractors use intellectual property or
proprietary information owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and
inventions.
Parties making claims against us may obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to further
develop and commercialize one or more of our product candidates. Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit, would involve
substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. In the event of a successful
infringement or other intellectual property claim against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys’
fees for willful infringement, obtain one or more licenses from third parties, pay royalties or redesign our affected products, which may be
impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure. We cannot predict whether any such license would be available at all or
whether it would be available on commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, even in the absence of litigation, we may need to obtain licenses
from third parties to advance our research or allow commercialization of our product candidates, and we have done so from time to
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time. We may fail to obtain any of these licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we would be unable to
further develop and commercialize one or more of our product candidates, which could harm our business significantly. We cannot provide
any assurances that third-party patents do not exist which might be enforced against our products or product candidates, resulting in either an
injunction prohibiting our sales, or, with respect to our sales, an obligation on our part to pay royalties and/or other forms of compensation to
third parties.
We license certain key intellectual property from third parties, and the loss of our license rights could have a materially adverse effect on
our business.
We are a party to a number of technology licenses that are important to our business and expect to enter into additional licenses in the
future. For example, we rely on an exclusive license to certain patents, proprietary technology and know-how from DiaTex, which include
arhalofenate. During the term of the exclusive license with DiaTex we may perform research and development of compounds and products for
the treatment of human disease based on the patents, proprietary technology and know-how from DiaTex. If we fail to comply with our
obligations under our agreement with DiaTex, including our obligations to pay royalty payments during the development and
commercialization of arhalofenate, or our other license agreements, or if we are subject to a bankruptcy, the licensor may have the right to
terminate the license, in which event we would not be able to develop or market products covered by the license, including in the case of the
DiaTex license, arhalofenate, which would have a materially adverse effect on our business.
We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, the patents of our licensors or our other intellectual property rights,
which could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful.
Competitors may infringe or otherwise violate our patents, the patents of our licensors or our other intellectual property rights. To
counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file legal claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. In addition, in
an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours or our licensors is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the
other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in
any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put
our patent applications at risk of not issuing. The initiation of a claim against a third party may also cause the third party to bring counterclaims against us.
We may not be able to prevent, alone or with our licensors, misappropriation of our intellectual property rights, particularly in countries
where the laws may not protect those rights as fully as in the U.S. Our business could be harmed if in a litigation the prevailing party does not
offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms. Any litigation or other proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights may fail,
and even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distract our management and other employees.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk
that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. There could also be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive
these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment
and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for noncompliance with these requirements.
Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the U.S. PTO and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the
lifetime of the patent. The U.S. PTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be
cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can
result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant
jurisdiction. Noncompliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to,
failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal
documents. If we or our licensors that control the prosecution and maintenance of our licensed patents fail to maintain the patents and patent
applications covering our product candidates, we may lose our rights and our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have
a material adverse effect on our business.
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Risks Related to Our Business Operations and Industry
Our future success depends on our ability to retain key executives and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.
We are highly dependent on principal members of our executive team listed under “Management.” While we have entered into
employment agreements or offer letters with each of our executive officers, any of them could leave our employment at any time, as all of our
employees are “at will” employees. We do not maintain “key person” insurance for any of our executives or other employees. Recruiting and
retaining other qualified employees for our business, including scientific and technical personnel, will also be critical to our success. There is
currently a shortage of skilled executives in our industry, which is likely to continue. We also experience competition from universities and
research institutions for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel. As a result, competition for skilled personnel is intense and the turnover
rate can be high. We may not be able to attract and retain personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. In addition, failure of any of our clinical studies may make it more challenging to recruit
and retain qualified personnel. If we are unable to successfully recruit key employees or replace the loss of services of any executive or key
employee, it may adversely affect the progress of our research, development and commercialization objectives.
In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our research and
development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be employed by employers other than us and may have
commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their availability to us, which could also adversely affect
the progress of our research, development and commercialization objectives.
We will need to expand our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth, which could disrupt our
operations.
As of November 15, 2013, we had 13 full-time employees and three consultants. As our company matures, we expect to expand our
employee base to increase our managerial, clinical, scientific and engineering, operational, sales, and marketing teams. Future growth would
impose significant additional responsibilities on our management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain, motivate and integrate
additional employees, consultants and contractors. Also, our management may need to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away
from our day to- day activities and devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. We may not be able to effectively
manage the expansion of our operations, which may result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, give rise to operational mistakes, loss of
business opportunities, loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. Our expected growth could require
significant capital expenditures and may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the development of product candidates. If our
management is unable to effectively manage our growth, our expenses may increase more than expected, our ability to generate and/or grow
revenues could be reduced, and we may not be able to implement our business strategy. Our future financial performance and our ability to
commercialize arhalofenate and our other product candidates and compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage
any future growth.
Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(1) On September 30, 2013, CymaBay issued an aggregate of 5,366,728 shares of common stock, and warrants to purchase 1,073,338 shares
of common stock, to approximately 260 investors. The shares and warrants were issued to the investors in reliance on Rule 506 of Regulation
D, in that all of the investors represented that they were “accredited investors” as that term is defined in Regulation D. The shares and related
warrants were sold for an aggregate offering price of $26,833,640. National Securities Corporation, or NSC, acted as placement agent with
respect to 3,483,597 shares and related warrants issued in the transaction, and received an aggregate placement agent commission of $1.8
million in cash and warrants to purchase 348,360 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $5.75 per share. The warrants issued to NSC
in reliance on Rule 506 of Regulation D, in that NSC represented it was an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in Regulation D. The
warrants are exercisable for shares of CymaBay’s common stock for five (5) years from September 30, 2013, at an exercise price of $5.75 per
share.
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(2) On September 30, 2013, CymaBay issued an aggregate of 2,793,281 shares of common stock to 118 holders of its preferred stock upon
conversion of the preferred stock to common stock. The shares were issued to these investors in reliance on Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended.
(3) On September 30, 2013, CymaBay issued an aggregate of 624,944 shares of common stock to Johnson & Johnson Development
Corporation, or JJDC and entered into an amendment to the Development and License Agreement, dated June 15, 2010, with Janssen
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly known as Ortho- McNeil, Inc.) an affiliate of JJDC, pursuant to which CymaBay agreed to forego certain
milestone payments and modify future contingent royalty payments as consideration for the cancellation of $13.7 million in aggregate principal
and $3.2 million in aggregate accrued interest of our debt. The shares were issued in reliance on Rule 506 of Regulation D, in that JJDC
represented it was an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in Regulation D.
(4) On September 30, 2013, CymaBay issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 121,739 shares of common stock to Silicon Valley Bank,
or SVB, and Oxford Finance LLC, or Oxford, as partial consideration for SVB and Oxford entering into a $10,000,000 credit facility with
CymaBay. The shares were issued in reliance on Rule 506 of Regulation D, in that each of SVB and Oxford represented each was an
“accredited investor” as that term is defined in Regulation D. The warrants are exercisable for shares of CymaBay’s common stock for seven
(7) years from September 30, 2013, at an exercise price of $5.00 per share.
Item 6.

Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index which follows the signature page of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.
By: /s/ Harold Van Wart
Harold Van Wart
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: November 25, 2013
By: /s/ Sujal Shah
Sujal Shah
Acting Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: November 25, 2013
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Exhibit
Number

Description of Document

3.1*

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.2*

Amended and Restated By-Laws.

4.1

Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2

4.2*

Form of Registration Rights Agreement

4.3*

Form of 2013 Financing Warrant

10.5*

Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 30, 2013, by and among CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc., Silicon Valley Bank and
Oxford Finance LLC

10.25*

2013 Equity Incentive Plan

10.26*

Form of Option Grant Notice and Option Agreement under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan

10.27

Lease, dated November 8, 2013, between CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc. and BMR-Pacific Research Center LP

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13-a-14(a) or Rule 15(d)-14(a) of the Exchange Act

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) of the Exchange Act

* Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to our Form 10/A, as amended on October 17, 2013.
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Exhibit 10.27
LEASE
by and between
BMR-PACIFIC RESEARCH CENTER LP,
a Delaware limited partnership
and
CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
BioMed Realty form dated 10/2/13

LEASE
THIS LEASE (this “Lease”) is entered into as of this 8th day of November, 2013 (the “Execution Date”), by and between BMRPACIFIC RESEARCH CENTER LP, a Delaware limited partnership (“Landlord”), and CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC., a Delaware
corporation (“Tenant”).
RECITALS
A. WHEREAS, Landlord owns certain real property (the “Property”) and the improvements on the Property located at 7333-7999
Gateway Boulevard, Newark, California, including the buildings located thereon; and
B. WHEREAS, Landlord wishes to lease to Tenant, and Tenant desires to lease from Landlord, certain premises (the “Premises”) located
on the first (1st) floor of the building (commonly known as Building 7) located at 7999 Gateway Boulevard, Newark, California
(the “Building”), pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Lease, as detailed below.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord and Tenant, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:
1. Lease of Premises.
1.1. Effective on the Term Commencement Date (as defined below), Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases from
Landlord, the Premises, as shown on Exhibit A attached hereto, for use by Tenant in accordance with the Permitted Use (as defined below)
and no other uses. The Property and all landscaping, parking facilities, private drives and other improvements and appurtenances related
thereto, including the Building, the Amenities Building (as defined below), the nine (9) other buildings currently located on the Property and
each additional building that is constructed on the Property (following substantial completion of such building), are hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Project.” All portions of the Building that are for the non-exclusive use of the tenants of the Building only, and not the
tenants of the Project generally, such as service corridors, stairways, elevators, public restrooms and public lobbies (all to the extent located in
the Building), are hereinafter referred to as “Building Common Area.” All portions of the Project that are for the non-exclusive use of tenants
of the Project generally, including driveways, sidewalks, parking areas, landscaped areas, and (to the extent not located in a building other than
the Amenities Building) service corridors, stairways, elevators, public restrooms, public lobbies and the amenities building (the “Amenities
Building”) in which Landlord currently provides certain amenities, including food services, a fitness center and a conference center
(“Amenities Building Services”) (but excluding Building Common Area), are hereinafter referred to as “Project Common Area.” The Building
Common Area and Project Common Area are collectively referred to herein as “Common Area.” The Building is located on a portion of the
Project commonly referred to as the “North Campus,” which is that part of the Project to the north of Gateway Boulevard comprised of the
Building and five (5) other buildings commonly referred to as Buildings 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6, together with all appurtenances thereto (collectively,
the “North Campus”).

2. Basic Lease Provisions. For convenience of the parties, certain basic provisions of this Lease are set forth herein. The provisions set forth
herein are subject to the remaining terms and conditions of this Lease and are to be interpreted in light of such remaining terms and conditions.
2.1. This Lease shall take effect upon the Execution Date and, except as specifically otherwise provided within this Lease, each of the
provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenant from the date of execution and delivery hereof by all
parties hereto.
2.2. In the definitions below, each current Rentable Area (as defined below) is expressed in square feet. Rentable Area and “Tenant’s
Pro Rata Shares” are all subject to adjustment as provided in this Lease.
Means the Following (As of the Term
Commencement Date)

Definition or Provision

Approximate Rentable Area of Premises*
Approximate Rentable Area of Building
Approximate Rentable Area of North Campus
Approximate Rentable Area of Project
Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Building*
Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of North Campus*
Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Project*
* Note:

8,894 square feet
178,047 square feet
966,271 square feet
1,389,517 square feet
5.0%
0.92%
0.64%

Subject to adjustment based upon the Rentable Area of the Premises as of the Term Commencement Date.
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2.3. Initial monthly and annual installments of Base Rent for the Premises (“Base Rent”) as of the Term Commencement Date, subject to
adjustment under this Lease:
Square Feet
of Rentable
Area*

Dates

Months 1 - 12
Months 13 - 24
Months 25 - 36
Months 37 - 48
Months 49 - 60
* Note:

8,894
8,894
8,894
8,894
8,894

Base Rent per Square
Foot of Rentable Area

$
$
$
$
$

1.90 monthly
1.96 monthly
2.02 monthly
2.08 monthly
2.14 monthly

Monthly
Base Rent*

Annual Base
Rent*

$16,898.60
$17,432.24
$17,965.88
$18,499.52
$19,033.16

$202,783.20
$209,186.88
$215,590.56
$221,994.24
$228,397.92

Subject to adjustment based upon the Rentable Area of the Premises as of the Term Commencement Date.

2.4. Estimated Term Commencement Date: January 1, 2014
2.5. Estimated Term Expiration Date: December 31, 2018
2.6. Security Deposit: $50,695.80
2.7. Permitted Use: Office use in conformity with all federal, state, municipal and local laws, codes, ordinances, rules and regulations of
Governmental Authorities (as defined below), committees, associations, or other regulatory committees, agencies or governing bodies having
jurisdiction over the Premises, the Building, the Property, the Project, Landlord or Tenant, including both statutory and common law and
hazardous waste rules and regulations (“Applicable Laws”)
2.8. Address for Rent Payment:

BMR-Pacific Research Center LP
Attention Entity 285
P.O. Box 511415
Los Angeles, California 90051-7970

2.9. Address for Notices to Landlord:

BMR-Pacific Research Center LP
17190 Bernardo Center Drive
San Diego, California 92128
Attn: Vice President, Real Estate Legal

2.10. Address for Notices to Tenant:

CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc.
7999 Gateway Boulevard
Newark, California 94560

2.11. Address for Invoices to Tenant:

CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc.
7999 Gateway Boulevard
Newark, California 94560

2.12. The following Exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference:
Exhibit A
Exhibit B
Exhibit C
Exhibit D
Exhibit E

Premises
Tenant Improvements
Acknowledgement of Term Commencement Date and Term Expiration Date
[Intentionally omitted]
Form of Letter of Credit
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Exhibit F
Exhibit G
Exhibit H
Exhibit I

Rules and Regulations
[Intentionally omitted]
Tenant’s Personal Property
Form of Estoppel Certificate

3. Term. The actual term of this Lease (as the same may be extended pursuant to Article 42 hereof, and as the same may be earlier terminated
in accordance with this Lease, the “Term”) shall commence on the actual Term Commencement Date (as defined in Article 4) and end on the
date that is sixty (60) months after the actual Term Commencement Date (such date, the “Term Expiration Date”), subject to earlier termination
of this Lease as provided herein. TENANT HEREBY WAIVES THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 1933 OF THE CALIFORNIA
CIVIL CODE, AS THE SAME MAY BE AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME.
4. Possession and Commencement Date.
4.1. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to tender possession of the Premises to Tenant on the Estimated Term
Commencement Date, with the work (the “Tenant Improvements”) required of Landlord described on Exhibit B Substantially Complete (as
defined below). Tenant agrees that in the event such work is not Substantially Complete on or before the Estimated Term Commencement Date
for any reason, then (a) this Lease shall not be void or voidable, (b) Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for any loss or damage resulting
therefrom, (c) the Term Expiration Date shall be extended accordingly and (d) Tenant shall not be responsible for the payment of any Base
Rent or Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses (as defined below) until the actual Term Commencement Date as described in Section 4.2
occurs. The term “Substantially Complete” or “Substantial Completion” means that the Tenant Improvements are substantially complete in
accordance with Exhibit B, except for minor punch list items. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Landlord’s obligation to
timely achieve Substantial Completion shall be subject to extension on a day-for-day basis as a result of Force Majeure (as defined below).
4.2. The “Term Commencement Date” shall be the later of (a) the Estimated Term Commencement Date and (b) the day Landlord tenders
possession of the Premises to Tenant with the Tenant Improvements Substantially Complete. If possession is delayed by action of Tenant,
then the Term Commencement Date shall be the date that the Term Commencement Date would have occurred but for such delay. Tenant shall
execute and deliver to Landlord written acknowledgment of the actual Term Commencement Date and the Term Expiration Date within ten
(10) days after Tenant takes occupancy of the Premises, in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto. Failure to execute and deliver such
acknowledgment, however, shall not affect the Term Commencement Date or Landlord’s or Tenant’s liability hereunder. Failure by Tenant to
obtain validation by any medical review board or other similar governmental licensing of the Premises required for the Permitted Use by
Tenant shall not serve to extend the Term Commencement Date.
4.3. In the event that Landlord permits (in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion) Tenant to enter upon the Premises prior to the Term
Commencement Date for the purpose of installing improvements or the placement of personal property, Tenant shall furnish to Landlord
evidence satisfactory to Landlord that insurance coverages required of Tenant under the
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provisions of Article 23 are in effect, and such entry shall be subject to all the terms and conditions of this Lease other than the payment of
Base Rent or Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses (as defined below); and provided, further, that if the Term Commencement Date is
delayed due to such early access, then the Term Commencement Date shall be the date that the Term Commencement Date would have
occurred but for such delay. If Landlord has not provided Tenant with access to the “Server Room” depicted on Exhibit B attached hereto
(the “Server Room”) for the purpose of installing the personal property and equipment that Tenant intends to install in the Server Room (the
“Server Room Equipment”) on or before December 26, 2013 (the “Server Room Outside Date”), then Landlord shall be obligated to
reimburse Tenant (within sixty (60) days of receiving an invoice from Tenant) for Tenant’s reasonable, actual, out-of-pocket costs incurred in
connection with moving the Server Room Equipment from Tenant’s current location (i.e., Tenant’s leased premises as of the Execution Date)
to a temporary location (such costs, the “Server Room Equipment Moving Costs”); provided, however, that in no event shall Landlord be
obligated to reimburse Tenant for Server Room Equipment Moving Costs exceeding the amount of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00);
provided, further, that the Server Room Outside Date shall be subject to extension on a day-for-day basis as a result of (a) Force Majeure and
(b) any delay caused by any action or inaction of Tenant.
4.4. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, if Substantial Completion has not occurred by January 10, 2014 (the
“Substantial Completion Outside Date”), then Tenant shall be entitled to receive one (1) day of Base Rent abatement for each day thereafter
that Substantial Completion has not occurred; provided, however, that the Substantial Completion Outside Date shall be subject to extension
on a day-for-day basis as a result of (a) Force Majeure and (b) any delay caused by any action or inaction of Tenant.
5. Condition of Premises. Tenant acknowledges that neither Landlord nor any agent of Landlord has made any representation or warranty with
respect to the condition of the Premises, the Building or the Project, or with respect to the suitability of the Premises, the Building or the
Project for the conduct of Tenant’s business. Tenant acknowledges that, except with respect to the Tenant Improvements (a) it is fully familiar
with the condition of the Premises and agrees to take the same in its condition “as is” as of the Term Commencement Date and (b) Landlord
shall have no obligation to alter, repair or otherwise prepare the Premises for Tenant’s occupancy or to pay for or construct any improvements
to the Premises. Tenant’s taking of possession of the Premises shall, except as otherwise agreed to in writing by Landlord and Tenant,
conclusively establish that the Premises, the Building and the Project were at such time in good, sanitary and satisfactory condition and repair.
6. Rentable Area.
6.1. The term “Rentable Area” shall reflect such areas as reasonably calculated by Landlord’s architect, as the same may be reasonably
adjusted from time to time by Landlord in consultation with Landlord’s architect to reflect changes to the Premises, the Building or the Project,
as applicable.
6.2. The Rentable Area of each Building is generally determined by making separate calculations of Rentable Area applicable to each
floor within the Building and totaling the
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Rentable Area of all floors within the Building. The Rentable Area of a floor is computed by measuring to the outside finished surface of the
permanent outer Building walls. The full area calculated as previously set forth is included as Rentable Area, without deduction for columns
and projections or vertical penetrations, including stairs, elevator shafts, flues, pipe shafts, vertical ducts and the like, as well as such items’
enclosing walls.
6.3. The term “Rentable Area,” when applied to the Premises, is that area equal to the usable area of the Premises, plus an equitable
allocation of Rentable Area within the Building that is not then utilized or expected to be utilized as usable area, including that portion of the
Building devoted to corridors, equipment rooms, restrooms, elevator lobby, atrium and mailroom.
6.4. The Rentable Area of the Project is the total Rentable Area of all buildings within the Project.
6.5. Review of allocations of Rentable Areas as between tenants of the Building and the Project shall be made as frequently as Landlord
deems appropriate, including in order to facilitate an equitable apportionment of Operating Expenses (as defined below). If such review is by a
licensed architect and allocations are certified by such licensed architect as being correct, then Tenant shall be bound by such certifications.
7. Rent.
7.1. Tenant shall pay to Landlord as Base Rent for the Premises, commencing on the Term Commencement Date, the sums set forth in
Section 2.3. Base Rent shall be paid in equal monthly installments as set forth in Section 2.3, each in advance on the first day of each and
every calendar month during the Term.
7.2. In addition to Base Rent, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as additional rent (“Additional Rent”) at times hereinafter specified in this
Lease (a) Tenant’s Share (as defined below) of Operating Expenses (as defined below), (b) the Property Management Fee (as defined below)
and (c) any other amounts that Tenant assumes or agrees to pay under the provisions of this Lease that are owed to Landlord, including any
and all other sums that may become due by reason of any default of Tenant or failure on Tenant’s part to comply with the agreements, terms,
covenants and conditions of this Lease to be performed by Tenant, after notice and the lapse of any applicable cure periods.
7.3. Base Rent and Additional Rent shall together be denominated “Rent.” Rent shall be paid to Landlord, without abatement, deduction
or offset, in lawful money of the United States of America at the office of Landlord as set forth in Section 2.8 or to such other person or at
such other place as Landlord may from time designate in writing. In the event the Term commences or ends on a day other than the first day of
a calendar month, then the Rent for such fraction of a month shall be prorated for such period on the basis of the number of days in the month
and shall be paid at the then-current rate for such fractional month.
7.4. Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent shall not be discharged or otherwise affected by (a) any Applicable Laws now or hereafter
applicable to the Premises, (b) any other restriction on Tenant’s use, (c) except as expressly provided herein, any casualty or taking or (d) any
other
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occurrence; and Tenant waives all rights now or hereafter existing to terminate or cancel this Lease or quit or surrender the Premises or any
part thereof, or to assert any defense in the nature of constructive eviction to any action seeking to recover rent. Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent
with respect to any period or obligations arising, existing or pertaining to the period prior to the date of the expiration or earlier termination of
the Term or this Lease shall survive any such expiration or earlier termination; provided, however, that nothing in this sentence shall in any
way affect Tenant’s obligations with respect to any other period.
8. [Intentionally omitted]
9. Operating Expenses.
9.1. As used herein, the term “Operating Expenses” shall include:
(a) Government impositions, including property tax costs consisting of real and personal property taxes and assessments
(including amounts due under any improvement bond upon the Building or the Project (including the parcel or parcels of real property upon
which the Building, the other buildings in the Project and areas serving the Building and the Project are located)) or assessments in lieu thereof
imposed by any federal, state, regional, local or municipal governmental authority, agency or subdivision (each, a “Governmental Authority”);
taxes on or measured by gross rentals received from the rental of space in the Project; taxes based on the square footage of the Premises, the
Building or the Project, as well as any parking charges, utilities surcharges or any other costs levied, assessed or imposed by, or at the
direction of, or resulting from Applicable Laws or interpretations thereof, promulgated by any Governmental Authority in connection with the
use or occupancy of the Project or the parking facilities serving the Project; taxes on this transaction or any document to which Tenant is a
party creating or transferring an interest in the Premises; any fee for a business license to operate an office building; and any expenses,
including the reasonable cost of attorneys or experts, reasonably incurred by Landlord in seeking reduction by the taxing authority of the
applicable taxes, less tax refunds obtained as a result of an application for review thereof. Operating Expenses shall not include any net
income, franchise, capital stock, estate or inheritance taxes, or taxes that are the personal obligation of Tenant or of another tenant of the
Project; and
(b) All other costs of any kind paid or incurred by Landlord in connection with the operation or maintenance of the Building and
the Project (including the Amenities Building, which shall include (i) Project office rent at fair market rental for a commercially reasonable
amount of space for Project management personnel located in the Amenities Building, to the extent an office used for Project operations is
maintained at the Project, plus customary expenses for such office, and (ii) fair market rent for the portion of the Amenities Building used in
providing the Amenities Building Services), and costs of repairs and replacements to improvements within the Project as appropriate to
maintain the Project as required hereunder, including costs of funding such reasonable reserves as Landlord, consistent with good business
practice, may establish to provide for future repairs and replacements; costs of utilities furnished to the Common Areas; sewer fees; cable
television; trash collection; cleaning, including windows (including those of the Amenities Building); heating; ventilation; air-conditioning;
maintenance of landscaping and grounds; maintenance of drives and parking areas; maintenance of the roof (including that of the Amenities
Building); security services and
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devices; building supplies; maintenance or replacement of equipment utilized for operation and maintenance of the Project; license, permit and
inspection fees; sales, use and excise taxes on goods and services purchased by Landlord in connection with the operation, maintenance or
repair of the Building or Project systems and equipment; telephone, postage, stationery supplies and other expenses incurred in connection
with the operation, maintenance or repair of the Project; accounting, legal and other professional fees and expenses incurred in connection with
the Project; costs of furniture, draperies, carpeting, landscaping, snow removal and other customary and ordinary items of personal property
provided by Landlord for use in Common Areas or in the Project office; capital expenditures; costs of complying with Applicable Laws
(except to the extent such costs are incurred to remedy non-compliance as of the Execution Date with Applicable Laws); costs to keep the
Project in compliance with, or fees otherwise required under, any CC&Rs (as defined below); insurance premiums, including premiums for
commercial general liability, property casualty, earthquake, terrorism and environmental coverages; portions of insured losses paid by
Landlord as part of the deductible portion of a loss pursuant to the terms of insurance policies; service contracts; costs of services of
independent contractors retained to do work of a nature referenced above; and costs of compensation (including employment taxes and fringe
benefits) of all persons who perform regular and recurring duties connected with the day-to-day operation and maintenance of the Project, its
equipment, the adjacent walks, landscaped areas, drives and parking areas, including janitors, floor waxers, window washers, watchmen,
gardeners, sweepers, plow trucks and handymen.
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Operating Expenses shall not include any leasing commissions; expenses that relate to
preparation of rental space for a tenant; expenses of initial development and construction, including grading, paving, landscaping and
decorating (as distinguished from maintenance, repair and replacement of the foregoing); legal expenses relating to other tenants; costs of
repairs to the extent reimbursed by payment of insurance proceeds received by Landlord; interest upon loans to Landlord or secured by a
mortgage or deed of trust covering the Project or a portion thereof (provided that interest upon a government assessment or improvement bond
payable in installments shall constitute an Operating Expense under Subsection 9.1(a)); salaries of executive officers of Landlord; depreciation
claimed by Landlord for tax purposes (provided that this exclusion of depreciation is not intended to delete from Operating Expenses actual
costs of repairs and replacements and reasonable reserves in regard thereto that are provided for in Subsection 9.1(b)); and taxes that are
excluded from Operating Expenses by the last sentence of Subsection 9.1(a). To the extent that Tenant uses more than Tenant’s Pro Rata
Share of any item of Operating Expenses, Tenant shall pay Landlord for such excess in addition to Tenant’s obligation to pay Tenant’s Pro
Rata Share of Operating Expenses (such excess, together with Tenant’s Pro Rata Share, “Tenant’s Share”).
9.2. Tenant shall pay to Landlord on the first day of each calendar month of the Term, as Additional Rent, (a) the Property Management
Fee (as defined below) and (b) Landlord’s estimate of Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses with respect to the Building and the Project, as
applicable, for such month.
(x) The “Property Management Fee” shall equal three percent (3%) of Base Rent due from Tenant. Tenant shall pay the Property
Management Fee in accordance with Section 9.2 with respect to the entire Term, including any extensions thereof or any holdover periods,
regardless of whether Tenant is obligated to pay Base Rent, Operating Expenses or any other Rent with respect to any such period or portion
thereof.
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(y) Within ninety (90) days after the conclusion of each calendar year (or such longer period as may be reasonably required by
Landlord), Landlord shall furnish to Tenant a statement showing in reasonable detail the actual Operating Expenses and Tenant’s Share of
Operating Expenses for the previous calendar year. Any additional sum due from Tenant to Landlord shall be immediately due and payable. If
the amounts paid by Tenant pursuant to this Section exceed Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses for the previous calendar year, then
Landlord shall credit the difference against the Rent next due and owing from Tenant; provided that, if the Lease term has expired, Landlord
shall accompany such statement with payment for the amount of such difference.
(z) Any amount due under this Section for any period that is less than a full month shall be prorated for such fractional month on
the basis of the number of days in the month.
9.3. Landlord may, from time to time, modify Landlord’s calculation and allocation procedures for Operating Expenses, so long as such
modifications produce Dollar results substantially consistent with Landlord’s then-current practice at the Project. Landlord or an affiliate(s) of
Landlord currently own other property(ies) adjacent to the Project or its neighboring properties (collectively, “Neighboring Properties”). In
connection with Landlord performing services for the Project pursuant to this Lease, similar services may be performed by the same vendor(s)
for Neighboring Properties. In such a case, Landlord shall reasonably allocate to each Building and the Project the costs for such services
based upon the ratio that the square footage of the Building or the Project (as applicable) bears to the total square footage of all of the
Neighboring Properties or buildings within the Neighboring Properties for which the services are performed, unless the scope of the services
performed for any building or property (including the Building and the Project) is disproportionately more or less than for others, in which
case Landlord shall equitably allocate the costs based on the scope of the services being performed for each building or property (including the
Building and the Project). Since the Project consists of multiple buildings, certain Operating Expenses may pertain to a particular building(s),
certain Operating Expenses may pertain to the North Campus, and other Operating Expenses to the Project as a whole. Landlord reserves the
right in its sole discretion to allocate any such costs applicable to any particular building within the Project to such building, any costs
applicable to the North Campus to the buildings comprising the North Campus (including the Building), and other such costs applicable to the
Project to each building in the Project (including the Building), with the tenants in each building being responsible for paying their respective
proportionate shares of their buildings to the extent required under their leases. Landlord shall allocate such costs to the buildings (including
the Building) in a reasonable, non-discriminatory manner, and such allocation shall be binding on Tenant.
9.4. Tenant shall not be responsible for Operating Expenses attributable to the time period prior to the Term Commencement Date;
provided, however, that if Landlord shall permit Tenant possession of the Premises prior to the Term Commencement Date, Tenant shall be
responsible for Operating Expenses from such earlier date of possession. Tenant’s responsibility for Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses
shall continue to the latest of (a) the date of
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termination of the Lease, (b) the date Tenant has fully vacated the Premises and (c) if termination of the Lease is due to a default by Tenant, the
earlier of (i) the date of rental commencement of a replacement tenant or (ii) the scheduled expiration of this Lease.
9.5. Operating Expenses for the calendar year in which Tenant’s obligation to share therein commences and for the calendar year in
which such obligation ceases shall be prorated on a basis reasonably determined by Landlord. Expenses such as taxes, assessments and
insurance premiums that are incurred for an extended time period shall be prorated based upon the time periods to which they apply so that the
amounts attributed to the Premises relate in a reasonable manner to the time period wherein Tenant has an obligation to share in Operating
Expenses.
9.6. Within three (3) business days after the end of each calendar month, Tenant shall submit to Landlord an invoice, or, in the event an
invoice is not available, an itemized list, of all costs and expenses that (a) Tenant has incurred (either internally or by employing third parties)
during the prior month and (b) for which Tenant reasonably believes it is entitled to reimbursements from Landlord pursuant to the terms of
this Lease or that Tenant reasonably believes is the responsibility of Landlord pursuant to this Lease or Exhibit B.
9.7. In the event that the Building, North Campus or Project is less than fully occupied during a calendar year, Tenant acknowledges that
Landlord may extrapolate Operating Expenses that vary depending on the occupancy of the Building , North Campus or Project, as applicable,
to equal Landlord’s reasonable estimate of what such Operating Expenses would have been had the Building, North Campus or Project, as
applicable, been fully occupied during such calendar year; provided, however, that Landlord shall not recover more than one hundred percent
(100%) of Operating Expenses.
10. Taxes on Tenant’s Property.
10.1. Tenant shall pay prior to delinquency any and all taxes levied against any personal property or trade fixtures placed by Tenant in or
about the Premises.
10.2. If any such taxes on Tenant’s personal property or trade fixtures are levied against Landlord or Landlord’s property or, if the
assessed valuation of the Building, the Property or the Project is increased by inclusion therein of a value attributable to Tenant’s personal
property or trade fixtures, and if Landlord, after written notice to Tenant, pays the taxes based upon any such increase in the assessed value of
the Building, the Property or the Project, then Tenant shall, upon demand, repay to Landlord the taxes so paid by Landlord.
10.3. If any improvements in or alterations to the Premises, whether owned by Landlord or Tenant and whether or not affixed to the real
property so as to become a part thereof, are assessed for real property tax purposes at a valuation higher than the valuation at which
improvements conforming to Landlord’s building standards (the “Building Standard”) in other spaces in the Building are assessed, then the
real property taxes and assessments levied against Landlord or the Building, the Property or the Project by reason of such excess assessed
valuation shall be deemed to be taxes levied against personal property of Tenant and shall be governed by the provisions of Section 10.2. Any
such excess assessed valuation due to improvements in or
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alterations to space in the Project leased by other tenants at the Project shall not be included in Operating Expenses. If the records of the
applicable governmental assessor’s office are available and sufficiently detailed to serve as a basis for determining whether such Tenant
improvements or alterations are assessed at a higher valuation than the Building Standard, then such records shall be binding on both Landlord
and Tenant.
11. Security Deposit.
11.1. Tenant shall deposit with Landlord on or before the Execution Date the sum set forth in Section 2.6 (the “Security Deposit”),
which sum shall be held by Landlord as security for the faithful performance by Tenant of all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this
Lease to be kept and performed by Tenant during the period commencing on the Execution Date and ending upon the expiration or termination
of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease. If Tenant Defaults (as defined below) with respect to any provision of this Lease, including any
provision relating to the payment of Rent, then Landlord may (but shall not be required to) use, apply or retain all or any part of the Security
Deposit for the payment of any Rent or any other sum in default, or to compensate Landlord for any other loss or damage that Landlord may
suffer by reason of Tenant’s default. If any portion of the Security Deposit is so used or applied, then Tenant shall, within ten (10) days
following demand therefor, deposit cash with Landlord in an amount sufficient to restore the Security Deposit to its original amount, and
Tenant’s failure to do so shall be a material breach of this Lease. The provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease. TENANT HEREBY WAIVES THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 1950.7 OF THE CALIFORNIA CIVIL
CODE, AS THE SAME MAY BE AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME.
11.2. In the event of bankruptcy or other debtor-creditor proceedings against Tenant, the Security Deposit shall be deemed to be applied
first to the payment of Rent and other charges due Landlord for all periods prior to the filing of such proceedings.
11.3. Landlord may deliver to any purchaser of Landlord’s interest in the Premises the funds deposited hereunder by Tenant, and
thereupon Landlord shall be discharged from any further liability with respect to such deposit. This provision shall also apply to any
subsequent transfers.
11.4. If Tenant shall fully and faithfully perform every provision of this Lease to be performed by it, then the Security Deposit, or any
balance thereof, shall be returned to Tenant (or, at Landlord’s option, to the last assignee of Tenant’s interest hereunder) within thirty (30) days
after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
11.5. [Intentionally omitted]
11.6. If the Security Deposit shall be in cash, Landlord shall hold the Security Deposit in an account at a banking organization selected
by Landlord; provided, however, that Landlord shall not be required to maintain a separate account for the Security Deposit, but may
intermingle it with other funds of Landlord. Landlord shall be entitled to all interest and/or dividends, if any, accruing on the Security Deposit.
Landlord shall not be required to credit Tenant with any interest for any period during which Landlord does not receive interest on the Security
Deposit.
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11.7. The Security Deposit may be in the form of cash, a letter of credit or any other security instrument acceptable to Landlord in its sole
discretion. Tenant may at any time, except when Tenant is in Default (as defined below), deliver a letter of credit (the “L/C Security”) as the
entire Security Deposit, as follows:
(a) If Tenant elects to deliver L/C Security, then Tenant shall provide Landlord, and maintain in full force and effect throughout the
Term and until the date that is six (6) months after the then-current Term Expiration Date, a letter of credit in the form of Exhibit E issued by
an issuer reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, in the amount of the Security Deposit, with an initial term of at least one year. Landlord may
require the L/C Security to be re-issued by a different issuer at any time during the Term if Landlord reasonably believes that the issuing bank
of the L/C Security is or may soon become insolvent; provided, however, Landlord shall return the existing L/C Security to the existing issuer
immediately upon receipt of the substitute L/C Security. If any issuer of the L/C Security shall become insolvent or placed into FDIC
receivership, then Tenant shall immediately deliver to Landlord (without the requirement of notice from Landlord) substitute L/C Security
issued by an issuer reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, and otherwise conforming to the requirements set forth in this Article. As used herein
with respect to the issuer of the L/C Security, “insolvent” shall mean the determination of insolvency as made by such issuer’s primary bank
regulator (i.e., the state bank supervisor for state chartered banks; the OCC or OTS, respectively, for federally chartered banks or thrifts; or the
Federal Reserve for its member banks). If, at the Term Expiration Date, any Rent remains uncalculated or unpaid, then (i) Landlord shall with
reasonable diligence complete any necessary calculations, (ii) Tenant shall extend the expiry date of such L/C Security from time to time as
Landlord reasonably requires and (iii) in such extended period, Landlord shall not unreasonably refuse to consent to an appropriate reduction
of the L/C Security. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord’s legal costs (as estimated by Landlord’s counsel) in handling Landlord’s acceptance of
L/C Security or its replacement or extension.
(b) If Tenant delivers to Landlord satisfactory L/C Security in place of the entire Security Deposit, Landlord shall remit to Tenant
any cash Security Deposit Landlord previously held.
(c) Landlord may draw upon the L/C Security, and hold and apply the proceeds in the same manner and for the same purposes as
the Security Deposit, if (i) an uncured Default (as defined below) exists, (ii) as of the date forty-five (45) days before any L/C Security expires
(even if such scheduled expiry date is after the Term Expiration Date) Tenant has not delivered to Landlord an amendment or replacement for
such L/C Security, reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, extending the expiry date to the earlier of (1) six (6) months after the then-current
Term Expiration Date or (2) the date one year after the then-current expiry date of the L/C Security, (iii) the L/C Security provides for
automatic renewals, Landlord asks the issuer to confirm the current L/C Security expiry date, and the issuer fails to do so within ten
(10) business days, (iv) Tenant fails to pay (when and as Landlord reasonably requires) any bank charges for Landlord’s transfer of the L/C
Security or (v) the issuer of the L/C Security ceases, or announces that it will cease, to maintain an office in the city where Landlord may
present drafts under the L/C Security (and fails to permit drawing upon the L/C Security by overnight courier or facsimile). This Section does
not limit any other provisions of this Lease allowing Landlord to draw the L/C Security under specified circumstances.
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(d) Tenant shall not seek to enjoin, prevent, or otherwise interfere with Landlord’s draw under L/C Security, even if it violates this
Lease. Tenant acknowledges that the only effect of a wrongful draw would be to substitute a cash Security Deposit for L/C Security, causing
Tenant no legally recognizable damage. Landlord shall hold the proceeds of any draw in the same manner and for the same purposes as a cash
Security Deposit. In the event of a wrongful draw, the parties shall cooperate to allow Tenant to post replacement L/C Security simultaneously
with the return to Tenant of the wrongfully drawn sums, and Landlord shall upon request confirm in writing to the issuer of the L/C Security
that Landlord’s draw was erroneous.
(e) If Landlord transfers its interest in the Premises, then Tenant shall at Tenant’s expense, within five (5) business days after
receiving a request from Landlord, deliver (and, if the issuer requires, Landlord shall consent to) an amendment to the L/C Security naming
Landlord’s grantee as substitute beneficiary. If the required Security Deposit changes while L/C Security is in force, then Tenant shall deliver
(and, if the issuer requires, Landlord shall consent to) a corresponding amendment to the L/C Security.
12. Use.
12.1. Tenant shall use the Premises for the Permitted Use, and shall not use the Premises, or permit or suffer the Premises to be used, for
any other purpose without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent Landlord may withhold in its sole and absolute discretion.
12.2. Tenant shall not use or occupy the Premises in violation of Applicable Laws; zoning ordinances; or the certificate of occupancy
issued for the Building or the Project, and shall, upon five (5) days’ written notice from Landlord, discontinue any use of the Premises that is
declared or claimed by any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction to be a violation of any of the above, or that in Landlord’s reasonable
opinion violates any of the above. Tenant shall comply with any direction of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction that shall, by
reason of the nature of Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises, impose any duty upon Tenant or Landlord with respect to the Premises or
with respect to the use or occupation thereof.
12.3. Tenant shall not do or permit to be done anything that will invalidate or increase the cost of any fire, environmental, extended
coverage or any other insurance policy covering the Building or the Project, and shall comply with all rules, orders, regulations and
requirements of the insurers of the Building and the Project, and Tenant shall promptly, upon demand, reimburse Landlord for any additional
premium charged for such policy by reason of Tenant’s failure to comply with the provisions of this Article.
12.4. Tenant shall keep all doors opening onto public corridors closed, except when in use for ingress and egress.
12.5. No additional locks or bolts of any kind shall be placed upon any of the doors or windows by Tenant, nor shall any changes be
made to existing locks or the mechanisms thereof without Landlord’s prior written consent. Tenant shall, upon termination of this Lease,
return to Landlord all keys to offices and restrooms either furnished to or otherwise procured by Tenant. In the event any key so furnished to
Tenant is lost, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the cost of replacing the same or of changing the lock or locks opened by such lost key if Landlord
shall deem it necessary to make such change.
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12.6. No awnings or other projections shall be attached to any outside wall of the Building. No curtains, blinds, shades or screens shall
be attached to or hung in, or used in connection with, any window or door of the Premises other than Landlord’s standard window coverings.
Neither the interior nor exterior of any windows shall be coated or otherwise sunscreened without Landlord’s prior written consent, nor shall
any bottles, parcels or other articles be placed on the windowsills. No equipment, furniture or other items of personal property shall be placed
on any exterior balcony without Landlord’s prior written consent.
12.7. No sign, advertisement or notice (“Signage”) shall be exhibited, painted or affixed by Tenant on any part of the Premises or the
Building without Landlord’s prior written consent. Signage shall conform to Landlord’s design criteria. For any Signage, Tenant shall, at
Tenant’s own cost and expense, (a) acquire all permits for such Signage in compliance with Applicable Laws and (b) design, fabricate, install
and maintain such Signage in a first-class condition. Tenant shall be responsible for reimbursing Landlord for costs incurred by Landlord in
removing any of Tenant’s Signage upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease. Interior signs on entry doors to the Premises and the
directory tablet shall be inscribed, painted or affixed for Tenant by Landlord at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, and shall be of a size, color and
type and be located in a place acceptable to Landlord. The directory tablet shall be provided exclusively for the display of the name and location
of tenants only. Tenant shall not place anything on the exterior of the corridor walls or corridor doors other than Landlord’s standard lettering.
At Landlord’s option, Landlord may install any Tenant Signage, and Tenant shall pay all costs associated with such installation within thirty
(30) days after demand therefor.
12.8. Tenant may only place equipment within the Premises with floor loading consistent with the Building’s structural design unless
Tenant obtains Landlord’s prior written approval. Tenant may place such equipment only in a location designed to carry the weight of such
equipment.
12.9. Tenant shall cause any equipment or machinery to be installed in the Premises so as to reasonably prevent sounds or vibrations
therefrom from extending into the Common Areas or other offices in the Project.
12.10. Tenant shall not (a) do or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises that shall in any way obstruct or interfere with the
rights of other tenants or occupants of the Project, or injure or annoy them, (b) use or allow the Premises to be used for immoral, unlawful or
objectionable purposes, (c) cause, maintain or permit any nuisance or waste in, on or about the Project or (d) take any other action that would
in Landlord’s reasonable determination in any manner adversely affect other tenants’ quiet use and enjoyment of their space or adversely
impact their ability to conduct business in a professional and suitable work environment.
12.11. Notwithstanding any other provision herein to the contrary, Tenant shall be responsible for all liabilities, costs and expenses
arising out of or in connection with the compliance of the Premises with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and
any state and local accessibility laws, codes, ordinances and rules (collectively, and together
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with regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, the “ADA”), and Tenant shall indemnify, save, defend (at Landlord’s option and with counsel
reasonably acceptable to Landlord) and hold Landlord and its affiliates, employees, agents and contractors; and any lender, mortgagee or
beneficiary (each, a “Lender” and, collectively with Landlord and its affiliates, employees, agents and contractors, the “Landlord Indemnitees”)
harmless from and against any demands, claims, liabilities, losses, costs, expenses, actions, causes of action, damages, suits or judgments, and
all reasonable expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, charges and disbursements, regardless of whether the applicable demand, claim,
action, cause of action or suit is voluntarily withdrawn or dismissed) incurred in investigating or resisting the same (collectively, “Claims”)
arising out of any such failure of the Premises to comply with the ADA. The Premises have not undergone inspection by a Certified Access
Specialist. The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
13. Rules and Regulations, CC&Rs, Parking Facilities and Common Areas.
13.1. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right, in common with others, to use the Common Areas in conjunction with Tenant’s use of
the Premises for the Permitted Use, and such use of the Common Areas and Tenant’s use of the Premises shall be subject to the rules and
regulations adopted by Landlord and attached hereto as Exhibit F, together with such other reasonable and nondiscriminatory rules and
regulations as are hereafter promulgated by Landlord in its sole and absolute discretion (the “Rules and Regulations”). Tenant shall faithfully
observe and comply with the Rules and Regulations. Landlord shall not be responsible to Tenant for the violation or non-performance by any
other tenant or any agent, employee or invitee thereof of any of the Rules and Regulations.
13.2. This Lease is subject to any recorded covenants, conditions or restrictions on the Project or Property (the “CC&Rs”), as the same
may be amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time. Tenant shall comply with the CC&Rs.
13.3. Tenant shall have a non-exclusive, irrevocable license to use Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of parking facilities serving the Building in
common on an unreserved basis with other tenants of the Building during the Term at no additional cost.
13.4. Tenant agrees not to unreasonably overburden the parking facilities and agrees to cooperate with Landlord and other tenants in the
use of the parking facilities. Landlord reserves the right to determine that parking facilities are becoming overcrowded and to limit Tenant’s use
thereof. Upon such determination, Landlord may reasonably allocate parking spaces among Tenant and other tenants of the Building or the
Project. Nothing in this Section, however, is intended to create an affirmative duty on Landlord’s part to monitor parking.
13.5. Landlord reserves the right to modify the Common Areas, including the right to add or remove exterior and interior landscaping
and to subdivide real property. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord specifically reserves the right to allow the exclusive use of corridors and
restroom facilities located on specific floors to one or more tenants occupying such floors; provided, however, that Tenant shall not be
deprived of the use of the corridors reasonably required to serve the Premises or of restroom facilities serving the floor upon which the
Premises are located.
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14. Project Control by Landlord.
14.1. Landlord reserves full control over the Building and the Project to the extent not inconsistent with Tenant’s enjoyment of the
Premises as provided by this Lease. This reservation includes Landlord’s right to subdivide the Project; convert the Building and other
buildings within the Project to condominium units; change the size of the Project by selling all or a portion of the Project or adding real
property and any improvements thereon to the Project; grant easements and licenses to third parties; maintain or establish ownership of the
Building separate from fee title to the Property; make additions to or reconstruct portions of the Building and the Project; install, use, maintain,
repair, replace and relocate for service to the Premises and other parts of the Building or the Project pipes, ducts, conduits, wires and
appurtenant fixtures, wherever located in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere at the Project; and alter or relocate any other Common Area
or facility, including private drives, lobbies and entrances; provided, however, that such rights shall be exercised in a way that does not
materially adversely affect Tenant’s beneficial use and occupancy of the Premises, including the Permitted Use and Tenant’s access to the
Premises.
14.2. Possession of areas of the Premises necessary for utilities, services, safety and operation of the Building is reserved to Landlord.
14.3. Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, promptly execute such further documents as may be reasonably appropriate to assist Landlord
in the performance of its obligations hereunder; provided that Tenant need not execute any document that creates additional liability for Tenant
or that deprives Tenant of the quiet enjoyment and use of the Premises as provided for in this Lease.
14.4. Landlord may, at any and all reasonable times during non-business hours (or during business hours, if (a) with respect to
Subsections 14.4(u) through 14.4(y), Tenant so requests, and (b) with respect to Subsection 14.4(z), if Landlord so requests), and upon
twenty-four (24) hours’ prior notice (provided that no time restrictions shall apply or advance notice be required if an emergency necessitates
immediate entry), enter the Premises to (u) inspect the same and to determine whether Tenant is in compliance with its obligations hereunder,
(v) supply any service Landlord is required to provide hereunder, (w) alter, improve or repair any portion of the Building other than the
Premises for which access to the Premises is reasonably necessary, (x) post notices of nonresponsibility, (y) access the telephone equipment,
electrical substation and fire risers and (z) show the Premises to prospective purchasers or tenants during the final year of the Term. In
connection with any such alteration, improvement or repair as described in Subsection 14.4(w), Landlord may erect in the Premises or
elsewhere in the Project scaffolding and other structures reasonably required for the alteration, improvement or repair work to be performed.
In no event shall Tenant’s Rent abate as a result of Landlord’s activities pursuant to this Section; provided, however, that all such activities
shall be conducted in such a manner so as to cause as little interference to Tenant as is reasonably possible. Landlord shall at all times retain a
key with which to unlock all of the doors in the Premises. If an emergency necessitates immediate access to the Premises, Landlord may use
whatever force is necessary to enter the Premises, and any such entry to the Premises shall not constitute a forcible or unlawful entry to the
Premises, a detainer of the Premises, or an eviction of Tenant from the Premises or any portion thereof.
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15. Quiet Enjoyment. Landlord covenants that Tenant, upon paying the Rent and performing its obligations contained in this Lease, may
peacefully and quietly have, hold and enjoy the Premises, free from any claim by Landlord or persons claiming under Landlord, but subject to
all of the terms and provisions hereof, provisions of Applicable Laws and rights of record to which this Lease is or may become subordinate.
This covenant is in lieu of any other quiet enjoyment covenant, either express or implied.
16. Utilities and Services.
16.1. Tenant shall pay for all water (including the cost to service, repair and replace reverse osmosis, de-ionized and other treated water),
gas, heat, light, power, telephone, internet service, cable television, other telecommunications and other utilities supplied to the Premises,
together with any fees, surcharges and taxes thereon. If any such utility is not separately metered to Tenant, Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Share of
all charges of such utility jointly metered with other premises as Additional Rent or, in the alternative, Landlord may, at its option, monitor the
usage of such utilities by Tenant and charge Tenant with the cost of purchasing, installing and monitoring such metering equipment, which
cost shall be paid by Tenant as Additional Rent. To the extent that Tenant uses more than Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of any utilities, then Tenant
shall pay Landlord for Tenant’s Share of such utilities to reflect such excess. In the event that the Building, North Campus or Project is less
than fully occupied during a calendar year, Tenant acknowledges that Landlord may extrapolate utility usage that varies depending on the
occupancy of the Building, North Campus or Project (as applicable) to equal Landlord’s reasonable estimate of what such utility usage would
have been had the Building, North Campus or Project, as applicable, been fully occupied during such calendar year; provided, however, that
Landlord shall not recover more than one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of such utilities. Tenant shall not be liable for the cost of utilities
supplied to the Premises attributable to the time period prior to the Term Commencement Date; provided, however, that, if Landlord shall
permit Tenant possession of the Premises prior to the Term Commencement Date and Tenant uses the Premises for any purpose other than
placement of personal property as set forth in Section 4.3, then Tenant shall be responsible for the cost of utilities supplied to the Premises
from such earlier date of possession.
16.2. Landlord shall not be liable for, nor shall any eviction of Tenant result from, the failure to furnish any utility or service, whether or
not such failure is caused by accident; breakage; repair; strike, lockout or other labor disturbance or labor dispute of any character; act of
terrorism; shortage of materials, which shortage is not unique to Landlord or Tenant, as the case may be; governmental regulation, moratorium
or other governmental action, inaction or delay; or other causes beyond Landlord’s control (collectively, “Force Majeure”) or, to the extent
permitted by Applicable Laws, Landlord’s negligence. In the event of such failure, Tenant shall not be entitled to termination of this Lease or
any abatement or reduction of Rent, nor shall Tenant be relieved from the operation of any covenant or agreement of this Lease.
16.3. Tenant shall pay for, prior to delinquency of payment therefor, any utilities and services that may be furnished to the Premises
during or, if Tenant occupies the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, after the Term, beyond those utilities provided
by Landlord, including telephone, internet service, cable television and other telecommunications, together with any fees, surcharges and taxes
thereon. Upon Landlord’s demand, utilities and services provided to the Premises that are separately metered shall be paid by Tenant directly
to the supplier of such utilities or services.
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16.4. Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, use any device in the Premises (including data processing machines)
that will in any way (a) increase the amount of ventilation, air exchange, gas, steam, electricity or water required or consumed in the Premises
based upon Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the Building or Project (as applicable) beyond the existing capacity of the Building or the Project
usually furnished or supplied for the Permitted Use or (b) exceed Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the Building’s or Project’s (as applicable)
capacity to provide such utilities or services.
16.5. If Tenant shall require utilities or services in excess of those usually furnished or supplied for tenants in similar spaces in the
Building or the Project by reason of Tenant’s equipment or extended hours of business operations, then Tenant shall first procure Landlord’s
consent for the use thereof, which consent Landlord may condition upon the availability of such excess utilities or services, and Tenant shall
pay as Additional Rent an amount equal to the cost of providing such excess utilities and services.
16.6. Landlord shall provide water in Common Areas for lavatory and landscaping purposes only, which water shall be from the local
municipal or similar source; provided, however, that if Landlord determines that Tenant requires, uses or consumes water provided to the
Common Areas for any purpose other than ordinary lavatory purposes, Landlord may install a water meter (“Tenant Water Meter”) and
thereby measure Tenant’s water consumption for all purposes. Tenant shall pay Landlord for the costs of any Tenant Water Meter and the
installation and maintenance thereof during the Term. If Landlord installs a Tenant Water Meter, Tenant shall pay for water consumed, as
shown on such meter, as and when bills are rendered. If Tenant fails to timely make such payments, Landlord may pay such charges and
collect the same from Tenant. Any such costs or expenses incurred or payments made by Landlord for any of the reasons or purposes stated in
this Section shall be deemed to be Additional Rent payable by Tenant and collectible by Landlord as such.
16.7. Landlord reserves the right to stop service of the elevator, plumbing, ventilation, air conditioning and utility systems, when
Landlord deems necessary or desirable, due to accident, emergency or the need to make repairs, alterations or improvements, until such
repairs, alterations or improvements shall have been completed, and Landlord shall further have no responsibility or liability for failure to
supply elevator facilities, plumbing, ventilation, air conditioning or utility service when prevented from doing so by Force Majeure or, to the
extent permitted by Applicable Laws, Landlord’s negligence; a failure by a third party to deliver gas, oil or another suitable fuel supply; or
Landlord’s inability by exercise of reasonable diligence to obtain gas, oil or another suitable fuel. Without limiting the foregoing, it is expressly
understood and agreed that any covenants on Landlord’s part to furnish any service pursuant to any of the terms, covenants, conditions,
provisions or agreements of this Lease, or to perform any act or thing for the benefit of Tenant, shall not be deemed breached if Landlord is
unable to furnish or perform the same by virtue of Force Majeure or, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, Landlord’s negligence.
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16.8. For the Premises, Landlord shall (a) maintain and operate the heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems used for typical
office use only (“HVAC”) (and not for uses other than office use, including HVAC related to laboratory fixtures and equipment) and
(b) subject to Subsection 16.8(a), furnish HVAC as reasonably required (except as this Lease otherwise provides) for reasonably comfortable
occupancy of the Premises twenty-four (24) hours a day, every day during the Term, subject to casualty, eminent domain or as otherwise
specified in this Article. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section, Landlord shall have no liability, and Tenant shall have no
right or remedy, on account of any interruption or impairment in HVAC services; provided that Landlord diligently endeavors to cure any
such interruption or impairment.
16.9. For any utilities serving the Premises for which Tenant is billed directly by such utility provider, Tenant agrees to furnish to
Landlord (a) any invoices or statements for such utilities within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s receipt thereof, (b) within thirty (30) days after
Landlord’s request, any other utility usage information reasonably requested by Landlord, and (c) within thirty (30) days after each calendar
year during the Term, an ENERGY STAR® Statement of Performance (or similar comprehensive utility usage report (e.g., related to Labs
21), if requested by Landlord) and any other information reasonably requested by Landlord for the immediately preceding year. Tenant shall
retain records of utility usage at the Premises, including invoices and statements from the utility provider, for at least sixty (60) months, or
such other period of time as may be requested by Landlord. Tenant acknowledges that any utility information for the Premises, the Building
and the Project may be shared with third parties, including Landlord’s consultants and Governmental Authorities. In the event that Tenant fails
to comply with this Section, Tenant hereby authorizes Landlord to collect utility usage information directly from the applicable utility
providers, and Tenant shall pay Landlord a fee of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000) per month to collect such utility usage information. The
provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
17. Alterations.
17.1. Tenant shall make no alterations, additions or improvements in or to the Premises or engage in any construction, demolition,
reconstruction, renovation, or other work (whether major or minor) of any kind in, at, or serving the Premises (“Alterations”) without
Landlord’s prior written approval, which approval Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold; provided, however, that in the event any
proposed Alteration affects (a) any structural portions of the Building, including exterior walls, roof, foundation, foundation systems
(including barriers and subslab systems), or core of the Building, (b) the exterior of the Building or (c) any Building systems, including
elevator, plumbing, air conditioning, heating, electrical, security, life safety and power, then Landlord may withhold its approval in its sole and
absolute discretion. Tenant shall, in making any such Alterations, use only those architects, contractors, suppliers and mechanics of which
Landlord has given prior written approval, which approval shall be in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion. In seeking Landlord’s approval,
Tenant shall provide Landlord, at least fourteen (14) days in advance of any proposed construction, with plans, specifications, bid proposals,
certified stamped engineering drawings and calculations by Tenant’s engineer of record or architect of record, (including connections to the
Building’s structural system, modifications to the Building’s envelope, non-structural penetrations in slabs or walls, and modifications or tieins to life safety systems), work contracts, requests for
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laydown areas and such other information concerning the nature and cost of the Alterations as Landlord may reasonably request. In no event
shall Tenant use or Landlord be required to approve any architects, consultants, contractors, subcontractors or material suppliers that Landlord
reasonably believes could cause labor disharmony.
17.2. Tenant shall not construct or permit to be constructed partitions or other obstructions that might interfere with free access to
mechanical installation or service facilities of the Building or with other tenants’ components located within the Building, or interfere with the
moving of Landlord’s equipment to or from the enclosures containing such installations or facilities.
17.3. Tenant shall accomplish any work performed on the Premises or the Building in such a manner as to permit any life safety systems
to remain fully operable at all times.
17.4. Any work performed on the Premises, the Building or the Project by Tenant or Tenant’s contractors shall be done at such times
and in such manner as Landlord may from time to time designate. Tenant covenants and agrees that all work done by Tenant or Tenant’s
contractors shall be performed in full compliance with Applicable Laws. Within thirty (30) days after completion of any Alterations, Tenant
shall provide Landlord with complete “as built” drawing print sets and electronic CADD files on disc (or files in such other current format in
common use as Landlord reasonably approves or requires) showing any changes in the Premises. Any such “as built” plans shall show the
applicable Alterations as an overlay on the Building as-built plans; provided that Landlord provides the Building “as built” plans to Tenant.
17.5. Before commencing any Alterations, Tenant shall give Landlord at least fourteen (14) days’ prior written notice of the proposed
commencement of such work and shall, if required by Landlord, secure, at Tenant’s own cost and expense, a completion and lien indemnity
bond satisfactory to Landlord for such work.
17.6. Tenant shall repair any damage to the Premises caused by Tenant’s removal of any property from the Premises. During any such
restoration period, Tenant shall pay Rent to Landlord as provided herein as if such space were otherwise occupied by Tenant. The provisions
of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
17.7. The Premises plus any Alterations, Signage, Tenant Improvements, attached equipment, decorations, fixtures, movable laboratory
casework and related appliances, trade fixtures, additions and improvements attached to or built into the Premises, made by either of the Parties
(including all floor and wall coverings; paneling; sinks and related plumbing fixtures; laboratory benches; exterior venting fume hoods; walkin freezers and refrigerators; ductwork; conduits; electrical panels and circuits; business and trade fixtures; attached machinery and equipment;
and built-in furniture and cabinets, in each case, together with all additions and accessories thereto), shall (unless, prior to such construction or
installation, Landlord elects otherwise) at all times remain the property of Landlord, shall remain in the Premises and shall (unless, prior to
construction or installation thereof, Landlord elects otherwise) be surrendered to Landlord upon the expiration or earlier termination of this
Lease. For the avoidance of doubt, the items listed on Exhibit H attached hereto (which Exhibit H may be updated by Tenant from and after the
Term Commencement Date, subject to Landlord’s written consent) constitute Tenant’s property and shall be removed by Tenant upon the
expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.
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17.8. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, in no event shall Tenant remove any improvement from the
Premises as to which Landlord contributed payment, including the Tenant Improvements, without Landlord’s prior written consent, which
consent Landlord may withhold in its sole and absolute discretion.
17.9. If Tenant shall fail to remove any of its property from the Premises prior to the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, then
Landlord may, at its option, remove the same in any manner that Landlord shall choose and store such effects without liability to Tenant for
loss thereof or damage thereto, and Tenant shall pay Landlord, upon demand, any costs and expenses incurred due to such removal and
storage or Landlord may, at its sole option and without notice to Tenant, sell such property or any portion thereof at private sale and without
legal process for such price as Landlord may obtain and apply the proceeds of such sale against any (a) amounts due by Tenant to Landlord
under this Lease and (b) any expenses incident to the removal, storage and sale of such personal property.
17.10. Tenant shall pay to Landlord an amount equal to three percent (3%) of the cost to Tenant of all Alterations to cover Landlord’s
overhead and expenses for plan review, coordination, scheduling and supervision thereof. For purposes of payment of such sum, Tenant shall
submit to Landlord copies of all bills, invoices and statements covering the costs of such charges, accompanied by payment to Landlord of the
fee set forth in this Section. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any extra expenses incurred by Landlord by reason of faulty work done by
Tenant or its contractors, or by reason of delays caused by such work, or by reason of inadequate clean-up.
17.11. Within sixty (60) days after final completion of any Alterations performed by Tenant with respect to the Premises, Tenant shall
submit to Landlord documentation showing the amounts expended by Tenant with respect to such Alterations, together with supporting
documentation reasonably acceptable to Landlord.
17.12. Tenant shall take, and shall cause its contractors to take, commercially reasonable steps to protect the Premises during the
performance of any Alterations, including covering or temporarily removing any window coverings so as to guard against dust, debris or
damage.
17.13. Tenant shall require its contractors and subcontractors performing work on the Premises to name Landlord and its affiliates and
Lenders as additional insureds on their respective insurance policies.
18. Repairs and Maintenance.
18.1. Landlord shall repair and maintain the structural and exterior portions and Common Areas of the Building and the Project,
including roofing and covering materials; foundations; exterior walls; plumbing; fire sprinkler systems (if any); heating, ventilating, air
conditioning systems; elevators; and electrical systems installed or furnished by Landlord.
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18.2. Except for services of Landlord, if any, required by Section 18.1, Tenant shall at Tenant’s sole cost and expense maintain and keep
the Premises and every part thereof in good condition and repair, damage thereto from ordinary wear and tear excepted. Tenant shall, upon the
expiration or sooner termination of the Term, surrender the Premises to Landlord in as good a condition as when received, ordinary wear and
tear excepted; and shall, at Landlord’s request and Tenant’s sole cost and expense, remove all telephone and data systems, wiring and
equipment from the Premises, and repair any damage to the Premises caused thereby. Landlord shall have no obligation to alter, remodel,
improve, repair, decorate or paint the Premises or any part thereof, other than as described in Exhibit B.
18.3. Landlord shall not be liable for any failure to make any repairs or to perform any maintenance that is Landlord’s obligation
pursuant to this Lease unless such failure shall persist for an unreasonable time after Tenant provides Landlord with written notice of the need
of such repairs or maintenance. Tenant waives its rights under Applicable Laws now or hereafter in effect to make repairs at Landlord’s
expense.
18.4. If any excavation shall be made upon land adjacent to or under the Building, or shall be authorized to be made, Tenant shall afford
to the person causing or authorized to cause such excavation, license to enter the Premises for the purpose of performing such work as such
person shall deem necessary or desirable to preserve and protect the Building from injury or damage and to support the same by proper
foundations, without any claim for damages or liability against Landlord and without reducing or otherwise affecting Tenant’s obligations
under this Lease.
18.5. This Article relates to repairs and maintenance arising in the ordinary course of operation of the Building and the Project. In the
event of a casualty described in Article 24, Article 24 shall apply in lieu of this Article. In the event of eminent domain, Article 25 shall apply
in lieu of this Article.
18.6. Costs incurred by Landlord pursuant to this Article shall constitute Operating Expenses.
19. Liens.
19.1. Subject to the immediately succeeding sentence, Tenant shall keep the Premises, the Building and the Project free from any liens
arising out of work or services performed, materials furnished or obligations incurred by Tenant. Tenant further covenants and agrees that any
mechanic’s or materialman’s lien filed against the Premises, the Building or the Project for work or services claimed to have been done for, or
materials claimed to have been furnished to, or obligations incurred by Tenant shall be discharged or bonded by Tenant within ten (10) days
after the filing thereof, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.
19.2. Should Tenant fail to discharge or bond against any lien of the nature described in Section 19.1, Landlord may, at Landlord’s
election, pay such claim or post a statutory lien bond or otherwise provide security to eliminate the lien as a claim against title, and Tenant shall
immediately reimburse Landlord for the costs thereof as Additional Rent. Tenant shall indemnify, save, defend (at Landlord’s option and with
counsel reasonably acceptable to
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Landlord) and hold the Landlord Indemnitees harmless from and against any Claims arising from any such liens, including any administrative,
court or other legal proceedings related to such liens.
19.3. In the event that Tenant leases or finances the acquisition of office equipment, furnishings or other personal property of a
removable nature utilized by Tenant in the operation of Tenant’s business, Tenant warrants that any Uniform Commercial Code financing
statement shall, upon its face or by exhibit thereto, indicate that such financing statement is applicable only to removable personal property of
Tenant located within the Premises. In no event shall the address of the Premises, the Building or the Project be furnished on a financing
statement without qualifying language as to applicability of the lien only to removable personal property located in an identified suite leased by
Tenant. Should any holder of a financing statement record or place of record a financing statement that appears to constitute a lien against any
interest of Landlord or against equipment that may be located other than within an identified suite leased by Tenant, Tenant shall, within ten
(10) days after filing such financing statement, cause (a) a copy of the Lender security agreement or other documents to which the financing
statement pertains to be furnished to Landlord to facilitate Landlord’s ability to demonstrate that the lien of such financing statement is not
applicable to Landlord’s interest and (b) Tenant’s Lender to amend such financing statement and any other documents of record to clarify that
any liens imposed thereby are not applicable to any interest of Landlord in the Premises, the Building or the Project.
20. Estoppel Certificate. Tenant shall, within ten (10) days of receipt of written notice from Landlord, execute, acknowledge and deliver a
statement in writing substantially in the form attached to this Lease as Exhibit I, or on any other form reasonably requested by a proposed
Lender or purchaser, (a) certifying that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if modified, stating the nature of such
modification and certifying that this Lease as so modified is in full force and effect) and the dates to which rental and other charges are paid in
advance, if any, (b) acknowledging that there are not, to Tenant’s knowledge, any uncured defaults on the part of Landlord hereunder, or
specifying such defaults if any are claimed, and (c) setting forth such further information with respect to this Lease or the Premises as may be
requested thereon. Any such statement may be relied upon by any prospective purchaser or encumbrancer of all or any portion of the Property.
Tenant’s failure to deliver such statement within such the prescribed time shall, at Landlord’s option, constitute a Default (as defined below)
under this Lease, and, in any event, shall be binding upon Tenant that the Lease is in full force and effect and without modification except as
may be represented by Landlord in any certificate prepared by Landlord and delivered to Tenant for execution.
21. Hazardous Materials.
21.1. Tenant shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Materials (as defined below) to be brought upon, kept or used in or about the
Premises, the Building or the Project by Tenant or any of its employees, agents, contractors or invitees (collectively with Tenant, each a
“Tenant Party”). If (a) Tenant breaches such obligation, (b) the presence of Hazardous Materials as a result of such a breach results in
contamination of the Project, any portion thereof, or any adjacent property, (c) contamination of the Premises otherwise occurs during the
Term or any extension or renewal hereof or holding over hereunder or (d) contamination of the Project occurs
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as a result of Hazardous Materials that are placed on or under or are released into the Project by a Tenant Party, then Tenant shall indemnify,
save, defend (at Landlord’s option and with counsel reasonably acceptable to Landlord) and hold the Landlord Indemnitees harmless from and
against any and all Claims, including (w) diminution in value of the Project or any portion thereof, (x) damages for the loss or restriction on
use of rentable or usable space or of any amenity of the Project, (y) damages arising from any adverse impact on marketing of space in the
Project or any portion thereof and (z) sums paid in settlement of Claims that arise during or after the Term as a result of such breach or
contamination. This indemnification by Tenant includes costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any clean-up,
remedial, removal or restoration work required by any Governmental Authority because of Hazardous Materials present in the air, soil or
groundwater above, on or under or about the Project. Without limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous Materials in, on, under
or about the Project, any portion thereof or any adjacent property caused or permitted by any Tenant Party results in any contamination of the
Project, any portion thereof or any adjacent property, then Tenant shall promptly take all actions at its sole cost and expense as are necessary to
return the Project, any portion thereof or any adjacent property to its respective condition existing prior to the time of such contamination;
provided that Landlord’s written approval of such action shall first be obtained, which approval Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold; and
provided, further, that it shall be reasonable for Landlord to withhold its consent if such actions could have a material adverse long-term or
short-term effect on the Project, any portion thereof or any adjacent property.
21.2. [Intentionally omitted]
21.3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 21.1 21.2 or 21.9, if (a) Tenant or any proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee of
Tenant has been required by any prior landlord, Lender or Governmental Authority to take material remedial action in connection with
Hazardous Materials contaminating a property if the contamination resulted from such party’s action or omission or use of the property in
question or (b) Tenant or any proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee is subject to a material enforcement order issued by any
Governmental Authority in connection with the use, disposal or storage of Hazardous Materials, then Landlord shall have the right to
terminate this Lease in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion (with respect to any such matter involving Tenant), and it shall not be
unreasonable for Landlord to withhold its consent to any proposed transfer, assignment or subletting (with respect to any such matter
involving a proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee).
21.4. At any time, and from time to time, prior to the expiration of the Term, Landlord shall have the right to conduct appropriate tests of
the Project or any portion thereof to demonstrate that Hazardous Materials are present or that contamination has occurred due to the acts or
omissions of a Tenant Party. Tenant shall pay all reasonable costs of such tests if such tests reveal that Hazardous Materials exist at the Project
in violation of this Lease.
21.5. [Intentionally omitted]
21.6. Tenant shall promptly report to Landlord any actual or suspected presence of mold or water intrusion at the Premises.
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21.7. Tenant’s obligations under this Article shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease. During any period of time
needed by Tenant or Landlord after the termination of this Lease to complete the removal from the Premises of any such Hazardous Materials,
Tenant shall be deemed a holdover tenant and subject to the provisions of Article 27.
21.8. As used herein, the term “Hazardous Material” means any hazardous or toxic substance, material or waste that is or becomes
regulated by any Governmental Authority.
22. Odors and Exhaust. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord would not enter into this Lease with Tenant unless Tenant assured Landlord that
under no circumstances will any other occupants of the Building or the Project (including persons legally present in any outdoor areas of the
Project) be subjected to odors or fumes (whether or not noxious), and that the Building and the Project will not be damaged by any exhaust, in
each case from Tenant’s operations. Landlord and Tenant therefore agree as follows:
22.1. Tenant shall not cause or permit (or conduct any activities that would cause) any release of any odors or fumes of any kind from
the Premises.
22.2. If the Building has a ventilation system that, in Landlord’s judgment, is adequate, suitable, and appropriate to vent the Premises in a
manner that does not release odors affecting any indoor or outdoor part of the Project, Tenant shall vent the Premises through such system. If
Landlord at any time determines that any existing ventilation system is inadequate, or if no ventilation system exists, Tenant shall in
compliance with Applicable Laws vent all fumes and odors from the Premises (and remove odors from Tenant’s exhaust stream) as Landlord
requires. The placement and configuration of all ventilation exhaust pipes, louvers and other equipment shall be subject to Landlord’s
approval. Tenant acknowledges Landlord’s legitimate desire to maintain the Project (indoor and outdoor areas) in an odor-free manner, and
Landlord may require Tenant to abate and remove all odors in a manner that goes beyond the requirements of Applicable Laws.
22.3. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, provide odor eliminators and other devices (such as filters, air cleaners, scrubbers
and whatever other equipment may in Landlord’s judgment be necessary or appropriate from time to time) to completely remove, eliminate and
abate any odors, fumes or other substances in Tenant’s exhaust stream that, in Landlord’s judgment, emanate from Tenant’s Premises. Any
work Tenant performs under this Section shall constitute Alterations.
22.4. Tenant’s responsibility to remove, eliminate and abate odors, fumes and exhaust shall continue throughout the Term. Landlord’s
construction of the Tenant Improvements shall not preclude Landlord from requiring additional measures to eliminate odors, fumes and other
adverse impacts of Tenant’s exhaust stream (as Landlord may designate in Landlord’s discretion). Tenant shall install additional equipment as
Landlord requires from time to time under the preceding sentence. Such installations shall constitute Alterations.
22.5. If Tenant fails to install satisfactory odor control equipment within ten (10) business days after Landlord’s demand made at any
time, then Landlord may, without limiting Landlord’s other rights and remedies, require Tenant to cease and suspend any operations in the
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Premises that, in Landlord’s determination, cause odors, fumes or exhaust. For example, if Landlord determines that Tenant’s production of a
certain type of product causes odors, fumes or exhaust, and Tenant does not install satisfactory odor control equipment within ten
(10) business days after Landlord’s request, then Landlord may require Tenant to stop producing such type of product in the Premises unless
and until Tenant has installed odor control equipment satisfactory to Landlord.
23. Insurance; Waiver of Subrogation.
23.1. Landlord shall maintain insurance for the Building and the Project in amounts equal to full replacement cost (exclusive of the costs
of excavation, foundations and footings, engineering costs or such other costs that would not be incurred in the event of a rebuild and without
reference to depreciation taken by Landlord upon its books or tax returns) or such lesser coverage as Landlord may elect, provided that such
coverage shall not be less than the amount of such insurance Landlord’s Lender, if any, requires Landlord to maintain, providing protection
against any peril generally included within the classification “Fire and Extended Coverage,” together with insurance against sprinkler damage
(if applicable), vandalism and malicious mischief. Landlord, subject to availability thereof, shall further insure, if Landlord deems it
appropriate, coverage against flood, environmental hazard, earthquake, loss or failure of building equipment, rental loss during the period of
repairs or rebuilding, Workers’ Compensation insurance and fidelity bonds for employees employed to perform services. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Landlord may, but shall not be deemed required to, provide insurance for any improvements installed by Tenant or that are in
addition to the standard improvements customarily furnished by Landlord, without regard to whether or not such are made a part of or are
affixed to the Building.
23.2. In addition, Landlord shall carry Commercial General Liability insurance with limits of not less than One Million Dollars
($1,000,000) per occurrence/general aggregate for bodily injury (including death), or property damage with respect to the Project.
23.3. Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, procure and maintain in effect, beginning on the Term Commencement Date or the date
of occupancy, whichever occurs first, and continuing throughout the Term (and occupancy by Tenant, if any, after termination of this Lease)
with insurers financially acceptable and lawfully authorized to do business in the state where the Project is located Commercial General
Liability insurance on a broad-based occurrence coverage form, with limits of not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per occurrence
and in the aggregate for bodily injury (including death) and for property damage with respect to the Premises (including $100,000 fire legal
liability (each loss)), and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) products and completed operations insurance on a claims made basis.
23.4. The insurance required to be purchased and maintained by Tenant pursuant to this Lease shall name Landlord, BioMed Realty,
L.P., BioMed Realty Trust, Inc., and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, general partners, members, subsidiaries, affiliates
and Lenders (“Landlord Parties”) as additional insureds as respects liability arising from work or operations performed by or on behalf of
Tenant and Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises. Said insurance shall be with companies authorized to do business in the state in which
the Project is located and at all times having a current rating of not less than A- and financial category rating
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of at least Class VII in “A.M. Best’s Insurance Guide” current edition. Tenant shall obtain for Landlord from the insurance companies or
cause the insurance companies to furnish certificates of insurance evidencing all coverages required herein to Landlord. Landlord reserves the
right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies including any endorsements. No such policy shall be cancelable or
subject to reduction of coverage or other modification or cancellation except after twenty (20) days’ prior written notice to Landlord from the
insurer (except in the event of non-payment of premium, in which case ten (10) days written notice shall be given). Should carrier be unwilling
or unable to provide such notice, Tenant shall provide notice to Landlord in accordance with this Section. All such policies shall be written as
primary policies, not contributing with and not in excess of the coverage that Landlord may carry. Tenant’s required policies shall contain
severability of interests clauses stating that, except with respect to limits of insurance, coverage shall apply separately to each insured or
additional insured. Tenant’s policies shall contain dedicated or per location limits endorsements so that the amounts of insurance required
herein shall not be prejudiced by losses at other locations. Tenant shall, at least twenty (20) days prior to the expiration of such policies,
furnish Landlord with renewal certificates of insurance or binders. Tenant agrees that if Tenant does not take out and maintain such insurance,
Landlord may (but shall not be required to) procure said insurance on Tenant’s behalf and at its cost to be paid by Tenant as Additional Rent.
23.5. Tenant assumes the risk of damage to any fixtures, goods, inventory, merchandise, equipment and leasehold improvements, and
Landlord shall not be liable for injury to Tenant’s business or any loss of income therefrom, relative to such damage, all as more particularly
set forth within this Lease. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, carry such insurance as Tenant desires for Tenant’s protection with
respect to personal property of Tenant or business interruption.
23.6. In each instance where insurance is to name Landlord Parties as additional insureds, Tenant shall, upon Landlord’s written request,
also designate and furnish certificates evidencing such Landlord Parties as additional insureds to (a) any Lender of Landlord holding a security
interest in the Building, the Property or the Project, (b) the landlord under any lease whereunder Landlord is a tenant of the Property if the
interest of Landlord is or shall become that of a tenant under a ground lease rather than that of a fee owner and (c) any management company
retained by Landlord to manage the Project.
23.7. Landlord, Tenant and each of their respective insurers hereby waive any and all rights of recovery or subrogation against one
another or against the officers, directors, employees, agents, general partners, members, subsidiaries, affiliates and Lenders of the other as
respects any loss, damage, claims, suits or demands, howsoever caused, that are covered, or should have been covered, by valid and collectible
insurance, including any deductibles or self-insurance maintained thereunder. If necessary, each party agrees to endorse the required insurance
policies to permit waivers of subrogation as required hereunder and hold harmless and indemnify the other party for any loss or expense
incurred as a result of a failure to obtain such waivers of subrogation from insurers. Such waivers shall continue so long as their respective
insurers so permit. Any termination of such a waiver shall be by written notice to the other party, containing a description of the circumstances
hereinafter set forth in this Section. Landlord and Tenant, upon obtaining the policies of insurance required or permitted under this Lease, shall
give notice to the insurance carrier or carriers that the foregoing mutual waiver of
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subrogation is contained in this Lease. If such policies shall not be obtainable with such waiver or shall be so obtainable only at a premium
over that chargeable without such waiver, then the party seeking such policy shall notify the other of such conditions, and the party so notified
shall have ten (10) days thereafter to either (a) procure such insurance with companies reasonably satisfactory to the other party or (b) agree to
pay such additional premium (in Tenant’s case, in the proportion that the area of the Premises bears to the insured area). If the parties do not
accomplish either (a) or (b), then this Section shall have no effect during such time as such policies shall not be obtainable or the party in
whose favor a waiver of subrogation is desired refuses to pay the additional premium. If such policies shall at any time be unobtainable, but
shall be subsequently obtainable, then neither party shall be subsequently liable for a failure to obtain such insurance until a reasonable time
after notification thereof by the other party. If the release of either Landlord or Tenant, as set forth in the first sentence of this Section, shall
contravene Applicable Laws, then the liability of the party in question shall be deemed not released but shall be secondary to the other party’s
insurer.
23.8. Landlord may require insurance policy limits required under this Lease to be raised to conform with requirements of Landlord’s
Lender or to bring coverage limits to levels then being required of new tenants within the Project.
23.9. Any costs incurred by Landlord pursuant to this Article shall constitute a portion of Operating Expenses.
24. Damage or Destruction.
24.1. In the event of a partial destruction of (a) the Premises or (b) Common Areas of the Building or the Project ((a) and (b) together,
the “Affected Areas”) by fire or other perils covered by extended coverage insurance not exceeding twenty-five percent (25%) of the full
insurable value thereof, and provided that (x) the damage thereto is such that the Affected Areas may be repaired, reconstructed or restored
within a period of six (6) months from the date of the happening of such casualty, (y) Landlord shall receive insurance proceeds sufficient to
cover the cost of such repairs, reconstruction and restoration (except for any deductible amount provided by Landlord’s policy, which
deductible amount, if paid by Landlord, shall constitute an Operating Expense) and (z) such casualty was not intentionally caused by a Tenant
Party, then Landlord shall commence and proceed diligently with the work of repair, reconstruction and restoration of the Affected Areas and
this Lease shall continue in full force and effect.
24.2. In the event of any damage to or destruction of the Building or the Project other than as described in Section 24.1, Landlord may
elect to repair, reconstruct and restore the Building or the Project, as applicable, in which case this Lease shall continue in full force and effect.
If Landlord elects not to repair, reconstruct and restore the Building or the Project, as applicable, then this Lease shall terminate as of the date
of such damage or destruction.
24.3. Landlord shall give written notice to Tenant within sixty (60) days following the date of damage or destruction of its election not to
repair, reconstruct or restore the Building or the Project, as applicable.
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24.4. Upon any termination of this Lease under any of the provisions of this Article, the parties shall be released thereby without further
obligation to the other from the date possession of the Premises is surrendered to Landlord, except with regard to (a) items occurring prior to
the damage or destruction and (b) provisions of this Lease that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof.
24.5. In the event of repair, reconstruction and restoration as provided in this Article, all Rent to be paid by Tenant under this Lease shall
be abated proportionately based on the extent to which Tenant’s use of the Premises is impaired during the period of such repair,
reconstruction or restoration, unless Landlord provides Tenant with other space during the period of repair, reconstruction and restoration that,
in Tenant’s reasonable opinion, is suitable for the temporary conduct of Tenant’s business; provided, however, that the amount of such
abatement shall be reduced by the proceeds of business interruption or loss of rental income insurance actually received by Tenant with respect
to the Premises.
24.6. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article, should Landlord be delayed or prevented from completing the
repair, reconstruction or restoration of the damage or destruction to the Premises after the occurrence of such damage or destruction by Force
Majeure or delays caused by a Tenant Party, then the time for Landlord to commence or complete repairs, reconstruction and restoration shall
be extended on a day-for-day basis; provided, however, that, at Landlord’s election, Landlord shall be relieved of its obligation to make such
repairs, reconstruction and restoration.
24.7. If Landlord is obligated to or elects to repair, reconstruct or restore as herein provided, then Landlord shall be obligated to make
such repairs, reconstruction or restoration only with regard to (a) those portions of the Premises that were originally provided at Landlord’s
expense and (b) the Common Area portion of the Affected Areas. The repairs, reconstruction or restoration of improvements not originally
provided by Landlord or at Landlord’s expense shall be the obligation of Tenant. In the event Tenant has elected to upgrade certain
improvements from the Building Standard, Landlord shall, upon the need for replacement due to an insured loss, provide only the Building
Standard, unless Tenant again elects to upgrade such improvements and pay any incremental costs related thereto, except to the extent that
excess insurance proceeds, if received, are adequate to provide such upgrades, in addition to providing for basic repairs, reconstruction and
restoration of the Premises, the Building and the Project.
24.8. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article, Landlord shall not have any obligation whatsoever to repair,
reconstruct or restore the Premises if the damage resulting from any casualty covered under this Article occurs during the last twenty-four
(24) months of the Term or any extension thereof, or to the extent that insurance proceeds are not available therefor.
24.9. Landlord’s obligation, should it elect or be obligated to repair, reconstruct or restore, shall be limited to the Affected Areas. Tenant
shall, at its expense, replace or fully repair all of Tenant’s personal property and any Alterations installed by Tenant existing at the time of such
damage or destruction. If Affected Areas are to be repaired, reconstructed or restored in accordance with the foregoing, Landlord shall make
available to Tenant any portion of insurance proceeds it receives that are allocable to the Alterations constructed by Tenant pursuant to this
Lease; provided Tenant is not then in default under this Lease, and subject to the requirements of any Lender of Landlord.
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25. Eminent Domain.
25.1. In the event (a) the whole of all Affected Areas or (b) such part thereof as shall substantially interfere with Tenant’s use and
occupancy of the Premises for the Permitted Use shall be taken for any public or quasi-public purpose by any lawful power or authority by
exercise of the right of appropriation, condemnation or eminent domain, or sold to prevent such taking, Tenant or Landlord may terminate this
Lease effective as of the date possession is required to be surrendered to such authority, except with regard to (y) items occurring prior to the
taking and (z) provisions of this Lease that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof.
25.2. In the event of a partial taking of (a) the Building or the Project or (b) drives, walkways or parking areas serving the Building or
the Project for any public or quasi-public purpose by any lawful power or authority by exercise of right of appropriation, condemnation, or
eminent domain, or sold to prevent such taking, then, without regard to whether any portion of the Premises occupied by Tenant was so taken,
Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease (except with regard to (y) items occurring prior to the taking and (z) provisions of this Lease that,
by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof) as of such taking if such taking is, in Landlord’s sole opinion, of a
material nature such as to make it uneconomical to continue use of the unappropriated portion for purposes of renting office or laboratory
space.
25.3. Tenant shall be entitled to any award that is specifically awarded as compensation for (a) the taking of Tenant’s personal property
that was installed at Tenant’s expense and (b) the costs of Tenant moving to a new location. Except as set forth in the previous sentence, any
award for such taking shall be the property of Landlord.
25.4. If, upon any taking of the nature described in this Article, this Lease continues in effect, then Landlord shall promptly proceed to
restore the Affected Areas to substantially their same condition prior to such partial taking. To the extent such restoration is infeasible, as
determined by Landlord in its sole and absolute discretion, the Rent shall be decreased proportionately to reflect the loss of any portion of the
Premises no longer available to Tenant.
26. Surrender.
26.1. [Intentionally omitted]
26.2. No surrender of possession of any part of the Premises shall release Tenant from any of its obligations hereunder, unless such
surrender is accepted in writing by Landlord.
26.3. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant shall not effect a merger with Landlord’s fee title or leasehold interest in
the Premises, the Building, the Property or the Project, unless Landlord consents in writing, and shall, at Landlord’s option, operate as an
assignment to Landlord of any or all subleases.
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26.4. The voluntary or other surrender of any ground or other underlying lease that now exists or may hereafter be executed affecting the
Building or the Project, or a mutual cancellation thereof or of Landlord’s interest therein by Landlord and its lessor shall not effect a merger
with Landlord’s fee title or leasehold interest in the Premises, the Building or the Property and shall, at the option of the successor to
Landlord’s interest in the Building or the Project, as applicable, operate as an assignment of this Lease.
27. Holding Over.
27.1. If, with Landlord’s prior written consent, Tenant holds possession of all or any part of the Premises after the Term, Tenant shall
become a tenant from month to month after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, and in such case Tenant shall continue to pay
(a) Base Rent in accordance with Article 7 and (b) any amounts for which Tenant would otherwise be liable under this Lease if the Lease were
still in effect, including payments for Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses. Any such month-to-month tenancy shall be subject to every other
term, covenant and agreement contained herein.
27.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Tenant remains in possession of the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of the
Term without Landlord’s prior written consent, (a) Tenant shall become a tenant at sufferance subject to the terms and conditions of this Lease,
except that the monthly rent shall be equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Rent in effect during the last thirty (30) days of the
Term, and (b) Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for any and all damages suffered by Landlord as a result of such holdover, including any lost
rent or consequential, special and indirect damages.
27.3. Acceptance by Landlord of Rent after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term shall not result in an extension, renewal or
reinstatement of this Lease.
27.4. The foregoing provisions of this Article are in addition to and do not affect Landlord’s right of reentry or any other rights of
Landlord hereunder or as otherwise provided by Applicable Laws.
27.5. The provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
28. Indemnification and Exculpation.
28.1. Tenant agrees to indemnify, save, defend (at Landlord’s option and with counsel reasonably acceptable to Landlord) and hold the
Landlord Indemnitees harmless from and against any and all Claims arising from injury or death to any person or damage to any property
occurring within or about the Premises, the Building, the Property or the Project arising directly or indirectly out of a Tenant Party’s use or
occupancy of the Premises or a breach or default by Tenant in the performance of any of its obligations hereunder, except to the extent caused
by Landlord’s negligence or willful misconduct.
28.2. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for and Tenant assumes all risk of
(a) damage or losses caused by fire, electrical malfunction, gas explosion or water damage of any type (including broken water lines,
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malfunctioning fire sprinkler systems, roof leaks or stoppages of lines), unless any such loss is due to Landlord’s willful disregard of written
notice by Tenant of need for a repair that Landlord is responsible to make for an unreasonable period of time, and (b) damage to personal
property or scientific research, including loss of records kept by Tenant within the Premises. Tenant further waives any claim for injury to
Tenant’s business or loss of income relating to any such damage or destruction of personal property as described in this Section.
Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing or this Lease to the contrary, except (x) as otherwise provided herein, (y) as may be provided by
Applicable Laws or (z) in the event of Tenant’s breach of Article 21 or Section 26.1, in no event shall Landlord or Tenant be liable to the other
for any consequential, special or indirect damages arising out of this Lease.
28.3. Landlord shall not be liable for any damages arising from any act, omission or neglect of any other tenant in the Building or the
Project, or of any other third party.
28.4. Tenant acknowledges that security devices and services, if any, while intended to deter crime, may not in given instances prevent
theft or other criminal acts. Landlord shall not be liable for injuries or losses caused by criminal acts of third parties, and Tenant assumes the
risk that any security device or service may malfunction or otherwise be circumvented by a criminal. If Tenant desires protection against such
criminal acts, then Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, obtain appropriate insurance coverage.
28.5. The provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
29. Assignment or Subletting.
29.1. Except as hereinafter expressly permitted, Tenant shall not, either voluntarily or by operation of Applicable Laws, directly or
indirectly sell, hypothecate, assign, pledge, encumber or otherwise transfer this Lease or sublet the Premises (each, a “Transfer”), without
Landlord’s prior written consent. In no event shall Tenant perform a Transfer to or with an entity that is a tenant at the Project or that is in
discussions or negotiations with Landlord or an affiliate of Landlord to lease premises at the Project or a property owned by Landlord or an
affiliate of Landlord.
29.2. In the event Tenant desires to effect a Transfer, then, at least thirty (30) but not more than ninety (90) days prior to the date when
Tenant desires the Transfer to be effective (the “Transfer Date”), Tenant shall provide written notice to Landlord (the “Transfer Notice”)
containing information (including references) concerning the character of the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee; the Transfer Date; the
most recent unconsolidated financial statements of Tenant and of the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee satisfying the requirements of
Section 41.2 (“Required Financials”); any ownership or commercial relationship between Tenant and the proposed transferee, assignee or
sublessee; and the consideration and all other material terms and conditions of the proposed Transfer, all in such detail as Landlord shall
reasonably require.
29.3. Landlord, in determining whether consent should be given to a proposed Transfer, may give consideration to (a) the financial
strength of Tenant and of such transferee, assignee or
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sublessee (notwithstanding Tenant remaining liable for Tenant’s performance), (b) any change in use that such transferee, assignee or
sublessee proposes to make in the use of the Premises and (c) Landlord’s desire to exercise its rights under Section 29.8 to cancel this Lease.
In no event shall Landlord be deemed to be unreasonable for declining to consent to a Transfer to a transferee, assignee or sublessee of poor
reputation, lacking financial qualifications or seeking a change in the Permitted Use, or jeopardizing directly or indirectly the status of Landlord
or any of Landlord’s affiliates as a Real Estate Investment Trust under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (as the same may be amended from
time to time, the “Revenue Code”). Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, (w) no Transfer shall be consummated
on any basis such that the rental or other amounts to be paid by the occupant, assignee, manager or other transferee thereunder would be
based, in whole or in part, on the income or profits derived by the business activities of such occupant, assignee, manager or other transferee;
(x) Tenant shall not furnish or render any services to an occupant, assignee, manager or other transferee with respect to whom transfer
consideration is required to be paid, or manage or operate the Premises or any capital additions so transferred, with respect to which transfer
consideration is being paid; (y) Tenant shall not consummate a Transfer with any person in which Landlord owns an interest, directly or
indirectly (by applying constructive ownership rules set forth in Section 856(d)(5) of the Revenue Code); and (z) Tenant shall not consummate
a Transfer with any person or in any manner that could cause any portion of the amounts received by Landlord pursuant to this Lease or any
sublease, license or other arrangement for the right to use, occupy or possess any portion of the Premises to fail to qualify as “rents from real
property” within the meaning of Section 856(d) of the Revenue Code, or any similar or successor provision thereto or which could cause any
other income of Landlord to fail to qualify as income described in Section 856(c)(2) of the Revenue Code.
29.4. The following are conditions precedent to a Transfer or to Landlord considering a request by Tenant to a Transfer:
(a) Tenant shall remain fully liable under this Lease during the unexpired Term. Tenant agrees that it shall not be (and shall not be
deemed to be) a guarantor or surety of this Lease, however, and waives its right to claim that is it is a guarantor or surety or to raise in any
legal proceeding any guarantor or surety defenses permitted by this Lease or by Applicable Laws;
(b) If Tenant or the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee does not or cannot deliver the Required Financials, then Landlord
may elect to have either Tenant’s ultimate parent company or the proposed transferee’s, assignee’s or sublessee’s ultimate parent company
provide a guaranty of the applicable entity’s obligations under this Lease, in a form acceptable to Landlord, which guaranty shall be executed
and delivered to Landlord by the applicable guarantor prior to the Transfer Date;
(c) In the case of an Exempt Transfer, Tenant shall provide Landlord with evidence reasonably satisfactory to Landlord that the
Transfer qualifies as an Exempt Transfer;
(d) Tenant shall provide Landlord with evidence reasonably satisfactory to Landlord that the value of Landlord’s interest under this
Lease shall not be diminished or reduced by the proposed Transfer. Such evidence shall include evidence respecting the relevant business
experience and financial responsibility and status of the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee;
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(e) Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for Landlord’s actual costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, charges and
disbursements incurred in connection with the review, processing and documentation of such request;
(f) If Tenant’s transfer of rights or sharing of the Premises provides for the receipt by, on behalf of or on account of Tenant of any
consideration of any kind whatsoever (including a premium rental for a sublease or lump sum payment for an assignment, but excluding
Tenant’s reasonable costs in marketing and subleasing the Premises) in excess of the rental and other charges due to Landlord under this
Lease, Tenant shall pay fifty percent (50%) of all of such excess to Landlord, after making deductions for any reasonable marketing expenses,
tenant improvement funds expended by Tenant, alterations, cash concessions, brokerage commissions, attorneys’ fees and free rent actually
paid by Tenant. If such consideration consists of cash paid to Tenant, payment to Landlord shall be made upon receipt by Tenant of such cash
payment;
(g) The proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee shall agree that, in the event Landlord gives such proposed transferee, assignee
or sublessee notice that Tenant is in default under this Lease, such proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee shall thereafter make all
payments otherwise due Tenant directly to Landlord, which payments shall be received by Landlord without any liability being incurred by
Landlord, except to credit such payment against those due by Tenant under this Lease, and any such proposed transferee, assignee or
sublessee shall agree to attorn to Landlord or its successors and assigns should this Lease be terminated for any reason; provided, however,
that in no event shall Landlord or its Lenders, successors or assigns be obligated to accept such attornment;
(h) Landlord’s consent to any such Transfer shall be effected on Landlord’s forms;
(i) Tenant shall not then be in default hereunder in any respect;
(j) Such proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee’s use of the Premises shall be the same as the Permitted Use;
(k) Landlord shall not be bound by any provision of any agreement pertaining to the Transfer, except for Landlord’s written
consent to the same;
(l) Tenant shall pay all transfer and other taxes (including interest and penalties) assessed or payable for any Transfer;
(m) Landlord’s consent (or waiver of its rights) for any Transfer shall not waive Landlord’s right to consent or refuse consent to
any later Transfer;
(n) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord one executed copy of any and all written instruments evidencing or relating to the Transfer; and
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(o) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a list of Hazardous Materials (as defined below), certified by the proposed transferee, assignee
or sublessee to be true and correct, that the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee intends to use or store in the Premises. Additionally,
Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, on or before the date any proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee takes occupancy of the Premises, all of
the items relating to Hazardous Materials of such proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee as described in Section 21.2.
29.5. Any Transfer that is not in compliance with the provisions of this Article or with respect to which Tenant does not fulfill its
obligations pursuant to this Article shall be void and shall, at the option of Landlord, terminate this Lease.
29.6. Notwithstanding any Transfer, Tenant shall remain fully and primarily liable for the payment of all Rent and other sums due or to
become due hereunder, and for the full performance of all other terms, conditions and covenants to be kept and performed by Tenant. The
acceptance of Rent or any other sum due hereunder, or the acceptance of performance of any other term, covenant or condition thereof, from
any person or entity other than Tenant shall not be deemed a waiver of any of the provisions of this Lease or a consent to any Transfer.
29.7. If Tenant delivers to Landlord a Transfer Notice indicating a desire to transfer this Lease to a proposed transferee, assignee or
sublessee other than as provided within Section 29.4, then Landlord shall have the option, exercisable by giving notice to Tenant at any time
within ten (10) days after Landlord’s receipt of such Transfer Notice, to terminate this Lease as of the date specified in the Transfer Notice as
the Transfer Date, except for those provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof. If Landlord
exercises such option, then Tenant shall have the right to withdraw such Transfer Notice by delivering to Landlord written notice of such
election within five (5) days after Landlord’s delivery of notice electing to exercise Landlord’s option to terminate this Lease. In the event
Tenant withdraws the Transfer Notice as provided in this Section, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect. No failure of Landlord to
exercise its option to terminate this Lease shall be deemed to be Landlord’s consent to a proposed Transfer.
29.8. If Tenant sublets the Premises or any portion thereof, Tenant hereby immediately and irrevocably assigns to Landlord, as security
for Tenant’s obligations under this Lease, all rent from any such subletting, and appoints Landlord as assignee and attorney-in-fact for Tenant,
and Landlord (or a receiver for Tenant appointed on Landlord’s application) may collect such rent and apply it toward Tenant’s obligations
under this Lease; provided that, until the occurrence of a Default (as defined below) by Tenant, Tenant shall have the right to collect such rent.
30. Subordination and Attornment.
30.1. This Lease shall be subject and subordinate to the lien of any mortgage, deed of trust, or lease in which Landlord is tenant now or
hereafter in force against the Building or the Project and to all advances made or hereafter to be made upon the security thereof without the
necessity of the execution and delivery of any further instruments on the part of Tenant to effectuate such subordination.
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30.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall execute and deliver upon demand such further instrument or instruments evidencing
such subordination of this Lease to the lien of any such mortgage or mortgages or deeds of trust or lease in which Landlord is tenant as may
be required by Landlord. If any such mortgagee, beneficiary or landlord under a lease wherein Landlord is tenant (each, a “Mortgagee”) so
elects, however, this Lease shall be deemed prior in lien to any such lease, mortgage, or deed of trust upon or including the Premises
regardless of date and Tenant shall execute a statement in writing to such effect at Landlord’s request. If Tenant fails to execute any document
required from Tenant under this Section within ten (10) days after written request therefor, Tenant hereby constitutes and appoints Landlord or
its special attorney-in-fact to execute and deliver any such document or documents in the name of Tenant. Such power is coupled with an
interest and is irrevocable.
30.3. Upon written request of Landlord and opportunity for Tenant to review, Tenant agrees to execute any Lease amendments not
materially altering the terms of this Lease, if required by a mortgagee or beneficiary of a deed of trust encumbering real property of which the
Premises constitute a part incident to the financing of the real property of which the Premises constitute a part.
30.4. In the event any proceedings are brought for foreclosure, or in the event of the exercise of the power of sale under any mortgage or
deed of trust made by Landlord covering the Premises, Tenant shall at the election of the purchaser at such foreclosure or sale attorn to the
purchaser upon any such foreclosure or sale and recognize such purchaser as Landlord under this Lease.
31. Defaults and Remedies.
31.1. Late payment by Tenant to Landlord of Rent and other sums due shall cause Landlord to incur costs not contemplated by this
Lease, the exact amount of which shall be extremely difficult and impracticable to ascertain. Such costs include processing and accounting
charges and late charges that may be imposed on Landlord by the terms of any mortgage or trust deed covering the Premises. Therefore, if any
installment of Rent due from Tenant is not received by Landlord within three (3) days after the date such payment is due, Tenant shall pay to
Landlord (a) an additional sum of six percent (6%) of the overdue Rent as a late charge plus (b) interest at an annual rate (the “Default Rate”)
equal to the lesser of (a) twelve percent (12%) and (b) the highest rate permitted by Applicable Laws. The parties agree that this late charge
represents a fair and reasonable estimate of the costs that Landlord shall incur by reason of late payment by Tenant and shall be payable as
Additional Rent to Landlord due with the next installment of Rent or within five (5) business days after Landlord’s demand, whichever is
earlier. Landlord’s acceptance of any Additional Rent (including a late charge or any other amount hereunder) shall not be deemed an
extension of the date that Rent is due or prevent Landlord from pursuing any other rights or remedies under this Lease, at law or in equity.
31.2. No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than the Rent payment herein stipulated shall be deemed to be
other than on account of the Rent, nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment as
Rent be deemed an accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover
the balance of such Rent or pursue any other
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remedy provided in this Lease or in equity or at law. If a dispute shall arise as to any amount or sum of money to be paid by Tenant to
Landlord hereunder, Tenant shall have the right to make payment “under protest,” such payment shall not be regarded as a voluntary payment,
and there shall survive the right on the part of Tenant to institute suit for recovery of the payment paid under protest.
31.3. If Tenant fails to pay any sum of money required to be paid by it hereunder or perform any other act on its part to be performed
hereunder, in each case within the applicable cure period (if any) described in Section 31.4, then Landlord may (but shall not be obligated to),
without waiving or releasing Tenant from any obligations of Tenant, make such payment or perform such act; provided that such failure by
Tenant unreasonably interfered with the use of the Building or the Project by any other tenant or with the efficient operation of the Building or
the Project, or resulted or could have resulted in a violation of Applicable Laws or the cancellation of an insurance policy maintained by
Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of an emergency, Landlord shall have the right to enter the Premises and act in
accordance with its rights as provided elsewhere in this Lease. In addition to the late charge described in Section 31.1, Tenant shall pay to
Landlord as Additional Rent all sums so paid or incurred by Landlord, together with interest at the Default Rate, computed from the date such
sums were paid or incurred.
31.4. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a “Default” hereunder by Tenant:
(a) Tenant abandons or vacates the Premises;
(b) Tenant fails to make any payment of Rent, as and when due, or to satisfy its obligations under Article 19, where such failure
shall continue for a period of three (3) business days after written notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant;
(c) Tenant fails to observe or perform any obligation or covenant contained herein (other than described in Sections 31.4(a) and
31.4(b)) to be performed by Tenant, where such failure continues for a period of ten (10) days after written notice thereof from Landlord to
Tenant; provided that, if the nature of Tenant’s default is such that it reasonably requires more than ten (10) days to cure, Tenant shall not be
deemed to be in Default if Tenant commences such cure within such ten (10) day period and thereafter diligently prosecute the same to
completion; and provided, further, that such cure is completed no later than thirty (30) days after Tenant’s receipt of written notice from
Landlord;
(d) Tenant makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors;
assets;

(e) A receiver, trustee or custodian is appointed to or does take title, possession or control of all or substantially all of Tenant’s

(f) Tenant files a voluntary petition under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any successor statute (as the same may be
amended from time to time, the “Bankruptcy Code”) or an order for relief is entered against Tenant pursuant to a voluntary or involuntary
proceeding commenced under any chapter of the Bankruptcy Code;
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(g) Any involuntary petition is filed against Tenant under any chapter of the Bankruptcy Code and is not dismissed within one
hundred twenty (120) days;
(h) Tenant fails to deliver an estoppel certificate in accordance with Article 20; or
(i) Tenant’s interest in this Lease is attached, executed upon or otherwise judicially seized and such action is not released within
one hundred twenty (120) days of the action.
Notices given under this Section shall specify the alleged default and shall demand that Tenant perform the provisions of this Lease
or pay the Rent that is in arrears, as the case may be, within the applicable period of time, or quit the Premises. No such notice shall be deemed
a forfeiture or a termination of this Lease unless Landlord elects otherwise in such notice.
31.5. In the event of a Default by Tenant, and at any time thereafter, with or without notice or demand and without limiting Landlord in
the exercise of any right or remedy that Landlord may have, Landlord has the right to do any or all of the following:
(a) Halt any Tenant Improvements and Alterations and order Tenant’s contractors, subcontractors, consultants, designers and
material suppliers to stop work;
(b) Terminate Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises by written notice to Tenant or by any lawful means, in which case
Tenant shall immediately surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord. In such event, Landlord shall have the immediate right to re-enter
and remove all persons and property, and such property may be removed and stored in a public warehouse or elsewhere at the cost and for the
account of Tenant, all without service of notice or resort to legal process and without being deemed guilty of trespass or becoming liable for
any loss or damage that may be occasioned thereby; and
(c) Terminate this Lease, in which event Tenant shall immediately surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord. In such event,
Landlord shall have the immediate right to re-enter and remove all persons and property, and such property may be removed and stored in a
public warehouse or elsewhere at the cost and for the account of Tenant, all without service of notice or resort to legal process and without
being deemed guilty of trespass or becoming liable for any loss or damage that may be occasioned thereby. In the event that Landlord shall
elect to so terminate this Lease, then Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant all damages incurred by Landlord by reason of Tenant’s
default, including:
(i) The sum of:
A. The worth at the time of award of any unpaid Rent that had accrued at the time of such termination; plus
B. The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent that would have accrued during the period
commencing with termination of the Lease and ending at the time of award exceeds that portion of the loss of Landlord’s rental income from
the Premises that Tenant proves to Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction could have been reasonably avoided; plus
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C. The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance of the Term after the time
of award exceeds that portion of the loss of Landlord’s rental income from the Premises that Tenant proves to Landlord’s reasonable
satisfaction could have been reasonably avoided; plus
D. Any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment caused by Tenant’s failure to perform its
obligations under this Lease or that in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom, including the cost of restoring the
Premises to the condition required under the terms of this Lease, including any rent payments not otherwise chargeable to Tenant (e.g., during
any “free” rent period or rent holiday); plus
E. At Landlord’s election, such other amounts in addition to or in lieu of the foregoing as may be permitted from time
to time by Applicable Laws; or
(ii) At Landlord’s election, as minimum liquidated damages in addition to any (A) amounts paid or payable to Landlord
pursuant to Section 31.5(c)(i)(A) prior to such election and (B) costs of restoring the Premises to the condition required under the terms of this
Lease, an amount (the “Election Amount”) equal to either (Y) the positive difference (if any, and measured at the time of such termination)
between (1) the then-present value of the total Rent and other benefits that would have accrued to Landlord under this Lease for the remainder
of the Term if Tenant had fully complied with the Lease minus (2) the then-present cash rental value of the Premises as determined by
Landlord for what would be the then-unexpired Term if the Lease remained in effect, computed using the discount rate of the Federal Reserve
Bank of San Francisco at the time of the award plus one (1) percentage point (the “Discount Rate”) or (Z) twelve (12) months (or such lesser
number of months as may then be remaining in the Term) of Base Rent and Additional Rent at the rate last payable by Tenant pursuant to this
Lease, in either case as Landlord specifies in such election. Landlord and Tenant agree that the Election Amount represents a reasonable
forecast of the minimum damages expected to occur in the event of a breach, taking into account the uncertainty, time and cost of determining
elements relevant to actual damages, such as fair market rent, time and costs that may be required to re-lease the Premises, and other factors;
and that the Election Amount is not a penalty.
As used in Sections 31.5(c)(i)(A) and (B), “worth at the time of award” shall be computed by allowing interest at the Default Rate. As used in
Section 31.5(c)(i)(C), the “worth at the time of the award” shall be computed by taking the present value of such amount, using the Discount
Rate.
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31.6. In addition to any other remedies available to Landlord at law or in equity and under this Lease, Landlord shall have the remedy
described in California Civil Code Section 1951.4 and may continue this Lease in effect after Tenant’s Default and abandonment and recover
Rent as it becomes due, provided Tenant has the right to sublet or assign, subject only to reasonable limitations. In addition, Landlord shall not
be liable in any way whatsoever for its failure or refusal to relet the Premises. For purposes of this Section, the following acts by Landlord
will not constitute the termination of Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises:
(a) Acts of maintenance or preservation or efforts to relet the Premises, including alterations, remodeling, redecorating, repairs,
replacements or painting as Landlord shall consider advisable for the purpose of reletting the Premises or any part thereof; or
(b) The appointment of a receiver upon the initiative of Landlord to protect Landlord’s interest under this Lease or in the Premises.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a Default by Tenant, Landlord may elect at any time to terminate this Lease and to recover
damages to which Landlord is entitled.
31.7. If Landlord does not elect to terminate this Lease as provided in Section 31.5, then Landlord may, from time to time, recover all
Rent as it becomes due under this Lease. At any time thereafter, Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease and to recover damages to which
Landlord is entitled.
31.8. In the event Landlord elects to terminate this Lease and relet the Premises, Landlord may execute any new lease in its own name.
Tenant hereunder shall have no right or authority whatsoever to collect any Rent from such tenant. The proceeds of any such reletting shall be
applied as follows:
(a) First, to the payment of any indebtedness other than Rent due hereunder from Tenant to Landlord, including storage charges or
brokerage commissions owing from Tenant to Landlord as the result of such reletting;
(b) Second, to the payment of the costs and expenses of reletting the Premises, including (i) alterations and repairs that Landlord
deems reasonably necessary and advisable and (ii) reasonable attorneys’ fees, charges and disbursements incurred by Landlord in connection
with the retaking of the Premises and such reletting;
(c) Third, to the payment of Rent and other charges due and unpaid hereunder; and
(d) Fourth, to the payment of future Rent and other damages payable by Tenant under this Lease.
31.9. All of Landlord’s rights, options and remedies hereunder shall be construed and held to be nonexclusive and cumulative. Landlord
shall have the right to pursue any one or all of such remedies, or any other remedy or relief that may be provided by Applicable Laws, whether
or not stated in this Lease. No waiver of any default of Tenant hereunder shall be implied from any acceptance by Landlord of any Rent or
other payments due hereunder or any omission by Landlord to take any action on account of such default if such default persists or is repeated,
and no express waiver shall affect defaults other than as specified in such waiver. Notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary,
in no event shall Landlord be required to mitigate its damages with respect to any default by Tenant. Any obligation imposed by Applicable
Law upon Landlord to relet the Premises after any termination of this Lease shall be subject to the reasonable requirements of Landlord to
(a) lease to high quality tenants on such terms as Landlord may from time to time deem appropriate in its discretion and (b) develop the Project
in a harmonious manner with a mix of uses, tenants, floor areas, terms of tenancies, etc., as
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determined by Landlord. Landlord shall not be obligated to relet the Premises to any party to whom Landlord or an affiliate of Landlord may
desire to lease other available space in the Project or at another property owned by Landlord or an affiliate of Landlord.
31.10. Landlord’s termination of (a) this Lease or (b) Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises shall not relieve Tenant of any liability
to Landlord that has previously accrued or that shall arise based upon events that occurred prior to the later to occur of (y) the date of Lease
termination and (z) the date Tenant surrenders possession of the Premises.
31.11. To the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, Tenant waives any and all rights of redemption granted by or under any present or
future Applicable Laws if Tenant is evicted or dispossessed for any cause, or if Landlord obtains possession of the Premises due to Tenant’s
default hereunder or otherwise.
31.12. Landlord shall not be in default or liable for damages under this Lease unless Landlord fails to perform obligations required of
Landlord within a reasonable time, but in no event shall such failure continue for more than thirty (30) days after written notice from Tenant
specifying the nature of Landlord’s failure; provided, however, that if the nature of Landlord’s obligation is such that more than thirty
(30) days are required for its performance, then Landlord shall not be in default if Landlord commences performance within such thirty
(30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion. In no event shall Tenant have the right to terminate or cancel this
Lease or to withhold or abate rent or to set off any Claims against Rent as a result of any default or breach by Landlord of any of its covenants,
obligations, representations, warranties or promises hereunder, except as may otherwise be expressly set forth in this Lease.
31.13. In the event of any default by Landlord, Tenant shall give notice by registered or certified mail to any (a) beneficiary of a deed of
trust or (b) mortgagee under a mortgage covering the Premises, the Building or the Project and to any landlord of any lease of land upon or
within which the Premises, the Building or the Project is located, and shall offer such beneficiary, mortgagee or landlord a reasonable
opportunity to cure the default, including time to obtain possession of the Building or the Project by power of sale or a judicial action if such
should prove necessary to effect a cure; provided that Landlord shall furnish to Tenant in writing, upon written request by Tenant, the names
and addresses of all such persons who are to receive such notices.
32. Bankruptcy. In the event a debtor, trustee or debtor in possession under the Bankruptcy Code, or another person with similar rights, duties
and powers under any other Applicable Laws, proposes to cure any default under this Lease or to assume or assign this Lease and is obliged
to provide adequate assurance to Landlord that (a) a default shall be cured, (b) Landlord shall be compensated for its damages arising from any
breach of this Lease and (c) future performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease shall occur, then such adequate assurances shall
include any or all of the following, as designated by Landlord in its sole and absolute discretion:
32.1. Those acts specified in the Bankruptcy Code or other Applicable Laws as included within the meaning of “adequate assurance,”
even if this Lease does not concern a shopping center or other facility described in such Applicable Laws;
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32.2. A prompt cash payment to compensate Landlord for any monetary defaults or actual damages arising directly from a breach of this
Lease;
32.3. A cash deposit in an amount at least equal to the then-current amount of the Security Deposit; or
32.4. The assumption or assignment of all of Tenant’s interest and obligations under this Lease.
33. Brokers.
33.1. Tenant represents and warrants that it has had no dealings with any real estate broker or agent in connection with the negotiation of
this Lease other than CBRE (“Broker”), and that it knows of no other real estate broker or agent that is or might be entitled to a commission in
connection with this Lease. Landlord shall compensate Broker in full in relation to this Lease pursuant to a separate agreement between
Landlord and Broker.
33.2. Tenant represents and warrants that no broker or agent has made any representation or warranty relied upon by Tenant in Tenant’s
decision to enter into this Lease, other than as contained in this Lease.
33.3. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the employment of brokers by Landlord is for the purpose of solicitation of offers of leases
from prospective tenants and that no authority is granted to any broker to furnish any representation (written or oral) or warranty from
Landlord unless expressly contained within this Lease. Landlord is executing this Lease in reliance upon Tenant’s representations, warranties
and agreements contained within Sections 33.1 and 33.2.
33.4. Tenant agrees to indemnify, save, defend (at Landlord’s option and with counsel reasonably acceptable to Landlord) and hold the
Landlord Indemnitees harmless from any and all cost or liability for compensation claimed by any broker or agent, other than Broker,
employed or engaged by Tenant or claiming to have been employed or engaged by Tenant.
34. Definition of Landlord. With regard to obligations imposed upon Landlord pursuant to this Lease, the term “Landlord,” as used in this
Lease, shall refer only to Landlord or Landlord’s then-current successor-in-interest. In the event of any transfer, assignment or conveyance of
Landlord’s interest in this Lease or in Landlord’s fee title to or leasehold interest in the Property, as applicable, Landlord herein named (and in
case of any subsequent transfers or conveyances, the subsequent Landlord) shall be automatically freed and relieved, from and after the date of
such transfer, assignment or conveyance, from all liability for the performance of any covenants or obligations contained in this Lease
thereafter to be performed by Landlord and, without further agreement, the transferee, assignee or conveyee of Landlord’s in this Lease or in
Landlord’s fee title to or leasehold interest in the Property, as applicable, shall be deemed to have assumed and agreed to observe and perform
any and all covenants and obligations of Landlord hereunder during the tenure of its interest in the Lease or the Property. Landlord or any
subsequent Landlord may transfer its interest in the Premises or this Lease without Tenant’s consent.
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35. Limitation of Landlord’s Liability.
35.1. If Landlord is in default under this Lease and, as a consequence, Tenant recovers a monetary judgment against Landlord, the
judgment shall be satisfied only out of (a) the proceeds of sale received on execution of the judgment and levy against the right, title and
interest of Landlord in the Building and the Project, (b) rent or other income from such real property receivable by Landlord or (c) the
consideration received by Landlord from the sale, financing, refinancing or other disposition of all or any part of Landlord’s right, title or
interest in the Building or the Project.
35.2. Landlord shall not be personally liable for any deficiency under this Lease. If Landlord is a partnership or joint venture, then the
partners of such partnership shall not be personally liable for Landlord’s obligations under this Lease, and no partner of Landlord shall be
sued or named as a party in any suit or action, and service of process shall not be made against any partner of Landlord except as may be
necessary to secure jurisdiction of the partnership or joint venture. If Landlord is a corporation, then the shareholders, directors, officers,
employees and agents of such corporation shall not be personally liable for Landlord’s obligations under this Lease, and no shareholder,
director, officer, employee or agent of Landlord shall be sued or named as a party in any suit or action, and service of process shall not be
made against any shareholder, director, officer, employee or agent of Landlord. If Landlord is a limited liability company, then the members of
such limited liability company shall not be personally liable for Landlord’s obligations under this Lease, and no member of Landlord shall be
sued or named as a party in any suit or action, and service of process shall not be made against any member of Landlord except as may be
necessary to secure jurisdiction of the limited liability company. No partner, shareholder, director, employee, member or agent of Landlord
shall be required to answer or otherwise plead to any service of process, and no judgment shall be taken or writ of execution levied against any
partner, shareholder, director, employee, member or agent of Landlord.
35.3. Each of the covenants and agreements of this Article shall be applicable to any covenant or agreement either expressly contained in
this Lease or imposed by Applicable Laws and shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
36. Joint and Several Obligations. If more than one person or entity executes this Lease as Tenant, then:
36.1. Each of them is jointly and severally liable for the keeping, observing and performing of all of the terms, covenants, conditions,
provisions and agreements of this Lease to be kept, observed or performed by Tenant; and
36.2. The term “Tenant,” as used in this Lease shall mean and include each of them, jointly and severally. The act of, notice from, notice
to, refund to, or signature of any one or more of them with respect to the tenancy under this Lease, including any renewal, extension,
expiration, termination or modification of this Lease, shall be binding upon each and all of the persons executing this Lease as Tenant with the
same force and effect as if each and all of them had so acted, so given or received such notice or refund, or so signed.
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37. Representations. Tenant guarantees, warrants and represents that (a) Tenant is duly incorporated or otherwise established or formed and
validly existing under the laws of its state of incorporation, establishment or formation, (b) Tenant has and is duly qualified to do business in
the state in which the Property is located, (c) Tenant has full corporate, partnership, trust, association or other appropriate power and authority
to enter into this Lease and to perform all Tenant’s obligations hereunder, (d) each person (and all of the persons if more than one signs)
signing this Lease on behalf of Tenant is duly and validly authorized to do so and (e) neither (i) the execution, delivery or performance of this
Lease nor (ii) the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will violate or conflict with any provision of documents or
instruments under which Tenant is constituted or to which Tenant is a party. In addition, Tenant guarantees, warrants and represents that none
of (x) it, (y) its affiliates or partners nor (z) to the best of its knowledge, its members, shareholders or other equity owners or any of their
respective employees, officers, directors, representatives or agents is a person or entity with whom U.S. persons or entities are restricted from
doing business under regulations of the Office of Foreign Asset Control (“OFAC”) of the Department of the Treasury (including those named
on OFAC’s Specially Designated and Blocked Persons List) or under any statute, executive order (including the September 24, 2001,
Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism) or
other similar governmental action.
38. Confidentiality. Tenant shall keep the terms and conditions of this Lease and any information provided to Tenant or its employees, agents
or contractors pursuant to Article 9 confidential and shall not (a) disclose to any third party any terms or conditions of this Lease or any other
Lease-related document (including subleases, assignments, work letters, construction contracts, letters of credit, subordination agreements,
non-disturbance agreements, brokerage agreements or estoppels) or (b) provide to any third party an original or copy of this Lease (or any
Lease-related document). Landlord shall not release to any third party any non-public financial information or non-public information about
Tenant’s ownership structure that Tenant gives Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, confidential information under this Section may be
released by Landlord or Tenant under the following circumstances: (x) if required by Applicable Laws or in any judicial proceeding; provided
that the releasing party has given the other party reasonable notice of such requirement, if feasible, (y) to a party’s attorneys, accountants,
brokers and other bona fide consultants or advisers (with respect to this Lease only); provided such third parties agree to be bound by this
Section or (z) to bona fide prospective assignees or subtenants of this Lease; provided they agree in writing to be bound by this Section.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this section, Landlord agrees that the terms and conditions of this Lease may be disclosed by
Tenant pursuant to any filing obligations of Tenant with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as set forth in the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended.
39. Notices. Any notice, consent, demand, invoice, statement or other communication required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in
writing and shall be given by personal delivery or by overnight delivery with a reputable nationwide overnight delivery service. If given by
personal delivery, any such notice, consent, demand, invoice, statement or other communication shall be deemed delivered upon receipt; if
given by overnight delivery, shall be deemed delivered one business (1) day after deposit with a reputable nationwide overnight delivery
service. Any notices given pursuant to this Lease shall be addressed to Tenant at the
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Premises, or to Landlord or Tenant at the addresses shown in Sections 2.9 and 2.10 or 2.11, respectively. Either party may, by notice to the
other given pursuant to this Section, specify additional or different addresses for notice purposes.
40. [Intentionally omitted].
41. Miscellaneous.
41.1. Landlord reserves the right to change the name of the Building or the Project in its sole discretion.
41.2. To induce Landlord to enter into this Lease, Tenant agrees that it shall promptly furnish to Landlord, from time to time, upon
Landlord’s written request, the most recent year-end unconsolidated financial statements reflecting Tenant’s current financial condition audited
by a nationally recognized accounting firm. Tenant shall, within ninety (90) days after the end of Tenant’s financial year, furnish Landlord
with a certified copy of Tenant’s year-end unconsolidated financial statements for the previous year audited by a nationally recognized
accounting firm. Tenant represents and warrants that all financial statements, records and information furnished by Tenant to Landlord in
connection with this Lease are true, correct and complete in all respects. If audited financials are not otherwise prepared, unaudited financials
complying with generally accepted accounting principles and certified by the chief financial officer of Tenant as true, correct and complete in
all respects shall suffice for purposes of this Section.
41.3. Where applicable in this Lease, the singular includes the plural and the masculine or neuter includes the masculine, feminine and
neuter. The words “include,” “includes,” “included” and “including” shall mean “‘include,’ etc., without limitation.” The section headings of
this Lease are not a part of this Lease and shall have no effect upon the construction or interpretation of any part hereof.
41.4. If either party commences a demand, claim, action, cause of action or suit against the other party arising out of or in connection
with this Lease, then the substantially prevailing party shall be reimbursed by the other party for all reasonable costs and expenses, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred by the substantially prevailing party in such action or proceeding and in any appeal in
connection therewith (regardless of whether the applicable demand, claim, action, cause of action or suit is voluntarily withdrawn or
dismissed).
41.5. Submission of this instrument for examination or signature by Tenant does not constitute a reservation of or option for a lease, and
shall not be effective as a lease or otherwise until execution by and delivery to both Landlord and Tenant.
41.6. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of every provision of this Lease in which time of performance is a factor.
41.7. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Tenant’s obligations under this Lease are independent and shall
not be conditioned upon performance by Landlord.
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41.8. Whenever consent or approval of either party is required, that party shall not unreasonably withhold such consent or approval,
except as may be expressly set forth to the contrary.
41.9. The terms of this Lease are intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement with respect to the terms as are included
herein, and may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior or contemporaneous agreement.
41.10. Any provision of this Lease that shall prove to be invalid, void or illegal shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any other
provision hereof, and all other provisions of this Lease shall remain in full force and effect and shall be interpreted as if the invalid, void or
illegal provision did not exist.
41.11. Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, record a short form or memorandum hereof without Tenant’s consent. Within ten
(10) days after receipt of written request from Landlord, Tenant shall execute a termination of any short form or memorandum of lease
recorded with respect hereto. Tenant shall be responsible for the cost of recording any short form or memorandum of this Lease, including any
transfer or other taxes incurred in connection with such recordation. Neither party shall record this Lease.
41.12. The language in all parts of this Lease shall be in all cases construed as a whole according to its fair meaning and not strictly for
or against either Landlord or Tenant.
41.13. Each of the covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained shall inure to the benefit of and shall apply to and be binding
upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs; legatees; devisees; executors; administrators; and permitted successors, assigns, sublessees.
Nothing in this Section shall in any way alter the provisions of this Lease restricting assignment or subletting.
41.14. This Lease shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the state in which the Premises are
located, without regard to such state’s conflict of law principles.
41.15. Tenant guarantees, warrants and represents that the individual or individuals signing this Lease have the power, authority and
legal capacity to sign this Lease on behalf of and to bind all entities, corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, joint venturers or
other organizations and entities on whose behalf such individual or individuals have signed.
41.16. This Lease may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which, when taken together, shall constitute one and the same
document.
41.17. No provision of this Lease may be modified, amended or supplemented except by an agreement in writing signed by Landlord
and Tenant. The waiver by Landlord of any breach by Tenant of any term, covenant or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to be a
waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition herein contained.
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41.18. To the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, the parties waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by
the other party hereto related to matters arising out of or in any way connected with this Lease; the relationship between Landlord and Tenant;
Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises; or any claim of injury or damage related to this Lease or the Premises.
42. Option to Extend Term. Tenant shall have the option (“Option”) to extend the Term by three (3) years as to the entire Premises (and no
less than the entire Premises) upon the following terms and conditions. Any extension of the Term pursuant to the Option shall be on all the
same terms and conditions as this Lease, except as follows:
42.1. Base Rent at the commencement of the Option term shall equal the greater of (a) one hundred three percent (103%) of the thencurrent Base Rent and (b) the then-current fair market value for comparable office space in the Alameda County submarket of comparable age,
quality, level of finish and proximity to amenities and public transit (“FMV”), and shall be further increased on each annual anniversary of the
Option term commencement date by three percent (3%). Tenant may, no more than eighteen (18) months prior to the date the Term is then
scheduled to expire, request Landlord’s estimate of the FMV for the Option term. Landlord shall, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of such
request, give Tenant a written proposal of such FMV. If Tenant gives written notice to exercise the Option, such notice shall specify whether
Tenant accepts Landlord’s proposed estimate of FMV. If Tenant does not accept the FMV, then the parties shall endeavor to agree upon the
FMV, taking into account all relevant factors, including (v) the size of the Premises, (w) the length of the Option term, (x) rent in comparable
buildings in the relevant submarket, including concessions offered to new tenants, such as free rent, tenant improvement allowances and
moving allowances, (y) Tenant’s creditworthiness and (z) the quality and location of the Building and the Project. In the event that the parties
are unable to agree upon the FMV within thirty (30) days after Tenant notifies Landlord that Tenant is exercising the Option, then either party
may request that the same be determined as follows: a senior officer of a nationally recognized leasing brokerage firm with local knowledge of
the Alameda County office leasing submarket (the “Baseball Arbitrator”) shall be selected and paid for jointly by Landlord and Tenant. If
Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree upon the Baseball Arbitrator, then the same shall be designated by the local chapter of the American
Arbitration Association or any successor organization thereto (the “AAA”). The Baseball Arbitrator selected by the parties or designated by
the AAA shall (y) have at least ten (10) years’ experience in the leasing of office space in the Alameda County submarket and (z) not have
been employed or retained by either Landlord or Tenant or any affiliate of either for a period of at least ten (10) years prior to appointment
pursuant hereto. Each of Landlord and Tenant shall submit to the Baseball Arbitrator and to the other party its determination of the FMV. The
Baseball Arbitrator shall grant to Landlord and Tenant a hearing and the right to submit evidence. The Baseball Arbitrator shall determine
which of the two (2) FMV determinations more closely represents the actual FMV. The arbitrator may not select any other FMV for the
Premises other than one submitted by Landlord or Tenant. The FMV selected by the Baseball Arbitrator shall be binding upon Landlord and
Tenant and shall serve as the basis for determination of Base Rent payable for the Option term. If, as of the commencement date of the Option
term, the amount of Base Rent payable during the Option term shall not have been determined, then, pending such determination, Tenant shall
pay Base Rent equal to the Base Rent payable with respect to the last year of the then-current Term. After the final determination
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of Base Rent payable for the Option term, the parties shall promptly execute a written amendment to this Lease specifying the amount of Base
Rent to be paid during the Option term. Any failure of the parties to execute such amendment shall not affect the validity of the FMV
determined pursuant to this Section.
42.2. The Option is not assignable separate and apart from this Lease.
42.3. The Option is conditional upon Tenant giving Landlord written notice of its election to exercise the Option at least twelve
(12) months prior to the end of the expiration of the then-current Term. Time shall be of the essence as to Tenant’s exercise of the Option.
Tenant assumes full responsibility for maintaining a record of the deadlines to exercise the Option. Tenant acknowledges that it would be
inequitable to require Landlord to accept any exercise of the Option after the date provided for in this Section.
42.4. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article to the contrary, Tenant shall not have the right to exercise the Option:
(a) During the time commencing from the date Landlord delivers to Tenant a written notice that Tenant is in default under any
provisions of this Lease and continuing until Tenant has cured the specified default to Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction; or
(b) At any time after any Default as described in Article 31 of the Lease (provided, however, that, for purposes of this
Section 42.4(b), Landlord shall not be required to provide Tenant with notice of such Default) and continuing until Tenant cures any such
Default, if such Default is susceptible to being cured; or
(c) In the event that Tenant has defaulted in the performance of its obligations under this Lease two (2) or more times and a service
or late charge has become payable under Section 31.1 for each of such defaults during the twelve (12)-month period immediately prior to the
date that Tenant intends to exercise the Option, whether or not Tenant has cured such defaults.
42.5. The period of time within which Tenant may exercise the Option shall not be extended or enlarged by reason of Tenant’s inability
to exercise such Option because of the provisions of Section 42.4.
42.6. All of Tenant’s rights under the provisions of the Option shall terminate and be of no further force or effect even after Tenant’s due
and timely exercise of the Option if, after such exercise, but prior to the commencement date of the new term, (a) Tenant fails to pay to
Landlord a monetary obligation of Tenant for a period of twenty (20) days after written notice from Landlord to Tenant, (b) Tenant fails to
commence to cure a default (other than a monetary default) within thirty (30) days after the date Landlord gives notice to Tenant of such
default or (c) Tenant has defaulted under this Lease two (2) or more times and a service or late charge under Section 31.1 has become payable
for any such default, whether or not Tenant has cured such defaults.
[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Lease as of the date first above written.
LANDLORD:
BMR-PACIFIC RESEARCH CENTER LP,
a Delaware limited partnership
By:
/s/ Kevin M. Simonsen
Name: Kevin M. Simonsen
Title: V.P., Real Estate Legal
TENANT:
CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:
/s/ Harold Van Wart
Name: Harold Van Wart
Title: President and C.E.O.

EXHIBIT A
PREMISES
A-1

EXHIBIT B
TENANT IMPROVEMENTS
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CymaBay Exhibit
•

Storefront glass on full front entry wall, wood double door with full glass vision lite

•

Storefront glass on all offices, full width, no vertical mullions, wood doors

•

Gypsum ceiling in lobby; drop ceiling in rest of suite

•

Meeting Room

•

•

•

Glass wall with glass seams(no vertical aluminum frame), full width glass, no mullions, wood door

•

Provide at the wall power and rough-in, ring and string for tel/data/AV, actual tel/data/av cabling and AV equipment by
Tenant.

•

Provide at the floor below the table, power and rough-in, ring and string for tel/data/AV, actual tel/data/av cabling and
integration with furniture by Tenant.

Board Room
•

Will remove jog in wall and align to column

•

Provide at the wall power and rough-in, ring and string for tel/data/AV, actual tel/data/av cabling and AV equipment by
Tenant.

•

Provide at the floor below the table, power and rough-in, ring and string for tel/data/AV, actual tel/data/av cabling and
integration with furniture by Tenant.

Secure File Room
•

•

•

BMR will provide (1) 2-hour rated room in a location to be determined in lieu of (1) office, the glazing shown on the plan at
that location will be eliminated.

Lobby
•

Floor hardwood – BMR will provide (3) options for Tenant to select from. Tenant shall make selection within 1 business
day.

•

Decorative rock or wood accent wall behind receptionist – BMR will provide (3) options for Tenant to select from. Tenant
shall make selection within 1 business day.

•

Spot lighting to logo

All office
•

Double drop electrical, phone and computer on opposite walls

EXHIBIT C
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TERM COMMENCEMENT DATE
AND TERM EXPIRATION DATE
THIS ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TERM COMMENCEMENT DATE AND TERM EXPIRATION DATE is entered into as of
[
], 20[ ], with reference to that certain Lease (the “Lease”) dated as of [
], 20[ ], by CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS,
INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”), in favor of BMR-PACIFIC RESEARCH CENTER LP, a Delaware limited partnership
(“Landlord”). All capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Lease.
Tenant hereby confirms the following:
1. Tenant accepted possession of the Premises for use in accordance with the Permitted Use on [
the Premises for the Permitted Use on [
], 20[ ].

], 20[

]. Tenant first occupied

2. The Premises are in good order, condition and repair.
3. The Tenant Improvements are Substantially Complete.
4. All conditions of the Lease to be performed by Landlord as a condition to the full effectiveness of the Lease have been satisfied, and
Landlord has fulfilled all of its duties in the nature of inducements offered to Tenant to lease the Premises.
5. In accordance with the provisions of Article 4 of the Lease, the Term Commencement Date is [
Lease is terminated prior to the Term Expiration Date pursuant to its terms, the Term Expiration Date shall be [

], 20[

], and, unless the
], 20[ ].

6. The Lease is in full force and effect, and the same represents the entire agreement between Landlord and Tenant concerning the
Premises[, except [
]].
7. Tenant has no existing defenses against the enforcement of the Lease by Landlord, and there exist no offsets or credits against Rent
owed or to be owed by Tenant.
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on [

8. The obligation to pay Rent is presently in effect and all Rent obligations on the part of Tenant under the Lease commenced to accrue
], 20[ ], with Base Rent payable on the dates and amounts set forth in the chart below:
Square Feet
of Rentable
Area*

Dates

Months 1 - 12
Months 13 - 24
Months 25 - 36
Months 37 - 48
Months 49 - 60
* Note:

8,894
8,894
8,894
8,894
8,894

Base Rent per Square
Foot of Rentable Area

$
$
$
$
$

1.90 monthly
1.96 monthly
2.02 monthly
2.08 monthly
2.14 monthly

Monthly
Base Rent*

Annual Base
Rent*

$16,898.60
$17,432.24
$17,965.88
$18,499.52
$19,033.16

$202,783.20
$209,186.88
$215,590.56
$221,994.24
$228,397.92

Subject to adjustment based upon the Rentable Area of the Premises as of the Term Commencement Date.

9. The undersigned Tenant has not made any prior assignment, transfer, hypothecation or pledge of the Lease or of the rents thereunder
or sublease of the Premises or any portion thereof.
[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Tenant has executed this Acknowledgment of Term Commencement Date and Term Expiration Date as of
the date first written above.
TENANT:
CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT D
[Intentionally omitted]
D-1

EXHIBIT E
FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT
[On letterhead or L/C letterhead of Issuer.]
LETTER OF CREDIT
Date:

, 20
(the “Beneficiary”)

Attention:
L/C. No.:
Loan No.:
Ladies and Gentlemen:
We establish in favor of Beneficiary our irrevocable and unconditional Letter of Credit numbered as identified above (the “L/C”) for an
aggregate amount of $
, expiring at :00 p.m. on
or, if such day is not a Banking Day, then the next succeeding Banking
Day (such date, as extended from time to time, the “Expiry Date”). “Banking Day” means a weekday except a weekday when commercial
banks in
are authorized or required to close.
We authorize Beneficiary to draw on us (the “Issuer”) for the account of
conditions of this L/C.

(the “Account Party”), under the terms and

Funds under this L/C are available by presenting the following documentation (the “Drawing Documentation”): (a) the original L/C and
(b) a sight draft substantially in the form of Attachment 1, with blanks filled in and bracketed items provided as appropriate. No other evidence
of authority, certificate, or documentation is required.
Drawing Documentation must be presented at Issuer’s office at
on or before the Expiry Date by personal presentation,
courier or messenger service, or fax. Presentation by fax shall be effective upon electronic confirmation of transmission as evidenced by a
printed report from the sender’s fax machine. After any fax presentation, but not as a condition to its effectiveness, Beneficiary shall with
reasonable promptness deliver the original Drawing Documentation by any other means. Issuer will on request issue a receipt for Drawing
Documentation.
We agree, irrevocably, and irrespective of any claim by any other person, to honor drafts drawn under and in conformity with this L/C,
within the maximum amount of this L/C, presented to us on or before the Expiry Date, provided we also receive (on or before the Expiry
Date) any other Drawing Documentation this L/C requires.
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We shall pay this L/C only from our own funds by check or wire transfer, in compliance with the Drawing Documentation.
If Beneficiary presents proper Drawing Documentation to us on or before the Expiry Date, then we shall pay under this L/C at or before
the following time (the “Payment Deadline”): (a) if presentment is made at or before noon of any Banking Day, then the close of such Banking
Day; and (b) otherwise, the close of the next Banking Day. We waive any right to delay payment beyond the Payment Deadline. If we
determine that Drawing Documentation is not proper, then we shall so advise Beneficiary in writing, specifying all grounds for our
determination, within one Banking Day after the Payment Deadline.
Partial drawings are permitted. This L/C shall, except to the extent reduced thereby, survive any partial drawings.
We shall have no duty or right to inquire into the validity of or basis for any draw under this L/C or any Drawing Documentation. We
waive any defense based on fraud or any claim of fraud.
The Expiry Date shall automatically be extended by one year (but never beyond
(the “Outside Date”)) unless, on or before
the date 90 days before any Expiry Date, we have given Beneficiary notice that the Expiry Date shall not be so extended (a “Nonrenewal
Notice”). We shall promptly upon request confirm any extension of the Expiry Date under the preceding sentence by issuing an amendment to
this L/C, but such an amendment is not required for the extension to be effective. We need not give any notice of the Outside Date.
Beneficiary may from time to time without charge transfer this L/C, in whole but not in part, to any transferee (the “Transferee”). Issuer
shall look solely to Account Party for payment of any fee for any transfer of this L/C. Such payment is not a condition to any such transfer.
Beneficiary or Transferee shall consummate such transfer by delivering to Issuer the original of this L/C and a Transfer Notice substantially in
the form of Attachment 2, purportedly signed by Beneficiary, and designating Transferee. Issuer shall promptly reissue or amend this L/C in
favor of Transferee as Beneficiary. Upon any transfer, all references to Beneficiary shall automatically refer to Transferee, who may then
exercise all rights of Beneficiary. Issuer expressly consents to any transfers made from time to time in compliance with this paragraph.
Any notice to Beneficiary shall be in writing and delivered by hand with receipt acknowledged or by overnight delivery service such as
FedEx (with proof of delivery) at the above address, or such other address as Beneficiary may specify by written notice to Issuer. A copy of
any such notice shall also be delivered, as a condition to the effectiveness of such notice, to:
(or such replacement as
Beneficiary designates from time to time by written notice).
No amendment that adversely affects Beneficiary shall be effective without Beneficiary’s written consent.
This L/C is subject to and incorporates by reference: (a) the International Standby Practices 98 (“ISP 98”); and (b) to the extent not
inconsistent with ISP 98, Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of New York.
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Very truly yours,
[Issuer Signature]
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ATTACHMENT 1 TO EXHIBIT E
FORM OF SIGHT DRAFT
[BENEFICIARY LETTERHEAD]
TO:
[Name and Address of Issuer]
SIGHT DRAFT
AT SIGHT, pay to the Order of
Letter of Credit No.
dated

, the sum of
.

United States Dollars ($

[Issuer is hereby directed to pay the proceeds of this Sight Draft solely to the following account:
[Name and signature block, with signature or purported signature of Beneficiary]
Date:
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). Drawn under [Issuer]
.]

ATTACHMENT 2 TO EXHIBIT E
FORM OF TRANSFER NOTICE
[BENEFICIARY LETTERHEAD]
TO:
[Name and Address of Issuer] (the “Issuer”)
TRANSFER NOTICE
By signing below, the undersigned, Beneficiary (the “Beneficiary”) under Issuer’s Letter of Credit No.
(the “L/C”), transfers the L/C to the following transferee (the “Transferee”):

dated

[Transferee Name and Address]
The original L/C is enclosed. Beneficiary directs Issuer to reissue or amend the L/C in favor of Transferee as Beneficiary. Beneficiary
represents and warrants that Beneficiary has not transferred, assigned, or encumbered the L/C or any interest in the L/C, which transfer,
assignment, or encumbrance remains in effect.
[Name and signature block, with signature or purported signature of Beneficiary]
Date:

]
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EXHIBIT F
RULES AND REGULATIONS
NOTHING IN THESE RULES AND REGULATIONS (“RULES AND REGULATIONS”) SHALL SUPPLANT ANY
PROVISION OF THE LEASE. IN THE EVENT OF A CONFLICT OR INCONSISTENCY BETWEEN THESE RULES AND
REGULATIONS AND THE LEASE, THE LEASE SHALL PREVAIL.
1. No Tenant Party shall encumber or obstruct the common entrances, lobbies, elevators, sidewalks and stairways of the Building(s) or the
Project or use them for any purposes other than ingress or egress to and from the Building(s) or the Project.
2. Except as specifically provided in the Lease, no sign, placard, picture, advertisement, name or notice shall be installed or displayed on any
part of the outside of the Premises or the Building(s) without Landlord’s prior written consent. Landlord shall have the right to remove, at
Tenant’s sole cost and expense and without notice, any sign installed or displayed in violation of this rule.
3. If Landlord objects in writing to any curtains, blinds, shades, screens, hanging plants or other similar objects attached to or used in
connection with any window or door of the Premises or placed on any windowsill, and (a) such window, door or windowsill is visible from
the exterior of the Premises and (b) such curtain, blind, shade, screen, hanging plant or other object is not included in plans approved by
Landlord, then Tenant shall promptly remove such curtains, blinds, shades, screens, hanging plants or other similar objects at its sole cost and
expense.
4. No deliveries shall be made that impede or interfere with other tenants in or the operation of the Project. Movement of furniture, office
equipment or any other large or bulky material(s) through the Common Area shall be restricted to such hours as Landlord may designate and
shall be subject to reasonable restrictions that Landlord may impose.
5. Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Premises that exceeds the load per square foot that (a) such floor was designed to carry
or (b) is allowed by Applicable Laws. Fixtures and equipment that cause noises or vibrations that may be transmitted to the structure of the
Building(s) to such a degree as to be objectionable to other tenants shall be placed and maintained by Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and
expense, on vibration eliminators or other devices sufficient to eliminate such noises and vibrations to levels reasonably acceptable to Landlord
and the affected tenants of the Project.
6. Tenant shall not use any method of heating or air conditioning other than that approved in writing by Landlord.
7. Tenant shall not install any radio, television or other antennae; cell or other communications equipment; or other devices on the roof or
exterior walls of the Premises except in accordance with the Lease. Tenant shall not interfere with radio, television or other digital or electronic
communications at the Project or elsewhere.
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8. Canvassing, peddling, soliciting and distributing handbills or any other written material within, on or around the Project (other than within
the Premises) are prohibited. Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord to prevent such activities by any Tenant Party.
9. Tenant shall store all of its trash, garbage and Hazardous Materials in receptacles within its Premises or in receptacles designated by
Landlord outside of the Premises. Tenant shall not place in any such receptacle any material that cannot be disposed of in the ordinary and
customary manner of trash, garbage and Hazardous Materials disposal. Any Hazardous Materials transported through Common Areas shall
be held in secondary containment devices.
10. The Premises shall not be used for lodging or for any improper, immoral or objectionable purpose. No cooking shall be done or permitted
in the Premises; provided, however, that Tenant may use (a) equipment approved in accordance with the requirements of insurance policies
that Landlord or Tenant is required to purchase and maintain pursuant to the Lease for brewing coffee, tea, hot chocolate and similar
beverages, (b) microwave ovens for employees’ use and (c) equipment shown on plans approved by Landlord; provided, further, that any
such equipment and microwave ovens are used in accordance with Applicable Laws.
11. Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, use the name of the Project, if any, in connection with or in promoting or
advertising Tenant’s business except as Tenant’s address.
12. Tenant shall comply with all safety, fire protection and evacuation procedures and regulations established by Landlord or any
Governmental Authority.
13. Tenant assumes any and all responsibility for protecting the Premises from theft, robbery and pilferage, which responsibility includes
keeping doors locked and other means of entry to the Premises closed.
14. Tenant shall not modify any locks to the Premises without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent Landlord shall not
unreasonably withhold, condition or delay. Tenant shall furnish Landlord with copies of keys, pass cards or similar devices for locks to the
Premises.
15. Tenant shall cooperate and participate in all reasonable security programs affecting the Premises.
16. Tenant shall not permit any animals in the Project, other than for guide animals or for use in laboratory experiments.
17. Bicycles shall not be taken into the Building(s) except into areas designated by Landlord.
18. The water and wash closets and other plumbing fixtures shall not be used for any purposes other than those for which they were
constructed, and no sweepings, rubbish, rags or other substances shall be deposited therein.
19. Discharge of industrial sewage shall only be permitted if Tenant, at its sole expense, first obtains all necessary permits and licenses
therefor from all applicable Governmental Authorities.
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20. Smoking is prohibited at the Project.
21. The Project’s hours of operation are currently 24 hours a day, seven days a week.
22. Tenant shall comply with all orders, requirements and conditions now or hereafter imposed by Applicable Laws or Landlord (“Waste
Regulations”) regarding the collection, sorting, separation and recycling of waste products, garbage, refuse and trash generated by Tenant
(collectively, “Waste Products”), including (without limitation) the separation of Waste Products into receptacles reasonably approved by
Landlord and the removal of such receptacles in accordance with any collection schedules prescribed by Waste Regulations.
23. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall cause the Premises to be exterminated on a monthly basis to Landlord’s reasonable
satisfaction and shall cause all portions of the Premises used for the storage, preparation, service or consumption of food or beverages to be
cleaned daily in a manner reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, and to be treated against infestation by insects, rodents and other vermin and
pests whenever there is evidence of any infestation. Tenant shall not permit any person to enter the Premises or the Project for the purpose of
providing such extermination services, unless such persons have been approved by Landlord. If requested by Landlord, Tenant shall, at
Tenant’s sole cost and expense, store any refuse generated in the Premises by the consumption of food or beverages in a cold box or similar
facility.
24. If Tenant desires to use any portion of the Common Area for a Tenant-related event, Tenant must notify Landlord in writing at least thirty
(30) days prior to such event on the form attached as Attachment 1 to this Exhibit, which use shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written
consent, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease or the completed and executed
Attachment to the contrary, Tenant shall be solely responsible for setting up and taking down any equipment or other materials required for the
event, and shall promptly pick up any litter and report any property damage to Landlord related to the event. Any use of the Common Area
pursuant to this Section shall be subject to the provisions of Article 28 of the Lease.
Landlord may waive any one or more of these Rules and Regulations for the benefit of Tenant or any other tenant, but no such waiver by
Landlord shall be construed as a waiver of such Rules and Regulations in favor of Tenant or any other tenant, nor prevent Landlord from
thereafter enforcing any such Rules and Regulations against any or all of the tenants of the Project, including Tenant. These Rules and
Regulations are in addition to, and shall not be construed to in any way modify or amend, in whole or in part, the terms covenants, agreements
and conditions of the Lease. Landlord reserves the right to make such other and reasonable rules and regulations as, in its judgment, may from
time to time be needed for safety and security, the care and cleanliness of the Project, or the preservation of good order therein; provided,
however, that Tenant shall not be obligated to adhere to such additional rules or regulations until Landlord has provided Tenant with written
notice thereof. Tenant agrees to abide by these Rules and Regulations and any additional rules and regulations issued or adopted by Landlord.
Tenant shall be responsible for the observance of these Rules and Regulations by all Tenant Parties.
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ATTACHMENT 1 TO EXHIBIT F
REQUEST FOR USE OF COMMON AREA
[TENANT LETTERHEAD]
VIA [

]
[Date]

BMR-Pacific Research Center LP
17190 Bernardo Center Drive
San Diego, California 92128
Attn: Senior Director, West Coast Operations
Re: Notice of Request to Use Common Area
To Whom It May Concern:
CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc. requests that it have use of the common area as described below:
Event Description:
Date:
Location at Property:
Number of Attendees:
Open to the Public? ¨ YES

¨ NO

Food and/or Beverages? ¨ YES

¨ NO

If YES:
•

will alcohol be served (Note: Proof of an insurance endorsement for serving alcohol must be
provided) ¨ YES ¨ NO

•

please describe:

Other Amenities (tent, band, etc.):
Other Event Details:
Please let us know at your earliest convenience whether such use is approved.
Sincerely,
[Name]
[Title]
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To Be Completed by Landlord:
¨ APPROVED

DENIED ¨

The following conditions apply to approval (if approved):
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
BMR-PACIFIC RESEARCH CENTER LP
By:
Name:
Its:
Date:
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EXHIBIT G
[Intentionally omitted]
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EXHIBIT H
TENANT’S PROPERTY
None.
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EXHIBIT I
FORM OF ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE
To:

BMR-Pacific Research Center LP
17190 Bernardo Center Drive
San Diego, California 92128
Attention: Vice President, Real Estate Legal
BioMed Realty, L.P.
17190 Bernardo Center Drive
San Diego, California 92128

Re:

7999 Gateway Boulevard, Newark, California (the “Premises”) at 7333-7999 Gateway Boulevard, Newark, California (the
“Property”)

The undersigned tenant (“Tenant”) hereby certifies to you as follows:
1. Tenant is a tenant at the Property under a lease (the “Lease”) for the Premises dated as of [
], 20[ ]. The Lease has not been
cancelled, modified, assigned, extended or amended [except as follows: [
]], and there are no other agreements, written or
oral, affecting or relating to Tenant’s lease of the Premises or any other space at the Property. The lease term expires on [
], 20[ ].
2. Tenant took possession of the Premises, currently consisting of [
] square feet, on [
], 20[ ], and
commenced to pay rent on [
], 20[ ]. Tenant has full possession of the Premises, has not assigned the Lease or sublet any part of
the Premises, and does not hold the Premises under an assignment or sublease[, except as follows: [
]].
3. All base rent, rent escalations and additional rent under the Lease have been paid through [
], 20[ ]. There is no prepaid
rent[, except $[
]][, and the amount of security deposit is $[
] [in cash][OR][in the form of a letter of credit]]. Tenant currently
has no right to any future rent abatement under the Lease.
4. Base rent is currently payable in the amount of $[

] per month.

5. Tenant is currently paying estimated payments of additional rent of $[
management fees and common area maintenance expenses.

] per month on account of real estate taxes, insurance,

6. All work to be performed for Tenant under the Lease has been performed as required under the Lease and has been accepted by
Tenant[, except [
]], and all allowances to be paid to Tenant, including allowances for tenant improvements, moving expenses
or other items, have been paid.
7. The Lease is in full force and effect, free from default and free from any event that could become a default under the Lease, and Tenant
has no claims against the landlord or offsets or defenses against rent, and there are no disputes with the landlord. Tenant has received no notice
of prior sale, transfer, assignment, hypothecation or pledge of the Lease or of the rents payable thereunder[, except [
]].
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8. [Tenant has the following expansion rights or options for the Property: [
purchase the Property.]

].][OR][Tenant has no rights or options to

9. To Tenant’s knowledge, no hazardous wastes have been generated, treated, stored or disposed of by or on behalf of Tenant in, on or
around the Premises or the Project in violation of any environmental laws.
10. The undersigned has executed this Estoppel Certificate with the knowledge and understanding that [INSERT NAME OF
LANDLORD, PURCHASER OR LENDER, AS APPROPRIATE] or its assignee is acquiring the Property in reliance on this certificate and
that the undersigned shall be bound by this certificate. The statements contained herein may be relied upon by [INSERT NAME OF
PURCHASER OR LENDER, AS APPROPRIATE], [LANDLORD], BioMed Realty, L.P., BioMed Realty Trust, Inc., and any [other]
mortgagee of the Property and their respective successors and assigns.
Any capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given in the Lease.
Dated this [

] day of [

], 20[

].

CYMABAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Harold Van Wart, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 25, 2013
/s/ Harold Van Wart
Harold Van Wart
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Sujal Shah, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 25, 2013
/s/ Sujal Shah
Sujal Shah
Acting Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Harold Van Wart, Chief Executive Officer of CymaBay
Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”), and Sujal Shah, Acting Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of
his knowledge:
1.

The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2013, to which this Certification is attached as
Exhibit 32.1 (the “Periodic Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

2.

The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have set their hands hereto as of November 25, 2013.
/s/ Harold Van Wart
Harold Van Wart
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Sujal Shah
Sujal Shah
Acting Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and
is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.

